Southern Methodist University

SMU Scholar

Mechanical Engineering Research Theses and Dissertations

Mechanical Engineering

Fall 12-19-2020

Advanced Thermal Characterization and Temperature Control to Enable the Next Generation of Micro-Electronic Technologies

Assaad El Helou ahelou@smu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.smu.edu/engineering_mechanical_etds

Part of the Mechanical Engineering Commons

Recommended Citation

El Helou, Assaad, "Advanced Thermal Characterization and Temperature Control to Enable the Next Generation of Micro-Electronic Technologies" (2020). *Mechanical Engineering Research Theses and Dissertations*. 31.

https://scholar.smu.edu/engineering_mechanical_etds/31

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Mechanical Engineering at SMU Scholar. It has been accepted for inclusion in Mechanical Engineering Research Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of SMU Scholar. For more information, please visit http://digitalrepository.smu.edu.

ADVANCED THERMAL CHARACTERIZATION AND TEMPERATURE CONTROL TO ENABLE THE NEXT GENERATION OF MICRO-ELECTRONIC TECHNOLOGIES

Approved by:

Dr. Peter Raad Professor

Dr. Ali Beskok Professor

Dr. Yildirim Hurmuzlu Professor

Dr. David Willis Associate Professor

Dr. Archana Venugopal Texas Instruments

ADVANCED THERMAL CHARACTERIZATION AND TEMPERATURE CONTROL TO ENABLE THE NEXT GENERATION OF MICRO-ELECTRONIC TECHNOLOGIES

A Dissertation Presented to the Graduate Faculty of the

Lyle School of Engineering

Southern Methodist University

 in

Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

with a

Major in Mechanical Engineering

by

Assaad El Helou

(M.S., Mechanical Engineering, Southern Methodist University) (B.Eng., Mechanical Engineering, American University of Beirut)

December 19, 2020

Copyright (2020)

Assaad El Helou

All Rights Reserved

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work could not have been accomplished without the help and constant support of my advisor, Prof. Peter E. Raad, and the long and engaging research discussions during which I had the chance to benefit from his vast knowledge and experience in the field of thermal sciences and engineering. He had a lasting impact on my career and both my personal and professional character, to which I am grateful. I also would like to acknowledge the faculty of the Departments of Mechanical Engineering and Electrical Engineering at SMU who provided their support in both academics and in research throughout my graduate studies.

I would like to thank TMX Scientific for their support in relation to the thermal imaging system and software and the thermal simulation software, the NSRL cleanroom staff at the UT-Dallas for training and supporting me in microfabrication, and my collaborators at Texas Instruments (TI), the Naval Research Lab (NRL), the Australian National University (ANU), and the Bio-microfluidics Research team at SMU (Dr. Ali Beskok and Dr. Anil Koklu) for their contributions and support. I also gratefully acknowledge Texas Instruments for funding my research endeavors at Nanoscale Electro-Thermal Sciences Laboratory (NETS lab) during my PhD, and the Moody Graduate School for granting me the Dissertation Fellowship Scholarship for my last semester at SMU. El Helou, Assaad

Advanced Thermal Characterization and Temperature Control <u>To Enable the Next Generation of Micro-electronic</u> Technologies

Advisor: Dr. Peter Raad Doctor of Philosophy degree conferred December 19, 2020 Dissertation completed November 6, 2020

In the electronics world, self-heating is an inevitable by-product of electrical activation that has a major impact on device performance and reliability. Thermal technologies have been in constant development to effectively dissipate the generated heat and keep device operation temperatures within reliable limits. Moreover, thermal characterization technologies have been implemented to understand the thermal performance within microelectronic systems, but not without facing experimental and numerical challenges. This work presents advanced thermal investigations, both experimental and numerical, that are adapted and most suited for emerging micro-electronic technologies. Initially, the main experimental and numerical modeling challenges faced in the thermal analysis of micro-electronics are discussed. The advanced thermal characterization techniques are then presented, from high-resolution thermoreflectance based thermal imaging to adaptive multi-grid numerical techniques. Moreover, a coupled experimental and numerical thermal investigation is presented for a more complete thermal assessment of micro-scale semiconductor devices. The coupled approach provides quick and accurate analysis of the thermal aspect of complex micro-electronic device operation and allows the advancement in design and reliability of devices used in numerous applications such as high voltage switching, low power micro-sensing, non-volatile memory, and neuromorphic computing. These thermal characterization strategies are also applied at the integration level of integrated circuits where interconnects reliability is also impacted by their thermal performance. A full review is presented for each of the studied device technologies in an effort to suitably and effectively apply the presented thermal characterization techniques to address the unique requirements and challenges.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST	OF I	FIGUR	ES	xii
LIST	OF '	TABLE	S	xxi
CHA	PTE	R		
1.	Intro	oduction	n to Microelectronics Thermal Management	1
	1.1.	Trends	s in Microelectronic Devices Constrict Thermal Constraints	1
	1.2.	Tempe	erature Effects on Reliability and Performance	3
		1.2.1.	Failure and Degradation in High Power Devices	4
		1.2.2.	Strict Temperature Control for Micro-Sensing Devices	5
		1.2.3.	Joule-Heating Induced Electrical Characteristics	5
	1.3.	Outlin	e	6
2.	Exp	eriment	al Thermal Characterization	8
	2.1.	Therm	al Microscopy Techniques: Capabilities and Shortcomings	9
		2.1.1.	Infrared Imaging	9
		2.1.2.	Micro-TCs and SThM	10
		2.1.3.	Micro-Raman	10
	2.2.	Therm	noreflectance based Thermal Imaging	12
		2.2.1.	Governing Physics of Reflectance-Temperature Dependence	13
	2.3.	TR In	aging Acquisition Methodology	15
		2.3.1.	TR Experimental Setup for Thermal Microscopy	15
		2.3.2.	TR Measurement Procedure	15
			2.3.2.1. Activation Step for $(\Delta R/R)_a$ Map	18
			2.3.2.2. Calibration Step for C_{TR} Map	18
			2.3.2.3. Extracting Thermal Maps from C_{TR} and $(\Delta R/R)_a$	20

	2.4.	Challe	enges and Shortcomings of TR imaging	20
	2.5.	Therm	nal Property Measurements using TDTR	21
3.	Nun	nerical '	Thermal Characterization	23
	3.1.	Full E	Electro-Thermal Modeling	24
		3.1.1.	Electrical Modeling Equations for Semiconductor Operation	24
		3.1.2.	Heat Generation Mechanisms in Microelectronics	27
		3.1.3.	Temperature-Dependent Thermal Properties	30
		3.1.4.	TDTR Property Measurements	32
	3.2.	Self-A tional	Adaptive Multi-Scale Thermal Modeling for Ultra-fast Computa- Capabilities	35
	3.3.	Exper terizat	rimentally-Driven Model Optimizations for Full Thermal Charac- tion	37
4.	High AlG	n-Resolu aN/Gal	ution Thermoreflectance Imaging Investigation of Self-Heating in N HEMTs on Si, SiC, and Diamond Substrates	38
	4.1.	Introd	luction	39
		4.1.1.	Thermal Mapping Challenges for GaN HEMTs	40
			4.1.1.1. Accessibility	40
			4.1.1.2. Accuracy	41
			4.1.1.3. Resolution	41
	4.2.	Metho	odology	43
		4.2.1.	Thermal Mapping Procedure	43
			4.2.1.1. Thermoreflectance Setup	43
			4.2.1.2. Activation	44
			4.2.1.3. Calibration	45
			4.2.1.4. Thermal Map	46
		4.2.2.	Sample Description	47
	4.3.	Thern	noreflectance Imaging Results	48

		4.3.1.	TR Acti	vation	48
		4.3.2.	TR Cali	bration	48
		4.3.3.	TR The	rmal Mapping Results	50
			4.3.3.1.	GaN-on-Si and GaN-Membrane	52
			4.3.3.2.	GaN-on-SiC and GaN-on-diamond	53
			4.3.3.3.	Diamond-GaN-on-SiC	56
	4.4.	Conclu	usions		57
5.	Full Carl	Therma bide, an	al Charac [†] d Diamor	terization of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs on Silicon, 4H-Silicon nd Using a Reverse Modeling Approach	58
	5.1.	Introd	uction		59
		5.1.1.	Thermal	Modeling Challenges	60
			5.1.1.1.	Coupled Physics	60
			5.1.1.2.	Uncertain Thermal Properties	60
			5.1.1.3.	Large Variation in Physical and Time-Scales	61
	5.2.	Metho	odology		62
		5.2.1.	Coupled	Experimental and Numerical Approach	62
			5.2.1.1.	Method Description	62
			5.2.1.2.	Outcomes from Optimized Model	63
			5.2.1.3.	Selected Parameters for Optimization	63
		5.2.2.	Descript	ions of Sample Devices	66
		5.2.3.	Numeric	al Thermal Modeling	66
	5.3.	Revers	se Modelin	ng Results	67
		5.3.1.	GaN-on-	Si Optimized Model	67
		5.3.2.	GaN-on-	SiC Optimized Model	70
		5.3.3.	GaN-on-	diamond Optimized Model	72
		5.3.4.	Compari	son between Different Substrates	74

	5.4.	Conclu	usions		76
6.	Com abili	pact 3I ty Verif	D Therma fication	l Model for VLSI and ULSI Interconnect Network Reli-	81
	6.1.	Introd	uction		82
		6.1.1.	Electron	nigration Failures and the Degradation of IC BEoL Networks	3 82
	6.2.	2D Mo	odel for T	hermal Conductance from an Isolated Interconnect	86
		6.2.1.	Reduced	Mathematical Models for Effective Conductivity	87
			6.2.1.1.	1D Model	87
			6.2.1.2.	Bilotti 2D Model	88
			6.2.1.3.	Andrews 2D Model	88
	6.3.	Reduc	ed 3D Th	ermal Model for an Interconnect Network	89
		6.3.1.	2+1 D H	Ieat Conduction: The Lossy Wire Model	90
			6.3.1.1.	The Thermal Entrance Length	91
			6.3.1.2.	The Maximum Attainable Temperature	92
			6.3.1.3.	The End Temperatures	92
		6.3.2.	Thermal	Resistance Network Analysis	92
			6.3.2.1.	ICT Entrance Thermal Resistance	93
			6.3.2.2.	Via Thermal Resistance	93
			6.3.2.3.	Cross Configuration Thermal Resistance	95
		6.3.3.	Iterative	Approach to Solve Resistance Network	96
		6.3.4.	Model V	alidation with Simulations and Thermal Imaging	97
	6.4.	TDTR	Conduct	ivity Measurements of BEoL Thin-film Materials	98
		6.4.1.	Studied	Materials	98
		6.4.2.	TDTR F	Results	100
		6.4.3.	TDTR S	Study Conclusions	104
	6.5.	2D Co	mbined M	Iodel Results	104

		6.5.1.	Validation Simulations with Thermal Maps	105
		6.5.2.	Verifying 2D Reduced model with Simulations	108
	6.6.	3D Co	mpact Model Results	110
		6.6.1.	Validating Simulations with Thermal Maps	110
		6.6.2.	Verifying 3D Reduced Model with Simulations	115
	6.7.	Conclu	usions	118
7.	Stan the l	dardize 3EOL o	d Heat Spreader Design for Passive Cooling of Interconnects in of ICs	121
	7.1.	Introd	uction	122
	7.2.	Therm	al Simulation Model	124
	7.3.	Heat S	preader Design	130
		7.3.1.	Temperature Measurements of Sample Devices	130
		7.3.2.	Experimentally Validated Thermal Model	132
		7.3.3.	Simulation and Experimental Results	133
		7.3.4.	Parametric Study	135
	7.4.	Conclu	isions	137
8.	Tem feren	peratur itial Re	e Induced Switching in NbO_x Current-Controlled Negative Dif- sistance (CC-NDR) Memristive Devices	139
	8.1.	Memri	stor: the Fourth Fundamental Passive Circuit Element	139
	8.2.	Transp	oort phenomena in Thin Oxides	141
	8.3.	Applic	ations of memristor devices	142
		8.3.1.	Non-volatile memory	143
		8.3.2.	Neuromorphic computing (neuristor)	144
	8.4.	Tempe	erature-induced CC-NDR switching characteristics	145
	8.5.	Sample	e Description and Methodology	149
	8.6.	Electri	c Field- and Current-Induced Electroforming Modes in NbO _x [176]	152

	8.7.	Current Localization and Redistribution as the Basis of Discontinuous Current Controlled Negative Differential Resistance in NbO_x [177] 154
	8.8.	Schottky barrier induced asymmetry in the negative differential resistance response of Nb/NbO _x /Pt cross-point devices [178] 161
	8.9.	Thermal Conductivity of Amorphous Sub-stoichiometric NbO_x for Memristors Applications using Transient-Domain Thermoreflectance 164
		8.9.1. Experimental Methods 166
		8.9.2. TDTR Results and Discussion 166
9.	Cha The	racterization of Temperature Rise in AC Electro-thermal Flow Using rmoreflectance Method [129] 169
	9.1.	AC Electrothermal Flow for Electrokinetic Actuation of Liquid Media 170
	9.2.	Temperature Control for ACET Applications 171
	9.3.	Materials and Methodology 173
	9.4.	Results
		9.4.1. Frequency-Dependent Self-Heating 177
		9.4.2. Voltage-Dependent Self-Heating 179
		9.4.3. Power-Loss Dependent Self-Heating 181
	9.5.	Conclusions 184
10.	Con	clusions 185
BIBI	LIOG	RAPHY

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	F	age
1.1	a) Logic technology node and gate length b) resistance and c) capacitance of different technologies showing the improvement in performance with device scaling. (Adapted from [248])	2
1.2	Graph showing the increased heat flux densities in advance microelectronic devices (represented by bars) resulting from increasing power levels and downscaling in device sizes. Red circles show comparison to other natural and man-made heat generation rates for scale. (Source: DARPA)	3
2.1	Thermal maps of active GaN HEMT using a) IR and b) micro-Raman imag- ing from Sarua et al. [220]. c) Device measurement region and Raman measurements adapted from Hiroki et al. [105]. The high-resolution requirements are evident especially as device dimensions near the sub- micron scale.	11
2.2	Schematic showing optical setup of TR imaging imaging system and the incident and reflected light path from the sample	16
2.3	TMX T°Imager [®] setup showing activation, temperature, PC, nano-positioning, and light control used for sample thermal imaging	17
2.4	Schematic representation of pump-and-probe technique for the time-domain thermoreflectance.	22
4.1	a) Schematic of HEMT device structure. The substrate is either Si, SiC, Diamond, or is etched b) Top view image showing Source, Drain and Gate contacts.	43
4.2	Sample a) calibration map for C_{TR} showing a global reflectance change re- sponse from the GaN material, b) reflectance change map $\Delta R/R$ show- ing the localized response within the GaN Channel Region, c) the re- sulting temperature rise map ΔT for the active GaN-membrane and GaN-on-Si device showing self-heating within the channel	44
4.3	 a) The calibration curve of CTR vs T showing a decrease in TR response at higher temperatures. b) Temperature rise curve as a function of applied power for GaN-on-Si device before and after correction for CTR- T dependence. The correction recovers the linearity of P-T relation for the GaN-on-Si devices. 	49

4.4	Calibration results for GaN-on-SiC and GaN-on-diamond showing C_{TR} linear decrease with temperature.	50
4.5	A summary of the measured Average (open markers) and Peak (solid markers) experimental temperature rise (in °C) within the active channel of the measured GaN HEMT devices on the different substrates. The linear experimental fit are shown for the measurement data for the average (in dotted lines) and peak temperature (in long dashed lines). The heating rate (total thermal resistance) is reported from the linear regression analysis.	51
4.6	 a) Measured thermal maps showing temperature rise in GaN HEMTs active region on SiC (left) and diamond (right) substrate (P≈0.5 W, 6.6 W/mm). (b) The local thermal resistance across the Gate-Drain channel shows peak temperature rise at the drain-side edge of the gate. 	54
4.7	a) Measured thermal maps for GaN-on-diamond device 2 [239] with a differ- ent gate geometry than our measured device b) Comparison of temper- ature profile for both measured GaN-on-diamond devices with different drain channel length shows similar temperature rise	55
5.1	a) Schematic of HEMT device structure. The substrate is either Si, SiC, Di- amond, or is etched b) intensity image (1024x1024 pixels) of the device under 100× magnification showing the Source, Drain and Gate con- tacts. Purple regions indicate the GaN drain and source channel where the thermal measurements are conducted c) device model built to scale in T°Solver [®] .	64
5.2	x-SEM measurements showing thickness and composition of GaN/AlGaN stack.	65
5.3	Converged temperature profiles for the matched numerical and experimental thermal maps for the gate-drain access region of a GaN-on-Si device for a DC power level $(I_{DS} \times V_{DS})$ of 6.4 W/mm.	69
5.4	Comparison of matched experimental and simulation results for GaN-on-SiC for an activation power level of 15.7 W/mm	70
5.5	Sample temperature rise profile for the matched numerical and experimental results for GaN-on-diamond device 1 and device 2	73
5.6	Variation of temperature profile in GaN-on-Diamond HEMT for (a) the TBR range between 25 and 5 m ² K/GW and (b) for the conductivity range $k_{di,xz}$ between 1000 and 1400 W/m.K with $k_{di,y}=1.45 \times k_{xz,di}$	77

5.7	 a) Results of parametric study showing the total thermal resistance for the studies values of diamond conductivities and TBR values, based on maximum and average GaN channel temperatures, and power level of 16.4 W/mm. The through-plane conductivity is taken as 1.45×k_{xz,di}. b) The corresponding percent change in self-heating temperature rise with reported sensitivity values to changes in k_{di} and TBR
6.1	Image of interconnect showing hillock and void formation due to material transport under Electromigration. (Source: Kyung-Hoae 2011)
6.2	a) Schematic of the device structure considered for the 2D thermal model showing the ICT embedded in the dielectric medium b) Corresponding thermal resistive circuit showing the heat source generated Q'_{gen} and the total thermal resistance R_{th} c) The electrical activation circuit for the ICT showing the electrical resistance R and current density J
6.3	Schematic showing a) thermally long $(L/\lambda_h > 5)$ and b) thermally short $(L/\lambda_h < 5)$ ICT with the considered entrance thermal resistance at the nodes and the associated temperature distribution for a given λ_H . Zero boundary condition is considered $\Delta T_n = \Delta T_0 = 0$ and $\Delta T_k = \Delta T_L = 0$ at both ends $x = 0$ and $x = L$. Note that the temperature distribution in a thermally short ICT does not reach ΔT_{max}
6.4	 Schematic showing the resistive network configuration for a) Single Resistive Cross model b) Six Resistors Cross Model based on [40]. The value of R is such that the equivalent network resistance is equal for the two ICTs in both configurations. c) Resistance network schematic showing the six-resistor model [48] connected to the ICT segment ends
6.5	Total thermal resistances obtained for the thin-film samples as function of film thickness. The slope and intercept of each data fit are used to extract the intrinsic thermal conductivity of the film and its interface thermal resistance
6.6	Summary of the measured intrinsic thermal conductivities of the BEoL ma- terials and their interface thermal resistances
6.7	The calculated effective thermal conductivities of the sample films as recon- structed from the extracted intrinsic thermal conductivities and inter- face resistances
6.8	Thermal maps of the sample BEoL devices micro-resistors of widths 1, 3 and 10 μ m at the different locations: Level 1 of Polysilicon (Poly) shown in the left column and level 2 of AlCu metalization (MET1) shown in the right column

6.9	Comparison of the heating rate for measured ICT samples as compared with their estimates from the reduced model, with $\kappa_d = 1.1W/m.K107$
6.10	Comparison between the newly developed combined model and the simula- tion results, the models of Bilotti and Andrews are also shown for each case to highlight the improvement of using the combined model
6.11	Combined model chart showing effective conductance $\kappa_{d,eff}/\kappa_d$ from an ICT of width w , insulation thickness t_i and passivation thickness t_p , all of which are denoted in the added schematic. The Bilotti and Andrews cases show the extreme effects of, respectively, ignoring passivation or making it infinite
6.12	Schematic showing the resistive network configuration for a) an polyresistor ICT in Level 1 between two via connections to contact leads in the higher MET level, and b) the same configuration with a "sense" lead in the MET layer with the cross coupling. The resistive network that connects the device components is also shown in an overlay that shows the thermal resistance coupling of the different features (entry, via, and cross resistance)
6.13	Graphical user interface for 2D reduced model built in MATLAB GUIDE. The interface shows input electrical and thermal parameters for an iso- lated interconnect, and provides the allowable current density levels. The model also reports on the effective thermal conductivity of the sur- rounding dielectric
6.14	Graphical user interface for the 3D reduced model built in MATLAB GUIDE. The interface shows input electrical and thermal parameters for an iso- lated interconnect as well as the dimensions of the interconnect and its location within the BEoL stack. The model provides the allowable cur- rent density levels as well a temperature distribution along the length of each interconnect segment. The insert graph shows the overlaid tem- perature of the test samples used in this study
7.1	 a) Schematic showing stages of CMP fill fabrication process with a newly deposited MET layer (top) a deposited dielectric layer for interconnect passivation (middle) and after CMP process provides a level surface for deposition of next layer (bottom). b) Snapshot of BEoL sample device showing microresistor element and contact leads surrounded by the square CMP fill patterns. An exclusion zone around the device is used for optical access to the device.

7.2	 a) Device illustrations as seen from the top view. b) Schematic of the three-level BEOL stack showing the resistors devices with the contact and sensing leads (solid color), and the CMP fill regions (hatched color) at the three MET levels: Level 1 Poly (Left), Level 2 AlCu (Middle), Level 3 AlCu (Right)
7.3	a) Top view intensity map of a sample device under test (DUT). The center resistor is at level 1 and surrounded by the CMP fill square pattern. Two contact leads are seen at both resistor ends a central sensing lead is running transversely above the resistor. More CMP fill is also seen at the higher levels of the BEOL stack; b) Top view showing fill pattern unit cell dimensions and in-plane heat transfer path. c) Equivalent thermal resistance circuit model for calculating in-plane effective thermal conductivity. d) Side view of CMP fill pattern unit cell and heat conduction path e) Equivalent thermal resistance circuit model for through-plane thermal conduction. density w_f^2/w_d^2
7.4	Simulation results of heat generation limit for an allowable temperature rise (ΔT) of 15 °C for interconnects at the three MET levels as function of device (resistor) width
7.5	Schematics showing the design configurations of the microresistor BEOL devices: a) without the heat spreader and b) with the heat spreader. c) The actual device under test intensity image as obtained by the camera. The top row shows the narrow HS configuration while lower part shows the wide HS configuration. d) Side view showing the schematic of the HS features at the different levels of the BEOL e) Top view showing the staggered array structure of the Poly and AlCu lines beneath the resistor131
7.6	Thermal simulations of activated devices (Right) compared to experimental temperature maps (Left) of device with narrow heat sink (Top) and wide heat sink (Bottom) for a heating rate of 1.54 $mW/\mu m$
7.7	Temperature rise profile showing cooling effect and the reduction in overall thermal resistance experienced by the 10 μm interconnect in Level 3 for device with a) narrow HS and b) with wide HS
7.8	Cooling effectiveness of different widths of HS for different micro-resistor widths (Top) and the associated percent increase in current density J_{RMS} allowance (Bottom)
8.1	The four fundamental passive circuit devices relating the four electrical parameters $(i, v, \phi, \text{ and } q)$
8.2	IV characteristics showing N-type and S-type Negative Differential Resis- tance (NDR) behavior

8.3	Metallic filament forms at temperature exceeding the metal-insulator-transition (MIT) temperature ($\approx 1000 \text{ K}$) [196]142
8.4	Schematic showing the resistive memory behavior (re-RAM) of transition- metal oxides
8.5	Activation synaptic behavior in memristors as compared to an actual neuron [118].145
8.6	Biologically inspired neural networks based on the functioning of the synapse [118]
8.7	Transmission electron microscopy images showing the metallic phase formed after device switching [140]148
8.8	a) Device structure as seen under $20 \times$ magnification showing the four patterned top and bottom electrodes (TE and BE) and the resulting four cross-point devices. b) Intensity map of crosspoint device under $100 \times$ as seen with the camera under monochromatic illumination. c) Schematic of the crosspoint devices showing the Pt electrodes and the NbO _x thin-film. 150
8.9	Electroforming and filament distributions: (a) electroforming characteristics of a 5 μ m Pt/Nb/NbO2.6/Pt device, (b) electroforming characteristics of a 5 μ m Pt/Nb/NbO1.92/Pt device, (c) schematic representation of filament distribution in a 5 μ m × 5 μ m cross-point device with low- conductivity NbO _x (x = 2.60) films, (d) schematic representation of filament distribution in a 5 μ m × 5 μ m cross-point device with high- conductivity NbO _x (x = 1.92) films, (e) schematic of an oxygen vacancy filament formed by the field-induced generation, drift, and diffusion of oxygen vacancies, and (f) schematic of a transient current filament due to current bifurcation. Note that each dot in (c, d) represents a single device and the filament distributions represent 75 separate measure- ments for each film [176].
8.10	In situ thermoreflectance measurements: a) in situ (points) and ex situ (line) current-voltage characteristics of a 10 μ m × 10 μ cross-point device with a high conductivity NbO _x (x=1.92) film, and the temperature of the filamentary and surrounding regions of the film (shown by circles in panel b), b) Two-dimensional temperature maps of the top electrode surface for different device currents. The inset shwos a back-scattered electron image of the filamentary region in the oxide film (i.e., after removing top electrode)
8.11	 Finite element simulatio: a) current-voltage characteristics during bidirectional current sweep, b) maximum temperature in oxide film as a function of device current, c) current density distribution before and after bifurcation, d) temperature distribution before and after bifurcation, e) before (point A) and f) after current bifurcation

8.12	Core-Shell model and current bifurcation: a) schematic of the CS model of a negative differential resistance device, b) electroforming characteris- tics of a $5\mu m \times 5\mu m$ device with NbO _x (x-2.22 film), c) electroforming characteristics of a $10\mu m \times 10\mu m$ device with NbO _x (x-2.22 film), d) in situ thermoreflectance maps of $5\mu m \times 5\mu m$ device during electroform- ing e) in situ thermoreflectance maps of $10\mu m \times 10\mu m$ device during electroforming
8.13	Structure of the studied NDR crosspoint device showing snapback switching and saturation of filamentary conduction after current bifurcation
8.14	I-V characteristics showing a) S-type NDR behavior and b) snapback (SB) NDR behavior. c) model of conductive paths in transition metal oxide (NbO _x) layer showing core and shell with representative electrical resis- tance. d) representative electrical circuit with constant current source, and the respective resistance of shell and variable resistance (memristor) of core [177]
8.15	In-situ temperature measurements of S-type and snap-back NDR. a) Current-voltage (I-V) characteristics and average temperature rise of the filament and surrounding area (the area used for averaging is indicated by boxes in b) as a function of applied current, b) 2D maps of the surface temperature rise in a 5 μ m device operating at 1 mA and 6 mA, c) Temperature (current) localization of S-type NDR in the post-formed device at different current levels as shown in a, d) I-V characteristics and average temperature rise of the permanent filament and surrounding area (indicated by boxes in e) as a function of applied current, e) 2D map of the surface temperature rise in a 10 μ m device at pre-threshold (4mA) and post-threshold (10 mA) currents, f) Temperature (current) localization in a post-formed device at different current sa shown in d (the blue arrow indicates snap-back transition), g) I-V characteristics and average temperature rise of the current filament and surrounding area (indicated by boxes in h) as a function of applied current, h) 2D map of the surface temperature rise of the current filament and surrounding area (indicated by boxes in h) as a function of applied current, h) 2D map of the surface temperature rise of the current filament and surrounding area (indicated by boxes in h) as a function of applied current, h) 2D map of the surface temperature in a 10 μ m device at pre-threshold (4 mA) and post-threshold (12 mA) currents, i) Temperature (current) localization due to current bifurcation in the device without permanent filament as shown in g (the blue arrow indicates snap-back transition) [177]. 162
0.10	

8.17	a), b) In situ I-V characteristics of a $10 \times 10 \ \mu m^2$ Au (75 nm)/Nb(5 nm)/NbO1.99 (approximately 45 nm)/Pt (25 nm) device showing S-type NDR under positive bias and snapback under negative bias, respectively. Insets show the in situ thermoreflectance ($\Delta R/R$) maps of the $10 \times 10 \ \mu m^2$ de- vice during corresponding bias polarity. c) Temperature profile through the filamentary region for different points in the current-voltage curve during positive bias. d) Temperature profile of the same device for dif- ferent points in the current-voltage curve during negative bias. Note: the temperature map and the I-V characteristics shown in Figure 3 are also obtained for $5 \times 5 \ \mu m^2$ devices with lower threshold currents, and a snapback response observed under negative polarity and S-type NDR under positive polarity. But in this case, the filament is observed to form around the edges due to the dominance of edge effect in smaller area cross-point devices with a thick (75-nm Au in this case) capping layer [25]. The short-dashed curves in c) and d) represent the experimen- tal data and the smooth lines show Gaussian fits of the corresponding experimental data. A, B, and C denote sub-threshold, threshold, and post-threshold points respectively in the I -V characteristic obtained under positive bias, while D, E, and F denote the same for negative bias polarity [178]
8.18	 a) Schematic representing the Pump-and-Probe setup used to conduct transient- domain thermoreflectance conductivity measurements. b) TDTR nor- malized response showing the heating and temperature decay profile as measured at the gold surface of the blanket film samples.
8.19	 a) The TDTR response is presented as a function of temperature for the thickest (100 nm) sample. b) Thermal conductivity as a function of temperature for different stoichiometric NbOx films.
9.1	 a) Process flow of electrode fabrication using photolithography technique and b) image of intedigitated electrodes fabricated on glass substrate. The micro-fluidic channel is indicated with red dashed rectangle
9.2	 a) Schematic of the thermal imaging measurement setup used for measuring the temperature rise at the electrodes. b) In calibration, the electrodes are heated using a thermal chuck. c) In activation, the electrodes are self-heated in the presence of applied voltage via Joule heating effect.
9.3	Wavelength scan showing the thermoreflectance response ($\Delta R/R$) at dif- ferent illumination wavelengths. Only the middle electrode is electri- cally activated using a constant current source and shows a positive reflectance change response for $\lambda < 490$ nm, a negative response for $\lambda > 490$ nm, and an optimal response at $\lambda = 520$ nm. A 530 nm LED is used for higher intensity

9.4	a) Impedance magnitude and b) phase angle of 1.4 S/m PBS solution in 400 μ m micro-fluidic channel from 100 Hz to 100 MHz c) Experimental temperature rise at the electrode/electrolyte interface with electrode excitation at 20 V _{pp} and frequencies varying from 10 kHz to 100 MHz. Maximum temperature rise at these conditions is obtained at 51.5 °C \pm 5.5 °C (standard deviations were constant for all data points)
9.5	Comparison of experimental (symbols) and numerical (solid lines) temper- ature fields on the electrode regions a) for different applied voltages at 5MHz. b) Experimentally and numerically obtained average tempera- ture rise on the side and middle electrodes as a function of the applied peak to peak voltage. c) Measured temperature field on chromium- gold surface at 20 V_{pp} (Top view). d) Flow field below the electrodes (represented with yellow) bars is shown with streamlines and the ve- locity magnitude contours given in terms of μ m/s. The simulation is performed at 5 MHz and 20 V_{pp}
9.6	Temperature rise at the electrode/electrolyte interface as a function of the dissipated power when the side electrodes are excited at 5 MHz and with different voltages
9.7	Temperature rise as a function of applied voltages at 5 MHz for DI water showing negligible self-heating due to low Joule heating in electrically non-conductive fluidic medium

LIST OF TABLES

Table	F	Page
3.1	Source-driven conduction equation governing heating in micro-electronic devices.	28
3.2	Temperature-dependent Conductivity Parameter for generic Semiconductor compounds (Data compiled by ATLAS SILVACO)	31
3.3	Heat Capacity Ambient Value and Model Parameters (Data compiled by ATLAS SILVACO)	32
4.1	Activation conditions for the different GaN HEMTs. Source contact is grounded.	45
4.2	Gate (G), Source (S) and Drain (D) dimensions (in μ m) of GaN HEMTs on different substrates.	45
4.3	Summary of the extracted thermal resistances (in mm.K/W) of the GaN HEMTs on Different Substrates based on average and peak temperature rise in the active channel region.	52
5.1	Gate (G), Source (S) and Drain (D) dimensions (in μ m) of GaN HEMTs on different substrates.	66
5.2	Results of Converged Thermal Parameters of the Optimizations conducted for the GaN-on-Si HEMTs.	69
5.3	Results of Converged Thermal Parameters of the Optimizations conducted for the GaN-on-SiC HEMTs	71
5.4	Results of Converged Thermal Parameters of the Optimizations conducted for the GaN-on-diamond HEMTs	73
5.5	Comparing Substrate Conductivity and TBR for GaN on Si, SiC, and CVD diamond.	75

6.1	Temperature axial distribution along the resistor lead showing heating in the activated region and the cross coupling between the resistor and the sense lead. The three graphs show the single resistor configuration (Left), the active resistor with a cross coupled sense lead (Middle), and the active sense lead atop an inactive resistor (Right). Row (1) showing experimental thermal map, row (2) showing simulation thermal map, and row (3) showing a comparison between temperature distributions along the axial direction from the experimental data (Symbols) and the numerical data (Solid lines)
6.2	Comparison between temperature trace of simulation results (Dashed) and approximate model (Solid) for Resistor lead (Blue), Sense Lead (Green), and Contact Leads (Red). (1) shows the results for the initial model without global heating effects. (2) results with global heating (3) results with global heating and corrected cross model The three rows present the original model and two later modifications that are implemented based on presented observations and discussions. The first column (A) shows the case of an active resistor, the second column (B) shows the case of an active sense lead with an inactive resistor, while the third shows the case for active sense and resistor leads
7.1	Percent reduction in self-heating temperature rise within the BEoL inter- connects, and the percent increase in allowable current density (J) and heat flux (Q') showing the cooling effect of the CMP Dummy Fill (*) at different levels of the BEoL
7.2	Maximum Added Cooling and Increase in Allowable Activation Level for the different width Interconnects, as Compared to the Case with Narrow (N) HS Configuration
8.1	Deposition conditions for different NbO_x samples

I dedicate this dissertation

...to my mother who, with unwavering love, raised me through sleepless nights and sacrificed much towards my success and wellbeing.

...to my siblings who were my number-one supporters althrough my academic career.

...to my friends in Lebanon that even while being continents apart, never lost contact and had nothing but words of constant support and encouragement.

... to my colleagues and friends at SMU and in Dallas for making my five years at SMU enjoyable and memorable.

In loving memory of my father Elias Assaad Helou (1956-2012), who raised me in good faith and taught me love, selflessness, and humility.

Chapter 1

Introduction to Microelectronics Thermal Management

1.1. Trends in Microelectronic Devices Constrict Thermal Constraints

The luring benefits of faster, more powerful and more efficient electronic systems has been driving the development in the microelectronic industry for the past few decades towards a systematic reduction in physical device scale. By allowing for shorter paths to electrical conduction, smaller features in device scales reduce electrical resistance thus cutting on electrical power losses, and reduce capacitance and switching times enabling higher operation frequencies (Figure 1.1) [248]. With advancement in the fabrication process accuracy and precision facilitating device miniaturization, and with the motivation of the prospective electrical benefits, the size of electronic active components have downscaled exponentially, as observed by Moore's law.

Motivation by the above electrical benefits has lead to successively more compact microelectronic technologies and increasing power density levels. Moreover, when incorporated within increasingly insulating materials, both electrically and thermally, rates of heat generation densities have exceeded stellar rates (Figure 1.2) with a concerning increase in thermal hotspot generation and in device operating temperatures.

Microelectronic devices, especially those operating in critical and harsh environments, are designed to meet strict standards in performance and reliability. Under the aforementioned arising conditions, thermal design became a limiting factor that is integral in the design process and could no longer be ignored and excluded until the last design stages, due to many damaging consequences of elevated operating temperatures on device performance and reliability. To begin with, at elevated temperature, mechanical and thermophysical properties can change drastically and deviate from design tolerances, critically affecting the perfor-



Figure 1.1. a) Logic technology node and gate length b) resistance and c) capacitance of different technologies showing the improvement in performance with device scaling. (Adapted from [248])



Figure 1.2. Graph showing the increased heat flux densities in advance microelectronic devices (represented by bars) resulting from increasing power levels and downscaling in device sizes. Red circles show comparison to other natural and man-made heat generation rates for scale. (Source: DARPA)

mance and energy efficiency of the device and causing unpredictable electronic behavior. Moreover, devices are built to certain lifetime expectancies where a certain number of active devices under normal or stressed conditions are expected to fail. Elevated temperatures due to excessive self-heating can bring about dramatic failures or accelerate degradation rate in active devices, which inevitably shortens the lifetimes of microelectronic devices [89] or limits activation levels due to reliability concerns especially for mission-critical devices (satellites, antenna and wireless communications, lidar applications and autonomous systems, ...).

1.2. Temperature Effects on Reliability and Performance

Technological development in microelectronics is being driven towards device miniaturization in an effort to harness the potential improvements in electrical efficiency, activation frequencies and production yields. As devices scales shrink, self-heating effects becomes more pronounced, especially for high power and analog devices. Knowing that temperature is an influencing factor in almost all governing electrical, thermodynamic, and solid-state physics, excessive heating affects device performance and reliability in a variety of ways. Temperature can either affect design considerations, alter device performance, and/or bring upon failure and accelerate device degradation. In other applications, heating is a bi-product to electrical activation and can either be beneficial or detrimental to the operation depending on the technology. A few applications are presented in this work where temperature can pose as a curse or a blessing, and in both cases, the importance of accurate and adequate thermal investigation is stressed due to the many effects temperature have on complex microelectronic system.

1.2.1. Failure and Degradation in High Power Devices

The activation temperature rise has been observed to affect reliability and performance across a wide spectrum of electronic devices and structures, each with its specific challenges and thermal characterization and management strategies. At the front-end (component level), elevated temperatures can cause device operation to deviate from design expectations [40, 64], and can compromise device reliability and lifetime [45]. Therefore, thermal concerns are most critical when devices are to operate under high-power high-temperature applications, and when the devices are required to operate reliably with minimal failure outcome. These requirements, when considering the afore-mentioned thermal challenges, often require some form of thermal management to minimize self-heating effects. As an example, high power Gallium Nitride (GaN) high electron-mobility transistors, used in high-frequency and high-voltage switching applications, are limited in operation due to self heating effects that cause sudden failures and accelerated degradation [168, 200]. GaN technology have therefore required the development of innovative thermal management strategies such as high conductivity substrates and heat spreading materials [11, 239, 256] and micro-channel cooling [44].

Another region of thermal concern is the back-end (interconnect level) of integrated circuits (ICs), where elevated temperatures in high-current carrying conductors can accelerate electromigration [222, 246]. This form of degradation in the interconnect network, which delivers power to front-end devices, can eventually cause the performance to drop below required standards and can also lead to short circuit and open circuit failures [40, 111, 270].

1.2.2. Strict Temperature Control for Micro-Sensing Devices

Other applications in microelectronics may not require high-power activation, but rather robust and accurate operation which may be sensitive to device temperature, and thus require precise thermal control. This is the case for micro-sensing applications where any temperature-induced fluctuations in device performance such as piezo-sensors [62,84], chemical or bio-sensors [108,219], if not characterized and accounted for accordingly would lead to erroneous readings and faulty operation. Two applications are presented in this documentation. GaN HEMTs with an etched Silicon substrate leaves a suspended GaN membrane which have been observed to be sensitive to external stimuli. Therefore, GaN HEMT membranes have found several micro-sensing applications [62, 121, 243], but are thermally challenged by an excessive self-heating rate due to the absence of a substrate as a medium for heat dissipation.

The second presented micro-sensing temperature study is for a lab-on-chip application, where micro-fluidic manipulation results in significant self-heating that must remain within a certain limit to insure that bio-fluidic samples (blood cells, bacteria...) are not damaged or denatured [129,219].

1.2.3. Joule-Heating Induced Electrical Characteristics

While thermal effects are detrimental to some device technologies, in other cases, the thermal response is a part the governing mechanisms behind some distinct electrical characteristics, such as negative-differential resistance (NDR) and snap-back switching characteristics observed in memristive devices (i.e., memristors or memory resistors) [63, 234]. These electrical characteristics have thus been the topic of development in several applications such as neuromorphic computing [86, 118, 259] and non-boolean non-volatile storage (Resistive Random Access Memory ReRAM) systems [85, 224]. For that reason, accurate characterization of the thermal response of such devices are essential to understand and model their electrical performance, bring about further developments in the technology, and eventually aid its integration in system applications.

1.3. Outline

Present developments in microelectronic technologies accompanied with emerging thermal management challenges have demanded advanced thermal characterization techniques, both experimentally and numerically, in order to assess the thermal effectiveness of device structures and thermal management strategies. Experimental techniques, mainly implemented for thermal mapping, is required to identify hot spots, investigate the thermal performance of structure designs and characterize their heat dissipation effectiveness. These measurement techniques are developed with different specifications, and in this work, we will present the advanced experimental capabilities relevant to microelectronic devices that are able to provide reliable high-resolution surface temperature maps with good accuracy and a suitable device accessibility.

On the other hand, numerical simulations are a necessity to apply the governing physics in microdevices to either predict self-heating rates in a micro-device, or to understand the effect of different parameters on the thermal response, and thus guide thermal designs and developments. Similarly, presented in this work are the different modeling challenges faced in thermal problems of microelectronics and advanced modeling capabilities for representing the thermal response in microelectronics devices and structures.

Thermal heating effects are an inevitable bi-product of electrically active micro-devices. However, their effect on device reliability and performance may vary in criticality or benefit in each particular application. While being a minor inconvenience in many applications, the thermal aspect could ultimately be a determining factor in some microelectronic applications. The common consent is that, to ensure reliable and accurate operation, the thermal perspective is becoming a more determinant design factor and cannot be exempt from, or kept until the last stage of the microelectronic design process.

The next two chapters (Chp. 2 and 3) will present the advanced thermal experimental and numerical analysis techniques used in this work to meet the distinct challenges and requirements of each of the studied device technologies, which are presented in the remaining part of this work. Chapters 4 and 5 present a novel approach to fully characterize highpower GaN HEMT transistors through a combined experimental and numerical approach. The characterization method is applied to investigate the self-heating and cooling effectiveness of different substrate configurations, and extract important thermal properties to guide future developments in device fabrication. Chapter 6 presents the investigation of the thermal characteristics of structures within the back-end of line (BEoL). Available models are assessed and a faster, more-accurate reduced model is developed to complement reliability model and provide a fast thermal check on IC interconnect networks. Chapter 7 builds upon the developed understanding of the thermal response within the BEoL to develop and optimize a heat spreader design to provide passive cooling to critical interconnects in the BEoL. Two additional device technologies are presented in Chapter 8, in which the thermal response of memristive devices are investigated to understand the thermally-governed distinct electronic behavior, and in the last Chapter 9, which investigates the self-heating of lab-on chip electrodes in AC electro-thermal flow used in micro-fluidic sensing applications. In each of the technologies presented, we discuss the motivation behind thermal management and temperature control, as well as the unique characterization challenges that are addressed. We finally present the main outcomes and expanded understanding of the technologies that was attainable by our advance thermal characterization techniques.

Chapter 2

Experimental Thermal Characterization

Thermal criteria have become more stringent with continued downscaling of microelectronic devices, further hindering performance due limit overheating that causes premature failures and accelerated degradation. As a result, the thermal aspect has become an integral part of the design of microelectronic devices, especially for those operating under high power densities or temperature-sensitive applications. For any thermal investigation of a device structure or a suggested thermal management strategy, experimental techniques are a primary requirement to observe and evaluate the actual response of the test device. These observations of the real world are what would also validate developed simulation models, and help build an understanding around the governing physics to better predict device performance.

Within thermal investigations, temperature measurements serve as the instrumentation basis from which other thermal parameters and properties can be deducted, such as heat flux, thermal conductivity and thermal diffusivity. For that reason, the temperature measurement techniques are the corner-stone of experimental thermal investigation. Temperature instrumentation methods are naturally indirect and inferred by measuring secondary phenomena, such as but no limited to: volume expansion (thermometer), radiation emission (infrared), electrical resistance (thermistor or RTDs), or a developed potential difference (thermocouple). Given the many instrumentation methods, the selected technique should be tailored and suited to the application. For the case of microelectronic devices, exceedingly more advanced techniques are required to meet stringent requirements of resolution, material compatibility, and adequate device accessibility.

In this Chapter, we present some of the measurements techniques most suitable for microelectronic device thermal imaging applications, while discussing some of their benefits and limitations. In the second Section, we present the experimental technique that is used for the investigations presented in this report, starting with the underlying instrumentation physics, the measurement setup, and finally the acquisition methodology. The challenges facing the experimental approach for each of the specific applications will be presented in the respective upcoming Chapters.

2.1. Thermal Microscopy Techniques: Capabilities and Shortcomings

2.1.1. Infrared Imaging

The most commonly used thermal imaging technique is the infrared thermometry (IR). Pyrometers also known as radiation thermometers operate on the basis of measuring the amount of infrared radiation emitted from a body. The temperature is then inferred by Planck's law. [60] This method the most commercially popular since it is most suitable for acquiring non-contact temperature maps at the macro-scale and provides quick thermal maps at a relatively moderate cost.

The major setbacks of IR imaging techniques is that IR-based cameras cannot detect spatial resolutions below a few microns due to the diffraction limit of IR radiation. The diffraction limit (D) of optical imaging is determined by the wavelength of illumination (λ) and numerical aperture (NA) as $D = 2\lambda/NA$. For IR, the resolution is diffraction limited to between $3-10\mu m$ depending on NA, which is insufficient to detect temperature variations in microscale devices. Moreover, IR emission is proportional to the materials surface emissivity ϵ , which is lacking for reflective materials present in microelectronic devices rendering them inefficient at emitting IR radiation. As a result, IR thermometers often require that the sample devices be coated with a thin "target" of black paint to enhance the emissivity of the surface. This is not desirable since it may alter the thermal properties and response of the sample under test and induce additional systematic measurement errors.

2.1.2. Micro-TCs and SThM

To achieve temperature measurements at the microscale, thermal engineers resorted to micro-thermocouples, either embedded in the structure of the device or mounted on a tip that engages contact at the surface of the device. These methods utilize contact methods to obtain single point measurements. Mapping a surface for a temperature distribution further requires additional translation stages for navigating the tip across the measurement area. Although the temperature detected is accurate to 0.01 K, the spacial resolution is limited to the size of the thermocouple tip (25-50 microns) [60].

Scanning thermal microscopy (SThM) is another technique that can improve on the spacial resolution by using nanometer size thermocouple fabricated at the tips of an atomic-force microscopy (AFM) probe. The method is highly accurate but proves to be expensive and not commercially available. The measurement is also time consuming and, being a contact method, could introduce additional heat conduction paths and result in systematic errors. Moreover, systematic error can be introduced for light emitting devices which may radiate and result in heating of the measurement probes.

2.1.3. Micro-Raman

To obtain complete thermal maps of the region of interest (ROI), non-contact methods are preferred over contact methods since the temperature map is obtained remotely without interfering with the device's thermal system. An optical method used readily in sub-micron thermal imaging is micro-Raman spectroscopy. The method uses visible light illumination and can thus reach spatial resolutions of less than 1 μ m. The basis of operation is that the surface material of the device under test scatters illumination in-elastically thus shifting the wavelength and intensity. This shift is temperature dependent and can be used to infer a device's surface temperature.

The physics of Raman instrumentation is highly complex since it requires the decoupling of the effects of temperature, mechanical stress, and electric field on the measured Raman shift [14]. The Micro-Raman method is also inapplicable for materials with no phonon lines in their spectrum, like metals and packaging plastics [220], and is most applicable for III-Nitride materials that have good Raman scattering effects. Since the method uses high intensity laser, the measurement remains a single point method and often required XY translation stage, adding to the complexity and duration of acquisition, and usually resulting in low resolution imaging (Figure 2.1) [105].



Figure 2.1. Thermal maps of active GaN HEMT using a) IR and b) micro-Raman imaging from Sarua et al. [220]. c) Device measurement region and Raman measurements adapted from Hiroki et al. [105]. The high-resolution requirements are evident especially as device dimensions near the sub-micron scale.
2.2. Thermoreflectance based Thermal Imaging

The thermal metrology technique chosen for the studies presented in this work is based on the thermoreflectance (TR) effect, which provides an optical measurement method that is non-invasive, non-contact and non-destructive [207–209, 211]. The physical basis of the measurement relies on the temperature-varying optical properties of semiconductor materials, and is mainly acquired through the reflectance change of a surface material subject to a rise in temperature, under visible light illumination. By detecting the changes in reflected light intensity ($\Delta R/R$) from a surface, the changes in temperature (ΔT) can be inferred after the R-T dependence of the test sample is known before-hand through calibration.

In addition, the method is more suited than IR for thermal mapping of microelectronic devices, since most of the semiconductor and metallic materials constituents are of low emissivity ϵ and high reflectivity R. Moreover, by measuring with a shorter wavelength illumination, the TR imaging can theoretically reach down to a diffraction-limited spatial resolution of around 0.3 to 0.5 μm ($\approx 10 - 50 \times$ that of IR) [61].

Initially, the method was implemented as a single-point measurement setup, and later for surface scanning with the use of a translation stage. Made possible by the advancements in camera technology, the TR method is currently implemented as a surface temperature imaging technique, cutting acquisition times to a fraction of scanning single-point measurements methods. Current camera-based TR imaging systems can detect temperature-induced surface reflectance changes with relatively low noise levels allowing for a temperature resolution reaching as low as 0.1 K [61].

The TR response is also implemented in pump-and-probe techniques for measuring thermal properties of thin-film material stacks, such as the time dependent thermoreflectance (TDTR) measurement technique. In TDTR, the surface temperature response is monitored while a laser excites a transducer gold surface atop a blanket film stack. The energy absorption and the temperature decay through the stack is later analyzed to infer the thermal properties of the constituting materials [51, 57, 268]. The experimental details will be presented in a following section while the reverse modeling equations to extract thin-film properties will be presented with the numerical techniques in Chapter 3.

2.2.1. Governing Physics of Reflectance-Temperature Dependence

The surface reflection of light is a complex interaction between incident electromagnetic wave and the energetic structure of the material. The electromagnetic wave can be either absorbed, transmitted or reflected, with the proportion of each depending on the optical properties of the surface, determined by the energy of the lattice, and the energy of the incident photons. The portion of light reflected from a surface is related to the complex refractive index N = n + ik as presented by the Fresnel equations (2.1).

$$R = \left| \frac{1 - N}{1 + N} \right| = \frac{(1 - n)^2 + k^2}{(1 + n)^2 + k^2}$$
(2.1)

From the above expression, the reflectance change ΔR due to any change in the refractive indexes can be expressed by differentiating (2.1).

$$\frac{\Delta R}{R} = \left(\frac{4N}{N^2 - 1}\right) \frac{\Delta N}{N} \tag{2.2}$$

The refractive indexes can be determined from the complex dielectric function $\epsilon = \epsilon_1 + i\epsilon_2$

$$n = \left(\frac{(\epsilon_1^2 + \epsilon_2^2)^2 + \epsilon_1^2}{2}\right)^2$$
(2.3a)

$$k = \left(\frac{(\epsilon_1^2 + \epsilon_2^2)^2 - \epsilon_1^2}{2}\right)^2$$
(2.3b)

Consequently, the reflectance of a surface can be expressed in terms of the change in the real and complex part of the dielectric function by combining (2.1) and (2.3) and differentiating with respect to ϵ_1 and ϵ_2 . [225]

$$\frac{\Delta R}{R} = \frac{1}{R} \frac{\partial R}{\partial \epsilon_1} \Delta \epsilon_1 + \frac{1}{R} \frac{\partial R}{\partial \epsilon_2} \Delta \epsilon_2 \tag{2.4}$$

The partial derivatives expressed in terms of ϵ_1, ϵ_2 , and $\epsilon = \sqrt{\epsilon_1^2 + \epsilon_2^2}$ are shown in (2.5)

$$\frac{1}{R}\frac{\partial R}{\partial \epsilon_1} = \frac{\sqrt{2(\epsilon_1 + \epsilon)}}{\epsilon((\epsilon_1 - 1)^2 + \epsilon_2^2)} (2\epsilon_1 - \epsilon - 1)$$

$$\frac{1}{R}\frac{\partial R}{\partial \epsilon_2} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\epsilon\sqrt{\epsilon_1 + \epsilon}((\epsilon_1 - 1)^2 + \epsilon_2^2)} (2\epsilon_1 + \epsilon - 1)$$
(2.5a)

The above relation has allowed the complex dielectric function $\epsilon = \epsilon_1 + i\epsilon_2$ to be calculated from modulated reflectance measurements in spectroscopic ellipsometry. The dielectric function determines the energy structure of metals and semiconductors. The optical reflectance is dependent on the structure of the energy band and on the process involved in its interaction with incident electromagnetic waves. For intraband processes, the free carriers are the major contributors in defining the interaction, which occur mostly in metals and conductors. For interband processes, the optical properties are defined by electrons at low energy levels absorbing the incident radiation and transitioning to higher energy levels, which is the case for semiconductors [78].

Temperature change has many complex effects on the optical properties of a certain material and thus changes the complex dielectric function and the energy structure of solids through different physical mechanisms [215].

- 1. Volumetric expansion causes the electron density to change and the Fermi level to shift
- 2. Shear stress resulting from sample constraint in the substrate can also cause shifts and warps in energy bands
- 3. Broadening electronic distributions around the Fermi level
- 4. Phonon population increase causes less electron relaxation times and shifts and warps due to electron-phonon interaction
- 5. Temperature changes causes small increase in the Fermi level
- 6. If the temperature is self induced by Joule's effect, current flowing displaces the distribution function

In a simplified approach the change of the dielectric function can be caused by a change in temperature and is related in solid state physics by a shift in the band gap energy E_g and the broadening parameter Γ in the case of semiconductors, and to the DC electrical conductivity in the case of metals. However at large temperature changes the above mentioned effects become more significant and result in nonlinear variation in the C_{TR} coefficient and affect the accuracy of thermoreflectance microscopy techniques [78]. For thermoreflectance experimental studies, and unlike theoretical approaches, the overall combined effect of temperature on the reflectance is acquired by calibration at a given light wavelength (phonon energy), without the need for full photon energy spectrum analysis.

2.3. TR Imaging Acquisition Methodology

2.3.1. TR Experimental Setup for Thermal Microscopy

Thermal imaging experimental studies presented in this work are conducted using the T°Imager[®] system which is commercially available [207]. The setup schematic consists of an optical setup that directs an illumination source (LED or monochromatic light) to a sample which is vacuum-held in place on a thermally controlled wafer chuck (Figure 2.2). The stage is also mounted on an an XYZ nanopositioner to be able to reposition the DUT and counteract thermal motion. The incident light is first sampled through a beam splitter where a photodetector monitors the changes in the illumination source intensity for data corrections. The light then passes through an objective lens (5× to 100 × magnification) and reflects from the sample surface back to a camera that monitors the reflected light intensity.

Electrical connections to the device are established using the Cascade Microtech nanopositioners which can provide 2-probe and 4-proble activation. The instrumentation setup is controlled through the T°Imager user interface which is used for both the thermal imaging both in activation and calibration of the device (Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.2. Schematic showing optical setup of TR imaging imaging system and the incident and reflected light path from the sample.



Figure 2.3. TMX $T^{\circ}Imager^{\textcircled{R}}$ setup showing activation, temperature, PC, nano-positioning, and light control used for sample thermal imaging.

2.3.2. TR Measurement Procedure

The measurement acquisition of the device's thermal map is performed in a two-stage procedure. Initially, the device is electrically activated, where self-heating results in a temperature distribution to be determined. The reflectance change resulting from that temperature rise is mapped using the camera in the activation step. Next, the reflection-temperature relation of the device surface features are determined using a calibration step in which the reflectance change is acquired after a known set of uniform temperature rises are applied.

2.3.2.1. Activation Step for $(\Delta R/R)_a$ Map

The reflectance of a surface has been demonstrated to be weakly sensitive to temperature changes where the coefficient of thermoreflectance lies in the range of 10^{-5} to 10^{-4} per Kelvin, which proves the detection of such changes to be challenging [27]. To be able to acquire a sufficient signal to noise ratio, the surface is required to be reflective, and to be sufficiently thermally reflective. For most metallic surfaces used in microelectronic fabrication like Gold and Aluminum, the reflective surface requirement is satisfied where a sufficient amount of light is reflected back to the light sensing equipment. However, for a surface te be thermally reflective, it must exhibit a measurable reflectance changes with temperature under some specific wavelength of illumination. Incidentally, different photon energies interact differently with the surface varying the thermal reflectance response for different wavelengths of incident light. Thus by measuring the TR response subject to a wavelength scan, the optimal illumination can be determined to ensure the best TR signal prior to activation.

In activation, and upon determining the optimal wavelength for TR measurements, the sample is electrically activated to the required power levels using a Source/Monitor Unit while measuring the surface reflectance change ($\Delta R/R$) maps between the ON and OFF states of the device (i.e. hot and cold frames). The reflectance change maps are recorded and will be used in conjunction with the calibration maps to calculate the temperature rise distribution.

2.3.2.2. Calibration Step for C_{TR} Map

The relation between the reflected light intensity and the surface temperature has a dominant first order dependence as shown in equation 2.6. For small temperature variations (O(10 K)), the relation is assumed linear. Weak non-linear effects may occur but are more evident for larger temperature variations (O(100 K)).

$$R(T) = R(T_0) + \frac{dR}{dT}(T - T_0) + \frac{1}{2}\frac{d^2R}{dT^2}(T - T_0)^2 + \dots$$
(2.6)

$$R(T) = R(T_0)(1 + C_{TR}(T - T_0))$$
(2.7)

The linear parameter $C_{TR} = \frac{1}{dT} \frac{dR}{R} (unitsof 1/Kelvin)$ is often referred to as the coefficient of thermo-reflectance (similar in form to the coefficient of thermal expansion relating strain to temperature $C_{TE} = \frac{1}{dT} \frac{dL}{L}$). The thermo-reflectance coefficient naturally depends on the surface material composition and its roughness, and on the light's wavelength and its optical path. Thus any transparent passivation also adds interference effects and varies the TR response. For that reason, the coefficient is indeterminate except for few cases of bare metals, like Au, Al, Pt and Ni [131]. For an arbitrary device, with various surface material and features, the coefficient of thermo-reflectance is difficult to determine analytically, and thus must be acquired by in-situ calibration where the surface reflectance change is measured as a known temperature change is applied. As complex microelectronic devices contain different material and features on its surface, the C_{TR} map is also obtained for each pixel independently.

In calibration, a known temperature rise ΔT is applied to the sample device through the Peltier heating stage, and the reflectance change $(\Delta R/R)$ from the sample surface is acquired using the camera and used to calculate the thermoreflectance coefficient map $C_{TR}(i, j)$ as given in (2.8). Realignments of the DUT are performed between the hot and cold set temperatures after thermal motion (X and Y directions) and to refocus (Z direction). This ensures that the measured location refers to the same position on the actual device.

2.3.2.3. Extracting Thermal Maps from C_{TR} and $(\Delta R/R)_a$

The temperature rise distribution (ΔT) is finally extracted by combining the reflectance maps obtained from activation to the calibration maps of C_{TR} according to (2.9).

$$C_{TR}(i,j) = \frac{1}{\Delta T_{1,2}} \frac{\Delta R_c(i,j)}{R_c(i,j)}$$
(2.8)

$$\Delta T_{op}(i,j) = T_{op}(i,j) - T_{base} = C_{TR}(i,j) \times \frac{\Delta R_a(i,j)}{R_a(i,j)}$$
(2.9)

Subscript c and a refer to the calibration and activation process respectively, i and j refer to the pixel location index within the field of view. $\Delta T_{1,2}$ is the set temperature during calibration, while operating temperature rise ΔT_{op} is obtained during activation relative to the fixed chuck temperature T_{base} .

2.4. Challenges and Shortcomings of TR imaging

Thermoreflectance imaging is a powerful method for thermal characterization but has some limitations never-the-less. Initially, since the optical method is based on reflectance, the measurements are limited to the surface of exposed regions and to the topmost opaque/reflective layer in a stack. The surface limitation therefore introduces an accessibility challenge where embedded features cannot be directly reached for measuring their temperature. This limits the TR measurement technique especially when recent developments require more invasive techniques, as more technologies move to 2.5D and 3D chip-stacking, and field plates are introduced that cover active regions in high power transistors. This limitation is discussed further in Chapters 4 and 5 and motivates a reverse modeling approach to help estimate the temperature within embedded features.

Another setback for the TR technique is that some materials under-test are transparent to visible light and cannot be measured directly (such as oxides, Gallium Nitride and Silicon Carbide). Some of these material are opaque for shorter wavelengths of light that exceed their bandgap. For instance, Gallium Nitride (GaN) and Gallium oxide (GaO) can reflect near-ultra-violet (UV) illumination (350 nm and 250 nm respectively) and their surfaces can be measured accordingly. Chapter 4 presents a study where GaN based power devices are thermally mapped using near-UV (above-bandgap) illumination to overcome this limitation.

An optical imaging system's resolution is limited by the principle limit of light diffraction that determines the smallest distance between features that can be resolved. The diffraction limit of light d is a function of the wavelength λ and the optical setup, mainly the numerical aperture N_A as $d = \lambda/2N_A$. Most of the available thermoreflectance apparatus use objective lenses with $N_A \approx 0.5$, thus the diffraction limit imposed resolution is around 0.3 μ m to 0.6 μ m at best. This would render measurements challenging for features in the sub-micron scales not considering other challenges with instrumentation at that magnification level.

Other concerns arise regarding accuracy especially when measuring large temperature variations where non-linear effects can cause deviations from the linear TR region. Calibration for a constant C_{TR} field is obtained at set temperatures changes at the order of 10 K and is accurate for measuring temperature rises in the same range. At temperatures on the order of 100 K range, the coefficient may exhibit non-linear variations [100] that, if ignored, can lead to measurement errors. This issue is be addressed by using high temperature calibration in Chapter 4 to more accurately represent the reflectance-temperature relation at elevated temperatures.

Thermoreflectance imaging, even with some of its limitations, remains a versatile and advantageous instrumentation method that provides quick, high resolution, thermal maps. Therefore, thermoreflectance imaging will be the chosen experimental method for the studies presented in this report, with the mentioned challenges discussed in more detail for each of the specific device technologies, and the approaches for addressing those challenges accordingly detailed in the respective Chapters.

2.5. Thermal Property Measurements using TDTR

The property measurements that are presented in this work were conducted with the TMX Scientific TransometerTM TDTR system present in the NETS laboratory at SMU. The system uses the pump and probe technique where a pulsed Nd:YAG (532 nm) is used



Figure 2.4. Schematic representation of pump-and-probe technique for the time-domain thermoreflectance.

as a pump laser to thermally excite the gold transducer layer, and a continuous wave (CW) Argon-ion laser (488 nm) serves as the probing laser (Figure 2.4). To collect sufficient data for a proper statistical analysis, five sets of a minimum of 500 pulsed excitations are performed for each thickness sample. The total thermal resistance is extracted from parameter fitting for each of the different thickness samples. The model theory and parameter fitting are presented in the next Chapter.

Chapter 3

Numerical Thermal Characterization

In any scientific study, experimental investigations provide the actual data relating to real life observations that ground an analysis to the truth and characteristics of a system or device under test. These observations alone, however, would not provide a full investigation and must be complemented by a set of numerical studies which would elevate the acquired observations and help build an understanding and a set of governing relations (i.e., models). Also the case for thermal investigations, numerical analysis is an invaluable tool that also gives an understanding of the effects of different material and geometric properties, enables to predict a device's electrical and thermal response, and facilitates device design and integration. Moreover, numerical studies provide a fast and cost effective digital/artificial platform for representing a thermal or electrical system, and can be used in design cycles (what-if scenarios) for evaluating a range of different parameters and reporting metrics other than temperature (heat flux, conductance, thermal resistance). Therefore a numerical investigation would reduce the needed number of prototypes and experiments, and by that shortening the design cycle and reducing time and cost.

The benefit of numerical techniques in semiconductor and microelectronic thermal investigations goes beyond the above general benefits and provides additional advantages. Given the device scale and complexity, experimental techniques may be limited in resolution and accessibility (surface measurements, 2D), and thus numerical techniques would help fill in the access gap by using estimates of temperatures (in 3D) based on physical models. Moreover, experimental techniques would report only temperature readings and thus a numerical investigation is needed to calculate and extract important thermal properties and parameters such as thermal conductance and interface resistances. In the first Section of this Chapter, we present the theoretical background for solving the heat conduction equation in microelectronics, and the governing electro-thermal interactions that result in heat generation (i.e., self-heating) in microelectronics. In the following section, we present the numerical simulation tools and techniques used in this dissertation, from forward modeling, reduced mathematical models and experimentally-driven model optimization (reverse modeling) and discuss their advantages to generic and commercial numerical techniques in dealing with microelectronic devices and structures.

3.1. Full Electro-Thermal Modeling

Microelectronic device operation is a result of complex solid-state physics and coupled electro-thermal interactions that are subject to strong dependencies on operation temperatures. To begin, electrical properties are temperature depend and therefore, any variation in ambient device temperature can cause it to deviate from its designed electrical performance (impedance change, distortion, shifts in frequency response). Moreover the electro-thermal relation is a two way coupled system where the electrical activation also determines the rate of heat generation within a device which then results in the temperature gradients within the structure. These physical interactions increase the complexity of an electro-thermal model and may require direct or indirect coupling of the electrical and thermal models, and by that increase the numerical complexity of a full-scale numerical model.

3.1.1. Electrical Modeling Equations for Semiconductor Operation

The main governing equation for electrical conduction in a semiconductor device is the **Poisson equation of electrostatics** that relates the electric potential ϕ to the charge density ρ through the electric permittivity of the medium ϵ .

$$\nabla \cdot (\epsilon \nabla \psi) = -\rho \tag{3.1}$$

The charge density in the above equation represents the different charge carriers including electrons, holes, donors and trap charges.

$$\nabla \cdot (\epsilon \nabla \psi) = -q(p - n + N_D^+ - N_A^-) - \rho_S$$
(3.2)

Where N_D^+ and N_A^- are the doping concentrations, and for constant permittivity ϵ , the leading term becomes the Poisson relation $(\epsilon \nabla^2 \psi)$.

Moreover, the **Carrier Continuity Equations** ensure the conservation of the charge carriers contributing to the current flow.

$$\frac{\partial n}{\partial t} = \frac{1}{q} \nabla \cdot \vec{J_n} + G - R \tag{3.3}$$

$$\frac{\partial p}{\partial t} = -\frac{1}{q} \nabla \cdot \vec{J_p} + G - R \tag{3.4}$$

Where n is the charge concentration, q charge unit, J current density, G and R generation and recombination rates. The two continuity equations 3.3 and 3.4 and the Poisson equation 3.2 are solved for n, p, and ψ . However, the equation terms should be modeled in terms of the independent parameters and the physical constants.

The current density can then be represented as function of the carrier concentrations nand p using the **Boltmann Transport Theory**.

$$\vec{J_n} = -q\mu_n n \vec{\nabla} \phi_n \tag{3.5}$$
$$\vec{J_p} = -q\mu_p p \vec{\nabla} \phi_p$$

Where ϕ is the quasi-fermi potential for electrons and holes. To combining the continuity equations with the poisson's equation for electrostatics, the **Drift-Diffusion Model** is used to represent the current density in terms of carrier concentrations and electrostatic potential as shown in equation 3.7. The two terms are the drift (electric field induced) and diffusion components (concentration induced) of the electric current.

$$\vec{J_n} = nq\mu_n \vec{E_n} + qD_n \vec{\nabla} n \tag{3.6}$$
$$\vec{J_p} = pq\mu_p \vec{E_p} + qD_p \vec{\nabla} p$$

Where μ and D are mobility and diffusivity of the charge carriers (electrons and holes).

Under steady state conditions, the charge concentration rate is balanced by the generation and recombination rates, giving the current density balance:

$$\nabla \cdot \vec{J} = 0 \tag{3.7}$$

Writing the equation in terms of the potential and charge concentration, and using Boltzmann statistics for charge densities, we can rewrite the continuity equation as:

$$\nabla \cdot \{qD_n \nabla n - nq\mu \nabla \psi - \mu n[k_B T \nabla ln(n_i)]\} = 0$$
(3.8)

$$\nabla \cdot \{qD_p\nabla p - pq\mu\nabla\psi - \mu p[k_BT\nabla ln(n_i)]\} = 0$$
(3.9)

The above equation is solved for ψ, n and p, from which the current density can be calculated using the drift-diffusion equation, and the electric field obtained from the definition $\vec{E} = -\nabla \psi$. The remaining complexity then spans from the modeling of the individual parameters like the diffusivity and mobility of charge carriers.

The diffusivity D of the charge carriers could be related to the mobility using the **Einstein Relationship**

$$D_n = \frac{kT}{q} \mu_n \tag{3.10}$$
$$D_p = \frac{kT}{q} \mu_p$$

The above relation is a simplification where more accurate representations require using Fermi-Dirac statistics. Moreover, there exists numerous models for the charge carrier mobility with the simplest being a constant mobility model.

The Fermi-Dirac function determines the probability of a charge to occupy an energy level above the conduction (for electrons) or below the valence (for holes).

$$f(E) = \frac{1}{1 + e^{(E - E_f)/kT}} \approx e^{(E - E_f)/kT}$$
(3.11)

$$n_0 = f(E_c)N_c = N_c e^{-(E_c - E_f)/kT}$$

$$p_0 = (1 - f(E_v))N_v = N_v e^{-(E_f - E_v)/kT}$$
(3.12)

where the effective density of states are given as

$$N_c = 2 \left(\frac{2\pi m_n^* kT}{h^2}\right)^{3/2}$$

$$N_v = 2 \left(\frac{2\pi m_p^* kT}{h^2}\right)^{3/2}$$
(3.13)

As seen in the above presented equations, the different electrical metrics, from charge distribution, diffusivity, electrical conductivity as well as the governing equations are dependent on the thermal energy (kT), with k being the Boltzmann constant, and in-turn dependent on the device temperature. As a result, the temperature is a contributing factor that alters a device's electrical performance, and thus must be accurately characterized for thermally critical applications as to not influence operation.

3.1.2. Heat Generation Mechanisms in Microelectronics

In addition to altering device operation, self-heating effects can result in overheating concerns that further impact reliability and lifetime of a device. The temperature distribution within a semiconductor device is mainly governed by the heat conduction equations (Table 3.1) stating that heat is either conducted away $Q_c = \kappa \nabla T$ from the source location or is absorbed by the structure as latent heat and thus increases the temperature locally.

Within the Heat Source	Outside Heat Source
$\rho \cdot C_p \frac{\partial T}{\partial t} = -\vec{\nabla} \cdot \vec{Q_c} + Q_{gen}$	$\rho \cdot C_p \frac{\partial T}{\partial t} = -\vec{\nabla} \cdot \vec{Q_c}$
$\rho \cdot C_p \frac{\partial T}{\partial t} = -\vec{\nabla} \cdot (\kappa \vec{\nabla} T) + Q_{gen}$	$\rho \cdot C_p \frac{\partial T}{\partial t} = -\vec{\nabla} \cdot (\kappa \cdot \vec{\nabla} T$

Table 3.1. Source-driven conduction equation governing heating in micro-electronic devices.

The heat conduction problem for the major front-end devices and components presented in this work is considered to be a source driven thermal system, where heat generation drives the thermal response, in contrast to boundary-driven systems. Since the wafer dimensions are smallest in depth direction, the wafer domain is considered to extend infinitely in the lateral directions and thus edge boundaries are considered to be adiabatic. Only the substrate base boundary condition is considered as the heat sink, and thus thermal resistances and temperature rises will be relevant between the junction (highest device temperature) and the case (substrate base) for our unpackaged wafer devices.

The the heat generation (driving term for our thermal system) is the result of electrical interactions and can most simply be defined per unit volume as presented in (3.14) in terms of the current density J and the electric field E.

$$Q''' = (\vec{J_n} + \vec{J_p}) \cdot \vec{E}$$
 (3.14)

The heating term in application is more complex and comprises of different electrothermal heat generation mechanisms that occur when a semiconductor device is activated. The electric field (E) is a dependent parameter and thus the heat generation must be presented in terms of current densities (J) and charge carrier properties which are often solved for in the problem definition. Joule heating is the primary generation term in most active devices, especially for analog and high power devices, and consists of a low frequency (DC) and a high frequency (optical) term. The DC term in (3.15) is the by-product of electron and hole flow random collisions with the lattice structure that creates thermal motion. The optical heating is the result of absorption of an optical wave into the lattice where the phonon energy either generates an electron-hole pair, or dissipates as Joule heating.

$$Q_{Joule,DC} = \frac{|J_n^2|}{q\mu_n n} + \frac{|J_p^2|}{q\mu_p p}$$
(3.15)

Another form of heat generation is the Recombination heat which occurs when an electron-hole pair recombines. This term is the primary mechanism for light emitting device operation, like photodiodes and laser diodes. When an electron leaves the valence band to the conduction band, energy is absorbed and an electron-hole pair is generated. The reverse process is Recombination where the electron loses an energy packet and recombines in the hole site within the valence band. The energy lost from the electron is emitted as a photon packet and is either released from the device, as is the case in light emitting devices, or is reabsorbed in the lattice as additional thermal energy. The total heat generated (3.16) from this mechanism depends on the total recombination rate (spontaneous, trap assisted, and Auger) and the difference in energy (Fermi) levels of the conduction and valence band (E_{fp} and E_{fn}).

$$Q_{Recomb} = R_{net}(E_{fn} - E_{fp})$$

$$= (R_{trap} + R_{Aug} + R_{spon})(E_{fn} - E_{fp})$$

$$(3.16)$$

Thompson and Peltier generated/absorbed heat (3.17) are additional heat generation mechanisms that occur as a result of spatial and temporal variation, respectively, in the thermoelectric power of an electron (P_n) and a hole (P_p) within the semiconductor material. Thompson heat is related to time change in P when electron-hole pairs are generated or recombined. Generation of the pair absorbs energy and the recombination releases energy as the form of heat. Peltier is related to electro-thermal heat generation/absorption as the flow of electrons and hole across a spatial thermoelectric power gradient.

$$Q_{Thompson} = qR_{total}T(P_p - P_n)$$

$$Q_{Peltier} = -T(\vec{J_n} \cdot \vec{\nabla}P_n + \vec{J_p} \cdot \vec{\nabla}P_p)$$
(3.17)

The formulation of the different heat generation regimes is important for electro-thermal modeling, however, in some applications such as high power devices, discussed in detail in Chapter 4 and 5, Joule heating is the dominant term and other forms of heat generation may be neglected.

3.1.3. Temperature-Dependent Thermal Properties

Temperature is not only a contributing factor in governing physical (electrical and thermal) equations but also alters material and thermal properties. For instance, a semiconductor material's band gap drops with temperature $E_g(T) = E_{g0} - \alpha T^2/(T + \beta)$, which limits its high voltage capabilities by reducing its breakdown voltage. Moreover, elevated temperature levels increase phonon concentrations causing lattice scattering and a reduction in electron mobility. Most mobility models consider temperature for more accurate representation. In a similar manner, temperature can affect most other related parameters such as electron and hole diffusivity, density of states and electrical resistivity.

Temperature also affects thermal properties where increases lattice thermal energy increases scattering and thus reduces thermal conductivity in ordered structures (non-amorphous) as well as heat capacity. Thermal conductivity is seen to decrease with temperature for crystalline and polycrystalline materials used in semiconductor devices (GaN, Si, SiC...) due to the increase scattering at higher lattice thermal motion. The most abundant model for fitting this temperature dependence is the power law (3.18) in reference to ambient conditions (300 K). The fitting parameter α and κ_0 are presented for readily used materials in Table 3.2.

$$\kappa(T) = \kappa(300K) \cdot \left(\frac{T}{300}\right)^{\alpha} \tag{3.18}$$

Table 3.2. Temperature-dependent Conductivity Parameter for generic Semiconductor compounds (Data compiled by ATLAS SILVACO).

Material	K_{300} (W/m K)	α
Si	148	-1.65
Ge	60	-1.25
GaAs	46	-1.25
AlAs	80	-1.37
InAs	27	-1.1
InP	68	-1.4
GaP	77	-1.4
GaN	265	-1.38
AlN	295	-1.21

In addition to temperature dependence, two elements may share the same sub-lattice in ternary and quaternary compound semiconductors, which are represented by the percent composition $x.(\text{ex: Al}_x\text{Ga}_{1-x}\text{N}, \text{In}_x\text{Ga}_{1-x}\text{P}, ...)$ The blend introduces more irregularities in the crystal structure due to varying atomic sizes, and thus causes a decrease in the thermal conductivity and leads to an x-dependence in κ . For example, pure GaN and AlN are more conductive than an $Al_xGa_{1-x}N$ blend where Al and Ga atoms share the same sub-lattice. The conductivity variation with composition thus appears as a basin function determined by the parameter C as showing in the general fit for semiconductor blends in (3.19). The density ρ , specific heat c, and β are interpolated linearly with composition x.

$$\kappa_{300}^{AB} = \frac{1}{\left(\frac{1-x}{\kappa_{300}^A} + \frac{x}{\kappa_{300}^B} + \frac{(1-x)x}{C}\right)}$$
(3.19)

$$\alpha^{AB} = (1-x)\alpha^A + \alpha^B \tag{3.20}$$

The heat capacity temperature-dependency is also represented in a similar form in (3.21). The fitting parameters and ambient values are shown in Table 3.3 for a selected list of semiconductor materials.

$$C(T) = \rho \left[c_{300} + c_1 \frac{\frac{T}{300}^{\beta} - 1}{\frac{T}{300}^{\beta} + \frac{c_1}{300}} \right]$$
(3.21)

Table 3.3. Heat Capacity Ambient Value and Model Parameters (Data compiled by ATLAS SILVACO).

Material	$ ho_B$	C ₃₀₀	c_1	β
	$(\rm gm/cm)$	(J/K kg)	(J/K kg)	
Si	2.33	711	255	1.85
Ge	5.327	360	130	1.3
GaAs	5.32	322	50	1.6
AlAs	3.76	441	50	1.2
InAs	5.667	394	50	1.95
InP	4.81	410	50	2.05
GaP	4.138	519	50	2.6

The above modeling equations present the idealized temperature and composition dependencies. It is important to note that thermal properties also vary with doping concentrations, fabrication methods, and dislocation density. These numerous factors contribute to the complexity of accurately modeling thin-film properties, and in most cases, the presented literature values are estimates used for bulk-material (Table 3.2).

3.1.4. TDTR Property Measurements

As thermal properties of thin-films exhibit large margins of uncertainty due to fabrication, crystal structures and material doping concentrations and dislocation densities, a thermal property measurement setup is extremely beneficial to obtain accurate thermal properties to be used as input for numerical and simulation models. Time-domain thermoreflectance (TDTR) is a versatile technique developed for measuring the thermal conductivity (κ) of thin-film materials. The pump-and-probe TDTR method used in this work [26,28], has been implemented for a wide range of thin-film thermal conductivities, between a high κ of 2000 W/m.K measured for diamond and graphite [268,269] to a low of 0.05 W/m.K measured for WSe₂ [53].

TDTR can be implemented with relatively simple sample preparation and without the need for resistor heater/transducer patterns required for other types of conductivity measurement techniques (3ω) . The basic principle of the TDTR approach is that a "pump" laser optically excites a top absorptive layer of a thin-film stack (Fig. 1), inducing a thermal response. The top absorptive layer, gold (Au) in the current work, also serves as a transducer layer from whose surface a CW "probing" laser reflects into a photodetector to monitor changes in reflected light. Based on thermoreflectance physics, the temperature rise and decay at the surface can be inferred from the reflectance response. The temperature response is used in a reverse modeling approach to extract desired information related to the thermal properties of the thin-film stack. The transient temperature response at the surface is governed by the thicknesses and thermal properties of the stack of thin films making up the sample. These properties can be extracted by comparing the experimental response to a computational solution of a corresponding thermal model. The normalized temperature (θ) response is governed by Fourier's law of thermal conduction given in (3.22). The equation is reduced to 1D through-plane (z-direction) conduction since the heating spot is two orders of magnitude larger than the probing spot, which makes the radial variations negligibly small.

$$\rho c_p \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \left(\kappa \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial z} \right) + Q_{ab}(z, t) \tag{3.22}$$

The temperature response is driven by the heat addition, Q_{ab} , of the pump laser which is absorbed optically by the surface transducer layer. Convective and radiative effects are negligible because the heating is localized and the temperature rise is low, and so an adiabatic temperature condition is prescribed at the top boundary $(\partial \theta / \partial z = 0 \text{ at } z = 0)$. The condition at the wafer's base is set to match the controlled chuck temperature $(\theta = \theta_b \text{ at } z - > \infty)$. The heat addition, Q_{ab} , given in (3.23) depends on the reflectivity of the material R and the absorption rate γ of the incident laser intensity I. The laser intensity I(t) is expressed in (3.24) in terms of the fluence F and the pulse width τ of the pulse laser, while the absorption γ is given in terms of the laser wavelength λ and the transducer's extinction coefficient k as $\gamma = 4\pi k/\lambda$.

$$Q_{ab}(z,t) = I(t)(1-R)\gamma e^{-\gamma z}$$
(3.23)

$$I(t) = \frac{2F}{\tau\sqrt{\pi}}e^{-4((t-t_0)/\tau)^2}$$
(3.24)

The energy balance equation (3.22) can be solved analytically for simple structures such as the semi-infinite medium. However, for more complex layer stacks, the equation must be solved numerically in space and time. The calculated temperature response at the surface is then normalized and fitted to the normalized measured response by varying the unknown thermal properties that make up the stack.

The total thermal resistance $(R_{th,total})$ of the sample thin-film material as given in (3.25) consists of two terms: a) the intrinsic thermal resistance, which depends on the material intrinsic thermal conductivity (κ_i) , and b) the interface thermal resistances (R_{int}) at the interface at the sample film interfaces. [28]

$$R_{th,total} = \frac{h}{\kappa_i} + R_{int} \tag{3.25}$$

The total thermal resistance is linear for a sample layer of thickness h. By plotting $R_{th,total}$ against h, it becomes possible to extract the κ_i and R_{int} values from the slope

and y-intercept of the linear fit for each of the tested BEoL materials. As a final step, it is helpful for thermal simulations to report an effective conductivity for the thin-film materials. This is because for thin films, the interface resistance becomes a significant contributor to $R_{th,total}$ and it is impractical to consider the interface within a Fourier continuum approach. An effective conductivity (κ_{eff}) would comprehend both the interface effects as well as the material's intrinsic thermal resistivity, and is hence well-suited for computational analysis. By definition, a thin-film layer of thickness h and thermal conductivity κ_{eff} would provide the same thermal resistance as a film of thickness h and conductivity κ_i in series with an interface resistance R_{int} . This relation (3.26) is used to calculate and plot the $\kappa_{eff,i}$ as a function of h, as given in (3.26).

$$R_{th,total} = \frac{h}{\kappa_i} + R_{int} = \frac{h}{\kappa_{eff}}$$
(3.26)

$$\kappa_{eff,i} = \left(\frac{R_{int}}{h} + \frac{1}{\kappa_i}\right)^{-1} \tag{3.27}$$

3.2. Self-Adaptive Multi-Scale Thermal Modeling for Ultra-fast Computational Capabilities

Even with accurate thermal properties and a set of complete governing equation models for the electro-thermal system, the numerical complexity of solving the heat conduction equations in microelectronic structures remains and the major challenges arise from several factors. To begin with, heat is generated in localized region in the active devices and dissipates through the electronic stack to the substrate, transitioning across multiple physical scales in the three spatial dimensions and through different materials. The temporal scales are also irregular where the period of heat generation is orders of magnitude that of the heat dissipation. Undertaking full thermal modeling with traditional numerical techniques would require tremendous computational efforts. Consequently, iterative and models optimizations, which may be required given the large uncertainties and complexities present, are infeasible with full scale simulations.

To overcome the above challenges, Wilson and Raad [262] presented a numerical approach tailored specifically for microelectronic thermal modeling applications, in which a multi-grid method is utilized to handle large variations in scale, and where grid meshing is physicsdriven. The grid generation is automatically refined to ensure grid invariance which makes the numerical methods easy to setup and independent of any user experience. The transient 3D modeling engine refines the domain where required and thus increases the efficiency of computations, and as a result, reduced the solution time by two orders of magnitude [262]. This drastic improvement in computational efficiency opens the possibilities for ultra-fast computations to be implemented and thus iterative methods and optimizations of the models become feasible.

The developed thermal modeling software TMX T°Solver[®] based on the above described numerical approach is the simulation software used at NETS lab and will be used for the microelectronic device thermal modeling studies of this work. T°Solver[®] solves the heat transfer conduction problem within a defined model structure. The temperature dependent thermal conductivity and heat capacity is modeled within T° Solver according to (3.18) and (3.21). The boundary conditions are considered adiabatic at the lateral boundaries, since the wafer is considered infinitely wide in comparison to the depth in the through-plane direction. The top boundary is also considered adiabatic since heat transfer from the top surface is neglected. This condition is justified since convection effects are minimal for the studied activation levels and the temperature rise level is minimal for any significant radiation heat transfer. Moreover, the surface of microelectronic wafers are passivated with a dielectric (Silicon Nitride) adding to the thermal insulation to the top surface and blocking heat transfer. The heat sink boundary condition (isothermal) is defined at the substrate base to match experimental conditions where the unpackaged wafer is mounted during testing on a thermally controlled stage of a large thermal capacity, and for which the temperature is monitored and maintained at a fixed base temperature value (T_b) . Other model details specific to each device technology will be presented accordingly in their respective Chapters.

3.3. Experimentally-Driven Model Optimizations for Full Thermal Characterization

As discussed earlier, challenges in numerical thermal modeling arise in complex devices and in the uncertainties in physical parameters that may lead to inaccurate results. The presented self-adaptive multi-scale thermal modeling capabilities are most suited for transient simulations of 3D complex electronic structures, [208, 209, 211] and may offer a solution to the mentioned challenges. The fast simulations allow the possibility of conducting iterative studies to converge on uncertain input parameters, such as the heat source profile definition or the process-dependent thermal properties (thin film conductivity, interface resistances...). By iterating for the model input parameter files, the thermal model can be driven to match experimentally obtained temperature boundary values measured at device surface by methods described in Chapter 2. The obtained optimized model would thus be experimentally validated and representative of the of the actual thermal response of the device under test. This would offer a digital representation of the device for further design scenarios and parametric studies. The details and benefits of the reverse modeling approach is presented in the upcoming Chapters where it will be applied to develop experimentally-valid thermal simulation models of complex high-power GaN devices to investigate their thermal performance and extract important thermal properties of the device structures.

Chapter 4

High-Resolution Thermoreflectance Imaging Investigation of Self-Heating in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs on Si, SiC, and Diamond Substrates

Perhaps the most stringent thermal considerations arise for microelectronics operating under high power applications. Microelectronic devices in development for power and switching applications, such as Gallium Nitride based devices, have been thermally-limited due to the extensive self-heating effects and the excessive operation temperatures. With this limitation to microelectronic performance and reliability, novel and innovative thermal management strategies are required to drive thermal design along with advanced characterization techniques especially suited to meet the challenges in device scale, measurement accessibility, and numerical modeling.

Gallium Nitride high electron-mobility transistors (HEMTs) offer considerable highpower operation but suffer in reliability due to potentially damaging self-heating. In this study, self-heating in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs on high conductivity substrates is assessed using a high-resolution thermoreflectance (TR) imaging technique, to compare the thermal response between GaN-on-Si, GaN-on-Diamond, and GaN-on-4H-SiC. The TR method accuracy at high power density is verified by using a non-linear coefficient of thermoreflectance (C_{TR}) as function of temperature. The acquired steady-state thermal maps give a thermal resistance of 11.5 mm.K/W for GaN-on-Si (based on peak channel temperature), compared to 2.7 and 3.3 mm.K/W for GaN-on-SiC and GaN-on-diamond substrates respectively. The tested GaN-on-diamond HEMT exhibits similar heating rates to those seen on a SiC substrate, with a slightly higher peak temperature, which indicates a higher thermal boundary resistance that could offset the benefits of using a higher conductivity substrate and lead to faster thermally-enhanced degradation. The analysis reveals the importance using high resolution imaging to detect hot-spots and areas of peak temperature that largely affect failure initiation and device reliability and which may not be otherwise observable.

4.1. Introduction

The III-V compound semiconductor Gallium Nitride (GaN) has found widespread application in advanced high frequency and high voltage switching applications due to GaN's high breakdown electric field and electron mobility [171]. This exceptional electrical performance, however, has been documented to suffer from undesirable self-heating effects under high power applications [5,240]. Therefore, the need of improvement in thermal performance via reduced self-heating has necessitated research into HEMTs on high thermal conductivity substrates such as diamond [256].

GaN HEMTs grown on Silicon substrates have been taking advantage of a mature substrate-manufacturing infrastructure that has eased these devices into the power electronics marketplace. However, this approach suffers from substantial self-heating effects mainly because of buffer layers of AlGaN, that are usually thick, highly defective and thermallyresistive, but are necessary to bridge the lattice and thermal expansion mismatch between Si and GaN (lattice constants of 5.43 and 3.18 Å respectively [191]). 4H-SiC substrates not only offer higher thermal conductivity ($\approx 400 \text{W/m.K}$), but they also alleviate the need for AlN or AlGaN buffer layers thanks to a better lattice match to GaN. Moreover, GaN can be grown directly on SiC because the two materials have similar wurtzite crystal structure with 3.5% mismatch [41]. While diamond has very high thermal conductivity, its integration with GaN HEMTs has been extremely challenging for a number of reasons. To name a few, it is an unavailability of single crystal diamond wafers of large device processing size on the current market, the high cost of single crystal substrates of existing size, as well as a challenge of bonding GaN to single-crystal diamond wafers. Recent studies demonstrated that the use of polycrystalline diamond could remarkably improve HEMT electrical and thermal performance for GaN-on-diamond HEMTs [9, 73, 74, 239].

Polycrystalline Diamond substrate, grown with chemical vapor deposition (CVD-diamond) in-lieu of the etched Si substrate, necessitates an adhesion/bonding layer of SiN. The resulting GaN-on-diamond devices are observed to be structurally stable [149] with a three fold increase in power density as reported by Pomeroy et al. [198].

4.1.1. Thermal Mapping Challenges for GaN HEMTs

The different substrate configurations and interfaces in GaN HEMTs produce variation in thermal performance that require some experimental validation to observe the actual device thermal response. Experimental analysis is essential since simulation results alone may not be sufficient or valid due to inherent uncertainties in device and material properties [138]. There are various experimental thermal measurement techniques, however each of them present some limitations in measuring the maximum channel temperature of GaN HEMTs, mostly related to accessibility, resolution, and accuracy of the measurements [13, 164, 193, 198]. Optical methods of thermal imaging with sub-infrared (IR) wavelength are proven to provide higher resolutions with sufficient access to active regions of HEMT devices. Recent advances in optical thermoreflectance (TR) technique that utilizes visible and near-UV based thermal imaging shown to provide resolutions that can reach $10 \times$ that of IR.

4.1.1.1. Accessibility

To measure the operating temperature of GaN HEMTs, optical techniques are preferred for their non-invasive and non-destructive measurement approach. A natural limitation for optical measurements, such as infrared (IR), Raman and Thermoreflectance (TR), is that they are limited to measuring surface features and cannot reach embedded regions of a device, such as a Source-Drain channel covered by a field-plate, or the channel region under the gate electrode. One accessibility solution proposed by Martin-Horcajo et al. [164] is measuring the back-side gate electrode of a GaN-on-SiC HEMT. This approach is able to give a localized temperature measurement but is not applicable for other devices with opaque substrates. Moreover, some distortion may occur due to the (a) signal passing through multiple transparent and semi-transparent layers, (b) diffusion of the spot size due to those layers, and (c) not knowing exactly where one is measuring from. In addition, optical measurements are limited to measuring opaque films and cannot measure transparent thin films, often requiring additional sample coatings, and leading to an uncertainty as to the measurement location. This is the case with emerging materials such as Gallium Oxide (Ga_2O_3) which are transparent to IR and visible light, but may reflect higher energy illumination.

4.1.1.2. Accuracy

In addition to the accessibility limitation, measuring the maximum temperature using available methods can undeniably suffer in accuracy, due to depth and region averaging, among other factors. Surface temperatures obtained by thermoreflectance (TR) is lower than the electron channel temperature at the GaN/AlGaN interface beneath the surface. Raman spectroscopy averages throughout the depth of the GaN medium, which is transparent to visible light, giving lower-than-actual readings [14]. Electrical approximation methods' [232] accuracy can even be worse as they consider the effect of the device temperature on its electrical characteristics such as the gate resistance measurements [165, 193]. In that manner, electrical and photoluminescence measurements report on the average temperature of the entire device which may lead to an underestimation of the peak channel temperature, and which also can be influenced by charge trapping effects [180, 228]. Killat found that when compared to Raman, pulsed-electrical (PIV) measurements underestimate the 2DEG channel temperature by around 7%, with DC measurements underestimating the maximum temperature by up to 50% [128]. Other invasive/contact measurements utilizing embedded temperature sensors in the channel region may add heat conduction paths and electrical interference with the device operation, and also requires additional sample fabrication and electrical access to the sensing probes [13].

4.1.1.3. Resolution

A third challenging aspect that faces thermal mapping of GaN devices, and microscale electronic devices in general, is the deep imaging resolutions required to detect temperature peaks. Infrared (IR) thermography has a diffraction-limited lateral resolution of around $3 - 10\mu m$, with no depth resolution since GaN is transparent to IR and visible light. Novel approaches have been aiding improvements in spatial resolution, such as the fabrication of solid immersion lenses (SIL) on the back side of transparent substrates [199]. However, the costly sample preparation method is still in its early developments and is not applicable to opaque substrates.

Thermoreflectance (TR) thermal imaging for temperature mapping of the active GaN HEMT devices used in this study offers advance capabilities most suited for microelectronic components. TR is a non-invasive technique based on detecting surface reflectance changes with temperature [98,243], and therefore it is more suited than IR for the high reflectivity and low emissivity materials present in microelectronic devices [129,177]. By employing a shorter wavelength illumination than IR (visible and near-ultraviolet (NUV)), the TR method can image at higher resolutions [99].

Given that GaN is transparent to IR and visible light, TR can measure reflectance of the GaN surface by using NUV illumination, which is higher than the bandgap of GaN [194, 243, 272]. Above-bandgap TR provides surface measurements from the GaN layer.

In comparison, μ -Raman reports a thickness average temperature within the GaN layer, and visible TR [160,193] illumination reflects from multiple interfaces within the stack structure, with both effects leading to an underestimation in GaN surface temperature.

In this study, above-bandgap TR is used to experimentally assess and compare the passive cooling effectiveness of GaN HEMT devices on three different substrates. The sub-micron resolution thermal maps are obtained using TR imaging with enhanced accuracy provided by a higher order calibration for a temperature-dependent TR coefficient (C_{TR}).

In this study, GaN HEMTs device structures on three different substrates are experimentally assessed for their passive cooling effectiveness. The sub-micron resolution thermal maps are obtained through TR imaging with enhanced accuracy and suitable device accessibility. A higher order calibration approach is performed to improve the accuracy of the measurements and to compare the thermal performance of the different GaN HEMT devices.

4.2. Methodology

4.2.1. Thermal Mapping Procedure

4.2.1.1. Thermoreflectance Setup

The TR measurements are conducted using the TMX T°Imager[®] thermal metrology system that is capable of steady-state as well as transient temperature measurements [241]. This study presents the quasi-steady temperature maps obtained from LED illumination at 365 nm wavelength, while the transient analysis will be addressed in the future work.



Figure 4.1. a) Schematic of HEMT device structure. The substrate is either Si, SiC, Diamond, or is etched b) Top view image showing Source, Drain and Gate contacts.

In order to minimize subsurface reflections, the measurements were performed with abovebandgap illumination wavelength (WL) of 365 nm, which corresponds to the bandgap of GaN [194, 272]. The thermal imaging results were verified with additional measurements made first with a 370 nm and then with 360 nm bandpass optical filters to block all belowbandgap wavelengths.

Light entering the optical setup is first sampled using a photodetector (PD) to monitor and corrects for any fluctuations in the source intensity. The light beam is directed down to the sample through a $100 \times$ objective lens, and reflects back up to a mounted camera that acquires a 1024×1024 intensity map of the light reflection with a pixel size of 70 nm (Figure 4.1). The thermal chuck is mounted on an XYZ nano-positioning stage in order to correct for both lateral motion (drift and jitter) and vertical motion (focus) that may result from thermal expansion at higher magnification levels.



Figure 4.2. Sample a) calibration map for C_{TR} showing a global reflectance change response from the GaN material, b) reflectance change map $\Delta R/R$ showing the localized response within the GaN Channel Region, c) the resulting temperature rise map ΔT for the active GaN-membrane and GaN-on-Si device showing self-heating within the channel.

4.2.1.2. Activation

The acquisition of the thermal maps is performed in two main steps: activation and calibration (Figure 4.2). In activation, the device-under-test (DUT) is placed on a thermally controlled stage set at 20°C, and activated using a Keithley 2410 power source at a given power level. The drain voltage is modulated while the reflected intensity (R) is measured by the camera. A total number of 50 pairs of "cold" and "hot" frames are acquired for the OFF and ON device activation state respectively. The reflected intensity change map $(\Delta R/R)_{Act.}$ is then extracted. The procedure is repeated for various activation levels and biasing conditions (Table 4.1).

Table 4.1. Activation conditions for the different GaN HEMTs. Source contact is grounded.

Device	Gate	Drain	
	Voltage (V)	Voltage (V)	
GaN-on-Si	-1	5 to 25	
GaN-on-SiC	0	5 to 25	
GaN-on-diamond	-1	5 to 25	
di-GaN-on-SiC	-1	10 to 50	
GaN-membrane	-0.8 to -1.8	10	

Table 4.2. Gate (G), Source (S) and Drain (D) dimensions (in μ m) of GaN HEMTs on different substrates.

Device	Gate	Gate	S-G	G-D
	Length	Width	spacing	spacing
GaN-on-Si	2.1	75	3.0	10.2
GaN-on-SiC	3.6	75	1.4	11.4
GaN-on-diamond	1.9	75	3.5	9.6
di-GaN-on-SiC	2.2	75	1.4	11.4
GaN-membrane	3.3	75	4.0	8.6

4.2.1.3. Calibration

Calibration is necessary to provide the T-R relation that translates the reflectance change maps $(\Delta R/R)$ into temperature rise maps (ΔT) . As TR response depends on several parameters such as illumination, passivation, surface material, roughness, and optical setup (numerical aperture), in-situ calibration is needed for every device. A known temperature change $\Delta T_{1,2}$ is set using the thermal stage and another set of reflectance intensity maps are obtained at the low and high temperature. The TR coefficient C_{TR} , which represents the reflectance change per degree change in temperature, is then calculated according (4.1) at every pixel location (i, j).

$$C_{TR}(i,j) = \frac{1}{\Delta T_{1,2}} \left(\frac{\Delta R}{R}(i,j)\right)_{cal.}$$
(4.1)

Since the TR response has been observed to weaken at higher temperatures [100, 194], a systematic set of calibrations were performed at successfully higher temperatures to obtain the relationship between C_{TR} and ΔT , which was observed in this study to be linear $(C_{TR}(\Delta T) = a\Delta T + b)$, where a and b are linear coefficients). This would ensure an improved accuracy over the wider ranges of temperature experienced by the tested GaN devices (\approx 50-100K); otherwise, the temperature rise would be underestimated.

4.2.1.4. Thermal Map

Finally, the temperature rise map $\Delta T_{activ.}$, which is relative to the base temperature T_{base} was calculated by combining the calibration maps and the activation maps at each power level according to (4.3), and solving for ΔT , where *a* and *b* are obtained from calibration, and $\Delta R/R$ from activation.

$$\Delta T = \frac{1}{C_{TR}} \frac{\Delta R}{R} = \frac{1}{a\Delta T + b} \frac{\Delta R}{R}$$
(4.2)

$$a\Delta T^2 + b\Delta T = \Delta R/R \tag{4.3}$$

The thermal maps report temperature rise results within a maximum error of 5% (displayed in color), while higher error data points are eliminated to reveal the DUT (grayscale) (Figure 4.2). To evaluate the actual thermal performance of each of the device structures, the heating profiles are obtained for the different substrate configurations and at increasingly higher power levels.

4.2.2. Sample Description

The studied devices are commercial GaN HEMTs on (111) Si, 4H-SiC, and CVD-diamond substrates with an additional GaN-membrane sample (i.e., etched Si substrate) [241] and a commercial GaN-on-SiC capped with a 500 nm thick layer of nano-crystalline diamond (NCD).

The GaN-on-Si HEMT consisted of a 428 nm AlN seeding layer, a 936 nm of AlGaN transition layers, a 737 nm thick GaN buffer layer, and a 20 nm thick AlGaN barrier layer to provide the 2-DEG channel. The ohmic contacts for the Source and Drain were patterned to the dimensions shown in the device images (Figure 4.1). Ohmic metallization consisted of 20 nm Ti/ 120 nm Al/ 40 nm Ni/ 50 nm Au, rapid annealed for 30 seconds at 850 °C in N₂ atmosphere [239]. The Schottky gate electrode is composed of 20 nm Ni followed by 200 nm Au. A 100 nm thick PE-CVD SiN layer was deposited for the purpose of passivation. To maximize exposed channel surface region for optical measurements no field plates were implemented. The channel width is 75 µm and the gate length and gate-drain spacing vary among the devices tested (Table 4.2).

For GaN-on-SiC HEMTs, commercial heterostructures consisting of 25 nm $Al_{0.22}Ga_{0.78}N$ / 1.5 µm GaN on 4H-SiC were fabricated concurrently [241, 243]. Typically, about 100 nm thick AlN nucleation layers are employed to manage lattice/thermal mismatch between GaN and SiC [163].

The GaN-on-Diamond samples were built using a proprietary double-flip method [81] using material provided by Element Six, inc. The Si substrate is replaced with thick CVD diamond using a 30 nm SiN barrier layer deposited to the N-polar side of the heterostructure,
as described by Tadjer et al [239]. On the GaN/SiC and GaN/diamond epitaxial heterostructures (epi), an identical HEMT device fabrication process was employed [241, 243].

4.3. Thermoreflectance Imaging Results

4.3.1. TR Activation

Sample activation and calibration maps for GaN-on-Si and GaN-membrane (Figure 4.2) show a negative TR response from the GaN material within the channel [242, 243].

The average temperature rise to activation power relation (Figure 4.3) appears to be nonlinear, with the heating rate decreasing at higher temperatures. "The Arrhenius Principle" states that the temperature rise must be linear with power for constant material properties. Non-linearities at higher temperatures are due to a change (often decrease) in thermal conductivity at elevated temperatures. For the present materials, the reduction in thermal conductivity creates a positive feedback that further increases self-heating, leading to an upward curving Power-Temperature (P-T) relation, and not the observed downward curving slope. Therefore, the slowing heating rate maybe caused by a drop in the TR signal, which is seen when multiple temperature calibrations are performed (Figure 4.3). To obtain the thermal maps with high accuracy, an existence of $C_{TR} - T$ dependency at elevated temperatures is assumed and is investigated for all the devices through a multiple temperature calibration, while the TR relation is assumed as non-linear as presented in (4.4).

$$\left(\frac{\Delta R}{R}(T)\right)_{act.} = \int C_{TR}(T) \cdot dT \tag{4.4}$$

4.3.2. TR Calibration

Multiple calibrations are performed between the fixed base temperature of 20°C and a high temperature ranging between 40°C and 100°C. The obtained C_{TR} is then plotted against the high temperature to observe and correct for any C_{TR} temperature variations. From the temperature-dependent C_{TR} relation, the reflectance change can be extracted according to



Figure 4.3. a) The calibration curve of CTR vs T showing a decrease in TR response at higher temperatures. b) Temperature rise curve as a function of applied power for GaN-on-Si device before and after correction for CTR-T dependence. The correction recovers the linearity of P-T relation for the GaN-on-Si devices.



Figure 4.4. Calibration results for GaN-on-SiC and GaN-on-diamond showing C_{TR} linear decrease with temperature.

(4.4), and reveals that for GaN-on-Si, the coefficient decreases with temperature (Figure 4.3). A similar $C_{TR} - T$ dependency was also observed for the GaN channel in the remaining substrate configurations (Figure 4.4).

Evidently, the calibration curves show that the thermoreflectance response decreases linearly at higher temperatures, and the correction will result in an increase in the measured temperature rise. Assuming a uniform decrease of C_{TR} , a single calibration map is used, and a pixel-by-pixel correction is performed for the temperature dependent C_{TR} . The temperature rise data is obtained by combining the activation and calibration maps and then correcting for non-linear TR response. Temperature rise results within a maximum error of 5% are displayed in color, while higher error data points are eliminated to reveal the DUT (grayscale) (Fig 4.2).

This correction improves the accuracy of the thermal measurements that otherwise would underestimate the self-heating in the device by up to 35% for GaN-on-Si (Figure 4.3).

4.3.3. TR Thermal Mapping Results

Thermal imaging is performed for the activated device samples with different substrates at increasing power levels. The same procedure is performed for the other GaN HEMT devices, where activation is performed first, multiple temperature calibrations next, and temperature corrections last.

A summary of measured average channel temperatures is presented in Fig. 4.5 and the heating rate for the measured HEMTs is summarized in Table 4.3.



Figure 4.5. A summary of the measured Average (open markers) and Peak (solid markers) experimental temperature rise (in °C) within the active channel of the measured GaN HEMT devices on the different substrates. The linear experimental fit are shown for the measurement data for the average (in dotted lines) and peak temperature (in long dashed lines). The heating rate (total thermal resistance) is reported from the linear regression analysis.

Device and Substrate	Channel Average Heating Rate	Channel Peak Heating Rate
	(mm.K/W)	(mm.K/W)
GaN-Membrane	121	-
GaN-on-Silicon	7.79	11.53
GaN-on-Silicon-Carbide	1.77	2.70
Diamond-GaN-on-SiC	1.82	2.46
GaN-on-diamond	1.14	3.25

Table 4.3. Summary of the extracted thermal resistances (in mm.K/W) of the GaN HEMTs on Different Substrates based on average and peak temperature rise in the active channel region.

4.3.3.1. GaN-on-Si and GaN-Membrane

The thermal mapping results (Figure 4.5) show that the highest average heating rate occurs for the GaN-membrane devices where the average temperature rise in the channel is observed to be an order of magnitude higher than that of GaN-on-Si devices. This is expected since the Si substrate is etched and replaced with a low thermal-conductivity polymer compound for structural support which drastically reduces thermal conductances. This excessive heating in GaN-membrane HEMTs would severely limit the activation level which render GaN-membrane HEMTs infeasible for high power applications. Nevertheless, GaNmembrane HEMTs found applicability in several micro-sensing applications, where high power is not a requirement, but thermal management and temperature control are important for maintaining a good accuracy.

The GaN-on-Si device shows an average thermal resistance of about 7.8 mm.K/W and about 11.5 mm.K/W based on peak channel temperature, which is close to the values reported in [242]. The ratio of thermal resistances between the membrane and the GaN-on-Si devices (121:7.8 or 15.5:1) is also comparable to the ratio of 11.6:1 reported in [192] and 9.8:1 reported in [242] for GaN HEMTs with an etched Si substrate.

4.3.3.2. GaN-on-SiC and GaN-on-diamond

The self-heating in GaN-on-Si is substantial when compared to GaN on a higher thermal conductivity (κ) substrates like CVD-diamond and 4H-SiC. The limiting factor in the GaN-on-Si heterostructure is thick nucleation layers of AlGaN with high defect density and low thermal conductivity [170].

The lowest average thermal resistance is observed for both GaN-on-SiC and GaN-ondiamond (1.77 and 1.14 mm.K/W compared to 7.79 mm.K/W for Si) The improvement in heat dissipation is due to: a) the high thermal conductivity of the substrates ($\kappa_{4H-SiC} \approx 330$ to 400 W/m.K [156], $\kappa_{diamond} \approx 1000$ W/m.K [269]), and b) the absence of the thick AlGaN buffer layers required to grow the GaN/Si epi, thus improving the thermal conductance between the GaN layers and the substrate.

The thermal performance of the two high- κ substrates are comparable (Table 4.3), with GaN-on-dimaond HEMT (with 30 nm SiN) exhibiting a lower average channel temperature $(R_{th} = 1.14 \text{ compared to } 1.77 \text{ } mm \cdot K/W)$, but a slightly higher peak temperature $(R_{th} = 3.25 \text{ compared to } 2.70 \text{ } mm \cdot K/W)$ which could lead to faster device degradation. A side-by-side comparison for the thermal resistance distribution along the channel length, $R_{th}(x) = \Delta T(x)/Q'$, (Figure 4.6) distinctly shows the difference in temperature rise profiles for these two devices.

With the standard thermal conductivity of diamond being three times higher than that of SiC, one would expect a higher thermal conductance from GaN-on-diamond, on the order of 20-40% for similar TBR values [237]. And so, the initially unexpected closeness in the observed thermal performance indicates the presence of a higher TBR in the GaN-on-diamond devices, which is attributable to a more thermally resistive SiN adhesion layer (measured for various SiN thicknesses between 18 and 40 $m^2 K/GW$ [58, 237, 239], as compared to that in the GaN-on-SiC heterostructure (less than 10 $m^2 K/GW$ [56]) resulting from a higher- κ AlN seeding layer at the interface.

Another probable reason of reduced CVD-dimaond thermal performance could be a nearinterface disorder of the diamond crystals at the seeding layer, which reduces the effective



Figure 4.6. a) Measured thermal maps showing temperature rise in GaN HEMTs active region on SiC (left) and diamond (right) substrate ($P\approx0.5$ W, 6.6 W/mm). (b) The local thermal resistance across the Gate-Drain channel shows peak temperature rise at the drain-side edge of the gate.

substrate conductivity. More accurate estimates of the thermal properties of the tested devices can be extracted from a reverse modeling approach, which will be the topic of future study by the authors.

It is also important to note that the measured peak temperature may not be the highest device temperature, which may occur under the gate electrode, or a gate-connected field plate. Inaccessible to direct optical thermal imaging, these peak device temperatures would require a thermal modeling approach to estimate. The thermoreflectance imaging system used in this work provides deep-submicron resolution and high temperature accuracy, which enables the measurement of the temperature profiles as close as possible to the gate electrode. Such data are invaluable in validating thermal models and in understanding electrothermal interactions at the nanoscales [38].

Another main takeaway from the experimental investigation is the importance of using the peak temperature for reliability assessments, since average temperatures may depend on device dimensions and the averaging region. This could thus offer misleading information and underestimate hot-spot temperatures leading to optimistic thermal and reliability models.

An exhibit of this discrepancy is seen when comparing measured GaN-on-diamond device in this study (D1) with another GaN-on-diamond device (D2) measured previously by the coauthors [239]. The devices D1 and D2 had slightly different channel length (19 and 11.5 µm), however, the averaging region is what resulted in the different heating rates of 2.95 mm.K/W for D2 compared to 1.33 mm.K/W for D1 (Figure 4.7), mainly due to a smaller averaging



Figure 4.7. a) Measured thermal maps for GaN-on-diamond device 2 [239] with a different gate geometry than our measured device b) Comparison of temperature profile for both measured GaN-on-diamond devices with different drain channel length shows similar temperature rise.

region around the hot-pot for D1. The peak temperatures and the temperature decay profile are similar in both devices since the same GaN/Di epi stack governs the through-plane and in-plane heat dissipation. While the average device temperature may be dependent on the device geometry and user defined parameters, the maximum temperature, which occurs at the drain side of the gate edge, appears to be independent of mentioned parameters, and is a more relevant parameter for reliability assessment for the following reasons. First, the device degradation is seen to initiate at location of a peak temperature, which is also the site of electron trap formation [169]. Moreover, the peak temperature location is where the maximum thermal mechanical stresses occurs, due to the presence of materials with different coefficients of thermal expansion (CTE), as well as due to the increase in inverse piezo-electric stresses [190], factors which eventually lead to pit or crack formation [95].

For the above reasons, the peak temperature is a more relevant parameter to report in reliability studies since its location is where failure initiates [136]. This also presents the self-heating as a more realistic thermal stressing method than global heating for reliability assessment studies, because it subjects devices to non-uniform temperature gradients and stress gradients observed in actual device operation. Therefore, for the most accurate device thermal investigations, high-resolution thermal imaging techniques, with enhanced accuracies are required to detect hot-spots that result from the self-heating in electrically active HEMT devices. Other thermal investigation methods that acquire the average device temperature (electrical measurements [79]) or localized temperature readings (i.e. with a μ -thermocouple [13]) based on global heating would fail to detect localized hot-spots and temperature gradients within the active device region.

4.3.3.3. Diamond-GaN-on-SiC

A slight improvement in the thermal response of the Diamond-GaN-on-SiC is observed in comparison to the GaN-on-SiC (Figure 4.5). The addition of the nano-crystalline diamond (NCD) served as an additional heat spreading in close proximity to the active region that lead to a slight reduction in the peak temperature (about 8%), far less than the 20% reported by Anderson et al for a gate after diamond approach [11]. For the device in this study, the diamond cap is added on top of SiN passivation layer, and AlGaN barrier layer, which increased thermal resistance from device active region to NCD capping layer and reduced its thermal cooling effectiveness. Another numerical studies by Wang et. al reported an improvement of about 10% in drain current associated with device cooling [256]. The average channel temperature remained relatively unchanged (within 3%) most likely because the direction of main heat dissipation path from the GaN to the substrate was not altered by the addition of NCD capping layer.

4.4. Conclusions

An experimental investigation into the thermal performance of different substrates for GaN HEMT devices is presented using a high-resolution TR imaging method with correction for non-linearities at high temperatures. This results in a more accurate hot-spot temperature measurement, that would otherwise be underestimated by up to 20%, leading to overconfident thermal models of device lifetime and degradation. The importance of accurate detection of hot-spots is also argued for representative reliability assessment studies, adding to the benefits of high-resolution thermal imaging techniques.

The self-heating in HEMT devices on different substrates is compared between GaN-Membrane and GaN-on-Si, and between the highest conductivity substrates, GaN-on-diamond and GaN-on-SiC. Even with the diamond having a much higher thermal conductivity than SiC, a comparable thermal response between GaN HEMTs on the two substrates indicates a higher TBR could be contributing to the total thermal resistance of GaN-on-diamond.

A deeper investigation into the thermal characteristics of both substrate configurations is presented in the next Chapter to assess the observed thermal responses and provide a physical basis for comparison. Combining the thermoreflectance imaging data presented with a fast thermal simulation would provide reverse modeling capabilities to extract and compare important thermal parameters of the substrates and the GaN/substrate interface layers (Chapter 5).

Chapter 5

Full Thermal Characterization of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs on Silicon, 4H-Silicon Carbide, and Diamond Using a Reverse Modeling Approach

The experimental mapping of the tested devices has been presented in the previous Chapter, while in this Chapter, a full numerical approach is presented. Three dimensional (3D) thermal models are developed and optimized to match and accurately represent the actual device response obtained by thermal mapping. The approach of coupling the experimental results presented in Chapter 3 within the numerical analysis provides several advantages, that includes helping overcome the serious challenge of the unavoidable uncertainty in the input data that faces numerical modeling of complex microelectronic devices.

Gallium Nitride (GaN) high electron mobility transistors (HEMTs) operate at high power levels and are thus especially thermally-critical devices. Not only do they require innovative thermal management strategies, but can also benefit from advanced thermal characterization, both experimental and numerical, in their design and system integration stages. The thermal numerical analysis of microelectronic devices faces challenges of complex physics and uncertain thermophysical properties which leads to numerically expensive models that are prone to error. By the use of an innovative reverse modeling approach to mitigate the above challenges, this work presents the full thermal characterization of GaN power devices with different substrates aimed at managing performance-limiting self-heating. The approach develops and optimizes a thermal simulation model to match the numerical results to experimentally-obtained thermal maps of the devices under test. The experimentallyoptimized simulation model can then be used to extract full 3D temperature distributions, infer in-situ thermal properties, and provide a numerical platform that can be used to conduct further parametric studies and design iterations. The presented analysis provides a full thermal characterization of different GaN HEMT devices and compares the thermal performance of different substrates on the basis of thermal properties. The extracted properties for HEMTs on Si, SiC and diamond substrates are compared and a set of conclusions are presented to guide further developments in GaN HEMT thermal management strategies.

5.1. Introduction

The wide bandgap semiconductor materials such as Gallium Nitride (GaN) and Silicon Carbide (SiC) have been replacing traditional Silicon (Si) technology in advanced power switching applications due to their superior frequency and power performance [112,114,218]. GaN is a compound semiconductor material from the III-Nitride group that can withstand higher breakdown electric fields (3.3 MV/cm compared to 0.25 MV/cm for Si [217]), has a wide band gap (3.4 eV compared to 1.1 eV for Si), and provides a dense two-dimensional electron gas (2DEG) of high electron mobility (1500 – 2000 $cm^2/V.s$ at room temperature). These material properties make GaN highly suitable for high-voltage DC and high-frequency switching operation [95].

A major vulnerability for GaN device reliability stems from the extreme heat flux densities and destructive self-heating effects that the HEMT device encounters as a result high-power operation [257]. Elevated operating temperature in GaN devices increases phonon scattering and reduces the electron mobility in the GaN channel, causing potentially irreversible electrical degradation and eventual failure [65, 108]. Consequently, effective thermal management strategies must be implemented to avoid device operational failure at high power and effectively exploit the full promise of GaN material properties.

Past mitigation strategies to suppress self-heating have been reported using active cooling techniques such as micro-channel cooling [2, 44, 92] and jet impingement cooling [141], or passive cooling techniques such as using higher thermal-conductivity substrates [105, 237, 268], or adding a heat-spreading material closer to the active regions to more effectively dissipate the generated heat [11, 76, 240, 256]. The assessment of any proposed thermal management solution, such as different substrates used in this study, requires both physical modeling and complementary experimental thermal mapping for validation.

5.1.1. Thermal Modeling Challenges

Experimental thermoreflectance-based thermal imaging provides informative quantification of the temperature rise in active regions of GaN HEMTs near the surface of the GaN layer. Advanced measurements have been conducted to measure the transverse temperature distribution for cross-sectioned HEMT devices, but these types of measurements remain highly complex, may be highly uncertain, and require extensive sample preparation [103,104].

The measured temperature distribution provides a good insight into the thermal response of HEMTs but does not provide complete thermal property characterization for the complex devices. To offer a deeper understanding into the coupled interactions of electrical, thermal, and mechanical physics in microelectronic devices, full electro-thermal computational models are needed [184]. Numerical studies and multi-physical modeling help assess the contributions of different physical parameters and design layouts, but can prove to be vastly extensive, time consuming, and could prove challenging to develop and validate for several reasons, including those discussed next.

5.1.1.1. Coupled Physics

The self-heating in semiconductor devices is governed by heat generation that occurs under different electro-thermal mechanisms such as Joule, recombination, and thermo-electric heating. Even though Joule heating is the dominant self-heating mechanism in GaN HEMTs, the determination of the rate and distribution of heat generation in GaN HEMTs is complex and hard to predict without solving for the full electric field distribution. Moreover, the distribution of heat generation within the active device is also dynamic, depends on the electrical activation, and is susceptible to potentially irreversible changes in the physical properties of a device (e.g., aging) [95, 159].

5.1.1.2. Uncertain Thermal Properties

Another challenge for thermal modeling is validating any obtained numerical results, as the defined input parameters may contain significant uncertainties that lead to an unfaithful representation of the actual device response [138]. An example is the uncertainty that exists for thin-film thermal conductivities such as that of GaN. GaN thermal conductivity depends on thickness [277], crystal structure [119], impurity and dislocation density [133,278], doping concentrations [261], and fabrication method and quality and can vary between 100-400 W/m.K [157, 170, 227]. Temperature dependence, described by the power law in (5.1), can also result in a thermal conductivity decrease by more than 40% for GaN within a 100 K change [55, 231].

$$\kappa(T) = \kappa_{300K} \cdot \left(\frac{T}{300K}\right)^{\beta} \tag{5.1}$$

Some of these variables, such as the temperature-dependence of κ_{GaN} , can be modeled but there remains other uncertainties that cannot be accurately predicted for all possible cases and processing factors, such as high-temperature contact annealing, and other electromechanical and thermo-mechanical interactions with potential bonded and seeded layers used in the particular thermal management approach. Such deviations from idealized properties are difficult to predict, and would thus require additional in-situ property measurements.

5.1.1.3. Large Variation in Physical and Time-Scales

The most challenging aspect in conducting a numerical analysis of complex microelectronic devices is the large variation in spatial and temporal scales. Finite element electrical and solid-state simulations can be performed in a localized domain within the active region of the device, which can be computed rather efficiently in 2D and even in 3D. By comparison, the thermal modeling of microelectronic devices must incorporate the full device structure that spans several spatial scales from the heat generation region (microscale) to the substrate heat sink (mesoscale). Moreover, the full 3D device structure presents further geometric complexities and different material adjacencies in three spatial dimensions. Without a specialized numerical engine that uses transient multi-grid meshing in both time and space [205, 262], solving the full 3D heat transfer model would be extremely expensive and even impractical, especially if one is interested in transient behavior and/or parametric optimization.

For the above reasons, the validity of computational thermal analysis results depends largely on the accuracy of specified input parameters [256] and cannot be trusted without some form of experimental validation [138]. The study presented in this Chapter couples both experimental and numerical approaches to overcome their respective limitations and to offer a more complete thermal characterization of complex 3D devices, eventually providing a full 3D temperature rise profile (quantitative) as well as inferring important thermal properties of the device components (qualitative).

5.2. Methodology

5.2.1. Coupled Experimental and Numerical Approach

5.2.1.1. Method Description

The method described in this work combines high-resolution thermal maps obtained by the use of thermoreflectance imaging [129,177,178], with multi-grid numerical simulations to develop and optimize an experimentally-valid simulation model that is representative of the actual tested device (Section 5.2.3). The optimization is performed by the use of an iterative approach that refines uncertain model parameters, such as material thermal conductivities and heat generation peak location (within acceptable ranges) ultimately yielding a numerical thermal field that matches in the RMS sense the experimentally observed response. The outlined method of experimentally-driven thermal modeling has been previously presented [206] and demonstrated for a CMOS device [208].

5.2.1.2. Outcomes from Optimized Model

The main outcome from this approach is an optimized thermal model that provides a valid representation of the device's actual thermal response. The optimized thermal model can provide several advantages summarized as follows to overcome thermal characterization challenges mentioned in Section 5.1.1.

- 1. The numerical 3D temperature distribution can be extracted for the full GaN HEMT structure. In this manner, the physics of the simulation model can be used to extend beyond any access limitations to the experimental optical methods and infer temperatures of embedded or optically-inaccessible regions.
- 2. Important uncertain thermal properties can be inferred from the optimized input parameters, such as effective conductivities of GaN, substrate, and interface layers.
- 3. Since the extracted temperature maps and thermal properties pertain to the actual thermal-mechanical state of the device measured at the particular instance in time when the device is experimentally characterized, the method can be used as a diagnostic tool to monitor time varying parameters and observe long-term effects such as aging and degradation [174,187]. These transient device dynamics are particularly important for HEMT devices which experience gradual degradation instead of sudden failure and are largely influenced by thermal loading [45, 245] and thermal interactions that are difficult to model in the design stage.
- 4. The optimized thermal model can be used as a platform to conduct parametric studies and "what-if" scenarios, which would aid and fast track the design cycle and test different device configurations without the need for fabricating additional samples.

5.2.1.3. Selected Parameters for Optimization

The selection of the main variables for optimization is user-defined and is based on two criteria. First, the parameters chosen must have a non-negligible influence on the thermal response of the device, such as the properties of materials closest to the heating region,



Figure 5.1. a) Schematic of HEMT device structure. The substrate is either Si, SiC, Diamond, or is etched b) intensity image (1024x1024 pixels) of the device under $100 \times$ magnification showing the Source, Drain and Gate contacts. Purple regions indicate the GaN drain and source channel where the thermal measurements are conducted c) device model built to scale in T°Solver[®].

materials separating the heat source from the substrate, or low conductivity media that have a large contribution to the thermal resistance of the device. If the temperature rise is insensitive to other parameters, then the minor variations and uncertainties can be neglected, and a literature value can be assigned to those parameters excluded from the optimization method. For instance, the specific heat and density are not considered in this initial study since the device is activated in quasi-steady operation and is insensitive to transient effects.

The second criterion for a successful outcome is that the selected parameters for optimization must be known to exhibit some degree of uncertainty, either from a dynamic behavior or from a physical complexity. For that reason, device dimensions will not be optimized since they are available from the device design dimensions, from top surface reflectance images, and from cross-sectional electron microscopy (Figure 5.2).



Figure 5.2. x-SEM measurements showing thickness and composition of GaN/AlGaN stack.

5.2.2. Descriptions of Sample Devices

The studied devices are Gallium Nitride (GaN) high electron-mobility transistors (HEMTs) grown on different substrate materials: (111) Si, 4H SiC and CVD diamond, with an additional sample of commercial-grade GaN-on-SiC capped with a 0.5 μ m thick nano-crystalline diamond (NCD) film, similarly to the devices reported previously by the authors [11, 243]. The device dimensions and spacings for the Source (S), Drain (D) and Gate (G) are extracted from the optical images and are presented in Table 5.1.

Additional details on the fabrication methods were presented in a previous study by the authors [239, 243]. The experimental thermal profiles and heating rates presented in the previous Chapter will be used to drive the model optimizations performed in this work.

5.2.3. Numerical Thermal Modeling

The representative thermal models of the different GaN HEMTs are built in TMX $T^{\circ}Solver^{\textcircled{R}}$, which is a 3D thermal modeling engine that implements an automated selfadaptive multi-grid meshing, is therefore capable of handling large variations in scale in both space and time. This renders the engine extremely fast (at least two orders of magnitude faster than commercial packages) in solving the finite-volume heat transfer computations and allows the possibility of conducting iterative refinements and experimentally-guided optimizations on uncertain input parameters with prescribed uncertainties [206].

The epitaxial structure and the HEMT dimensions are built accurately to match the respective device (Figure 5.1c). Initially, literature values are defined for the input thermal

Table 5.1. Gate (G), Source (S) and Drain (D) dimensions (in μ m) of GaN HEMTs on different substrates.

Device	Gate Length	Gate Width	S-G spacing	G-D spacing
GaN-on-Si	2.1	75	3.0	10.2
GaN-on-SiC	3.6	75	1.4	11.4
GaN-on-diamond	1.9	75	3.5	9.6

parameters of the simulation model, such as conductivity, density and specific heat [170]. The heat source is defined at the same rate as the corresponding power level measured experimentally. The source profile is set as an exponential distribution underneath the gate electrode, with a peak location at the drain-side edge. The top surface of the device is assumed to be adiabatic where no convection or radiation heat transfer occurs. The substrate base temperature is set at a uniform 20°C to match the controlled temperature of the sample-holding chuck. The device model is built on a thermally wide substrate domain to avoid any near-boundary effects in the lateral direction.

The numerical temperature results are extracted from the GaN channel regions within the Gate-Source and Gate-Drain spacing to correspond to the TR mapped regions. The same number of data points is extracted from the simulation results as the pixel count of the thermal images to be compared and matched within the optimization method. The iterative approach is stopped whenever the RMS error is minimized, indicated by a convergence of the parameters when ΔRMS between two consecutive iterations drops below a certain tolerance. The thermal properties estimates are finally inferred from the converged input parameters.

5.3. Reverse Modeling Results

5.3.1. GaN-on-Si Optimized Model

The material properties most significant in determining the thermal response of GaN-on-Si HEMTs are the thermal conductivity of thin-film GaN, which as discussed earlier, exhibits large uncertainties, and that of AlGaN, which in particular is hard to characterize since only thin, hetero-epitaxial (i.e., defective) AlGaN layers are possible to grow. The GaN proximity to the heat generation region makes it a determining factor in the lateral heat conduction, while the less conductive underlying AlGaN layers, separating the active region from the heat sink at the substrate, dominate the through-plane conduction.

An initial optimization run was performed for the GaN-on-Si device to optimize for the temperature dependent conductivity of GaN ($\kappa_{0,\text{GaN}}$ and β_{GaN}) and the effective conductivity

of AlGaN ($\kappa_{\text{eff,AlGaN}}$), which directly relates to the thermal boundary resistance (TBR) between GaN and Si. The TBR between GaN and the different substrates can be obtained from the thickness (*h*) and effective conductivity (κ_{eff}) of the interface layer according to (5.2). The heat generation profile peak location was also optimized for to observe any peak migration effects [95].

$$TBR_{\text{GaN-subs}} = \frac{h_{\text{interface}}}{\kappa_{\text{eff,interface}}} \quad (m^2 K/GW)$$
(5.2)

The simulations were iteratively conducted until the difference between the numerical and experimental thermal maps was minimized in the RMS sense. The procedure was repeated for the different power levels to obtain a statistical distribution. The temperature profiles shown as carpet plots in Figure 5.3 indicate that the converged numerical solution matches closely the measured experimental map. The optimized thermal parameters and the RMS error between the experimental and simulation results are presented in Table 5.2 for the different activation power levels and summarized below:

> $\kappa_{0,\text{GaN}} = 213 \pm 12$ (W/m.K) $\beta_{\text{GaN}} = -1.28 \pm 0.1$ $\kappa_{\text{eff,AlGaN}} = 26.1 \pm 4.9$ (W/m.K) $TBR_{\text{GaN-Si}} = 26.8$ (m².K/GW)

The obtained GaN thermal conductivity ($\kappa_{0,\text{GaN}}$) is close to the literature values reported at around 220 to 240 W/m.K for undoped GaN and close to reported power ratios (β) between 1.22 and 1.43 [170, 173, 231]. Moreover, the heat generation peak shift is not seen to have a drastic effect on the temperature profile, probably since the peak generation is already localized to the drain edge of the gate at the applied drain voltages. For that reason, the peak location was excluded from the subsequent optimizations.



Figure 5.3. Converged temperature profiles for the matched numerical and experimental thermal maps for the gate-drain access region of a GaN-on-Si device for a DC power level $(I_{DS} \times V_{DS})$ of 6.4 W/mm.

Power	GaN	GaN	AlGaN	$\rm Z_{Q,peak}\text{-}Z_{gate}$	ϵ_{RMS}
(mW)	$\kappa_{0,\mathrm{eff}}$	β	κ_{eff}	(μm)	$(^{\circ}C)$
	$\left(\frac{W}{m.K}\right)$		$\left(\frac{W}{m.K}\right)$		
226	209	-1.31	19.6	0.84	1.42
353	193	-1.29	21.6	0.60	1.24
482	210	-1.35	23.4	0.40	1.65
618	209	-1.11	28.2	1.20	2.41
772	226	-1.22	33.2	1.10	3.30
921	231	-1.41	30.5	-0.2	4.73

Table 5.2.Results of Converged Thermal Parameters of the Optimizations conducted for
the GaN-on-Si HEMTs.

5.3.2. GaN-on-SiC Optimized Model

For the higher conductivity substrates (4H-SiC and CVD diamond), the chosen optimization parameters relate to the substrate thermal conductivity (κ) and the interface thermal boundary resistance (TBR) between GaN and the substrate. The intermediate layers such as AlN or AlGaN nucleation layers or SiN barrier layers have a considerable contribution to the overall thermal performance of the device. Any added resistances between the GaN active region and the substrate, either from intermediate layers or their interfaces, can drastically reduce the thermal conductance, and as a result potentially offset the added benefits of higher conductivity substrates [58].



Figure 5.4. Comparison of matched experimental and simulation results for GaN-on-SiC for an activation power level of 15.7 W/mm.

Optimizations were conducted for the GaN-on-SiC HEMT thermal model at each of the mapped power levels. The GaN thermal parameters were set to the values obtained from the GaN-on-Si device, while the conductivity of the 4H-SiC substrate (κ_{4H-SiC}) and the seeding layer of AlN ($\kappa_{eff,AIN}$) were chosen for optimization. A sample of the thermal maps for GaN-on-SiC (Figure 5.4) reveals a close matching to the observed experimental results. The converged thermal parameters resulting from the optimization runs (Table 5.3) summarized below, show a converged RMS error of less than 10% of the average channel temperature and 5% of the peak.

Power (mW)	4H-SiC к	AlN K. G	$\epsilon_{\rm RMS}$
((W/m.K)	(W/m.K)	(0)
512	487	44.3	0.95
750	449	52.2	1.55
1030	448	47.0	1.81
1244	440	49.5	2.04

Table 5.3. Results of Converged Thermal Parameters of the Optimizations conducted for the GaN-on-SiC HEMTs.

$$\kappa_{\rm 4H-SiC} = 456 \pm 18 \qquad (W/m.K)$$

 $\kappa_{\rm eff,AIN} = 48.3 \pm 2.9 \qquad (W/m.K)$

 $TBR_{\rm GaN-SiC} = 2.07 \qquad (m^2.K/GW)$

The thermal conductivity of the substrate was obtained at 456 W/m.K which in close agreement with the literature-reported values for 4H-SiC of around 450 W/m.K (measured [172, 203, 261]) and 423 W/m.K (calculated [127, 202].

For the GaN-on-SiC HEMT, the two associated materials have a Wurtzite crystal structure with similar lattice constants *a* (3.07 Å for 4H-SiC and 3.16 Å for GaN), allowing GaN to be grown directly on SiC with minimal mismatch (3.5% compared to 17% for GaN-on-Si and 11% for GaN-on-diamond [264]). By eliminating the need for the AlGaN high-defect layers, the thermal conductance of the GaN-substrate interface is improved resulting in a low TBR when compared to GaN-on-Si.

The obtained AlN effective thermal conductivity value is also in agreement with reported literature values. Bulk AlN films have a conductivity $\kappa_{\text{eff,AlN}}$ of around 280-320 W/m.K [115, 231], while thin-film AlN are typically highly defective and thus have a much lower $\kappa_{\text{eff,AlN}}$ due to boundary phonon scattering, estimated at around 50 W/m.K [115]. Other experimental studies have measured a lower value between 10-20 W/m.K (15% and 25% Al) and attribute this decrease in conductivity to other phonon-scattering mechanisms such as oxygen impurity scattering [23, 115]. The large margin of uncertainty in $\kappa_{\text{eff,AlN}}$ with film thickness, Al fraction and grain size [115] further justifies the need for the reverse modeling approach for in-situ thermal property estimation presented in this work. The associated TBR is close in scale to the values reported in the literature (about 4-5 m²K/GW [55], and less than 10 m²K/GW [56]). For an initial estimate, the reached TBR indicates a high thermal conductance at the GaN/SiC interface, which is an order of magnitude larger than that at the GaN-on-Si interface.

5.3.3. GaN-on-diamond Optimized Model

For GaN-on-diamond HEMTs, the SiN adhesion layer presents a low- κ barrier to heat dissipation from the active GaN region. In addition, the CVD diamond substrate grows in a granular pillar structure of increasing crystal size. This results in a low conductivity region near the SiN interface (near-interface disorder), as well as an anisotropic diamond conductivity [117] that is thickness dependent, which further adds to the uncertainty in the thermal conductivity of the substrate.

The optimized coupled approach was used on the GaN-on-diamond HEMT to extract the thermal resistance contribution of the substrate and the SiN adhesion layer. The model optimization was performed for both the in-plane and through-plane thermal conductivities of the CVD diamond substrate ($\kappa_{y,\text{eff},\text{di}}$ and $\kappa_{xz,\text{eff},\text{di}}$) and the thermal conductivity of the SiN layer ($\kappa_{\text{eff},\text{SiN}}$). An effective conductivity was assumed for diamond to account for the depth variation of $\kappa_{\text{eff},\text{di}}$, and for SiN to account for the interface thermal effects at the SiN interfaces.

The matched results for the temperature distributions (Figure 5.5) show close matching between the numerical and experimental results. The converged results for the GaN-ondiamond device (Table 5.4) are summarized as follows.



Figure 5.5. Sample temperature rise profile for the matched numerical and experimental results for GaN-on-diamond device 1 and device 2.

Power (W)	Diamond $\kappa_{y,\text{eff}}$ (W/m.K)	Diamond $\kappa_{xz,\text{eff}}$ (W/m.K)	${ m SiN} \ \kappa_{ m eff} \ (W/m.K)$	ϵ_{RMS} (°C)
300	1445	1013	1.42	1.19
562	1406	975	1.40	1.61
873	1510	1039	1.45	2.39
1228	1520	1045	1.55	2.84

Table 5.4.Results of Converged Thermal Parameters of the Optimizations conducted forthe GaN-on-diamond HEMTs.

$$\kappa_{y,\text{eff,di}} = 1470 \pm 47 \qquad (W/m.K)$$

 $\kappa_{xz,\text{eff,di}} = 1018 \pm 28 \qquad (W/m.K)$

 $\kappa_{\text{eff,SiN}} = 1.46 \pm 0.06 \qquad (W/m.K)$

 $TBR_{\text{GaN-di}} = 20.6 \qquad (m^2.K/GW)$

From Table 5.4, one can observe that the converged effective through-plane and inplane conductivity of the CVD diamond substrate are $\kappa_{y,\text{eff}}=1470 \text{ W/m.K}$ and $\kappa_{xz,\text{eff}}=1018 \text{ W/m.K}$, respectively. The value of $\kappa_{xz,\text{eff}}$ is around 30% lower than $\kappa_{y,\text{eff}}$ due to the asymmetry and orientation of the columnar structure of the CVD diamond crystal. The effective thermal conductivity of the diamond substrate is observed to be lower than the approximate 2000 W/m.K estimate for crystalline diamond due to the near-interface crystal disorder [50, 117, 269] and increased grain boundary scattering [50, 263].

As to the interface effects, the converged value of 1.46 W/m.K for $\kappa_{\text{eff,SiN}}$ corresponds to a TBR estimate between GaN and diamond of 21 m²K/GW, which is close to the reported literature values between 12 and 25 for \approx 30 nm SiN by Sun et al [237]. The reported TBR is an order of magnitude larger than that of the AlN seeding layer in GaN-on-SiC, which is expected given the lower κ_{SiN} ..

5.3.4. Comparison between Different Substrates

By comparing the converged thermal parameters (TBR and $\kappa_{\text{effsubs.}}$) for the three substrate configurations (Table. 5.5), it is evident that the diamond substrate is thermally superior with 3× the thermal conductivity of 4H-SiC (1470 compared to 450 W/m.K). However, the TBR estimate between GaN and CVD diamond $\mathcal{O}(10 \text{ m}^2\text{K/GW})$ is an order of magnitude larger than that between GaN and 4H-SiC $\mathcal{O}(1 \text{ m}^2\text{K/GW})$. Even with a thinner layer of SiN (30 nm) compared to AlN (100 nm), the low conductivity SiN contributes significantly to the total thermal resistance. Whereas for the case of GaN-on-SiC, the AlN seeding layer is of a higher κ_{eff} and thus results in a lower TBR [175, 264].

The TBR of GaN-on-Si remains the largest due to the large thickness (700 nm) and highly-defective (low- κ) AlGaN layers (26.1 W/m.K), both of which contribute to a high thermal resistance.

Even with the higher thermal conductivity of diamond, the GaN-on-diamond devices exhibited a higher peak thermal resistance than their GaN-on-SiC counterparts (3.25 vs. 2.70 mm.K/W, respectively). Diamond undeniably is a high thermal conductivity substrate material has a great cooling potential and is a giant leap from the thermal performance of GaN-on-Si, but improvements to the GaN-diamond epi are still needed to avoid faster degradation and justify the extra cost of GaN-on-diamond technology via a reduction in overall thermal management solution cost at the system level. Fortuitously, the reverse modeling approach and its results presented herein point to two main regions that can benefit from thermal improvements.

The first most notable setback is the high TBR of SiN which acts as a bottleneck to heat dissipation and may offset the added substrate thermal conductivity [57]. Reducing the thickness of the SiN layer [51], or using a higher conductivity material to substitute for SiN would improve the heat conductance within the device.

Another improvement strategy for the GaN-on-diamond structure would be to enhance

Table 5.5.Comparing Substrate Conductivity and TBR for GaN on Si, SiC, and CVDdiamond.

Sub	ostrate		Inte	erface	
Matl.	$\frac{\kappa_{\text{eff}}}{\left(\frac{W}{m.K}\right)}$	Matl.	h (nm)	$\frac{\kappa_{\text{eff}}}{\left(\frac{W}{m.K}\right)}$	$\frac{\text{TBR}}{\left(\frac{m^2 K}{GW}\right)}$
Si	-	AlGaN	700	26.1	27
SiC	456	AlN	100	48.3	2
di.	1470^{a}	SiN	30	1.46	21
	1018^{b}				

a is the value for $\kappa_{y,\text{eff}}$ while b is for $\kappa_{xz,\text{eff}}$.

the thermal conductivity of CVD diamond (larger crystals at the interface, lower boundary scattering rate). Improved thermal conductivity of nano-crystalline diamond (NCD) has been recently demonstrated via a graphoepitaxial approach on nanopatterned substrates [49, 106] Any approach that leads to an increase in $\kappa_{\text{eff,di}}$ closer to the value for single-crystalline diamond (around 2000 W/m.K) would directly translate to a measurable improvement in GaN HEMT power performance.

The two strategies aim at reducing different thermal resistance contributions and thus have a different effect on reducing the total R_{th} . To understand the benefit of the two above-mentioned thermal management strategies, a parametric study is conducted based on the optimized GaN-on-diamond thermal model. The reduction in average and maximum temperature rise in the GaN channel is observed for a set of TBR and k_{di} input parameters. Separately, the effect of varying TBR and k_{di} on the row-averaged temperature profile shows a larger sensitivity to changes in TBR (Figure 5.6), indicating that the TBR is the major contributor to the total thermal resistance.

A sensitivity analysis is finally conducted to assess the reduction in temperature rise (and R_{th})), and the percent reduction in self-heating reported for the studied range in TBR and k_{di} . The results show a noticeable reduction in R_{th} when the boundary conductance and the substrate conductivity is increased (Figure 5.7a). The percent temperature reduction observed exceeds 30% for the lowest TBR value of 5 m².K/GW (Figure 5.7b). Since that TBR value may not be entirely achievable with the current state of technology, a sensitivity analysis helps provide some guidance on the effectiveness of the two thermal mitigation strategies. The reported sensitivity values validate the observations of Figure 5.6 and reveal a higher sensitivity of temperature rise and R_{th} to TBR (0.3 – 0.39) when compared to the sensitivity to k_{di} (0.13 – 0.18), as can be seen in (Figure 5.7b). This indicates that, given the current state of GaN-on-diamond device technology, a strategy of reducing the TBR would yield a better improvement in thermal management than the same percent increase in $\kappa_{\text{eff},\text{di}}$ from enhancements to the CVD-diamond crystal structure.



Figure 5.6. Variation of temperature profile in GaN-on-Diamond HEMT for (a) the TBR range between 25 and 5 m²K/GW and (b) for the conductivity range $k_{di,xz}$ between 1000 and 1400 W/m.K with $k_{di,y}=1.45 \times k_{xz,di}$.



Figure 5.7. a) Results of parametric study showing the total thermal resistance for the studies values of diamond conductivities and TBR values, based on maximum and average GaN channel temperatures, and power level of 16.4 W/mm. The through-plane conductivity is taken as $1.45 \times k_{xz,di}$. b) The corresponding percent change in self-heating temperature rise with reported sensitivity values to changes in k_{di} and TBR.

5.4. Conclusions

The study presented an advanced, numerically and experimentally coupled investigation into the thermal characteristics of GaN HEMT devices on different substrates intended to improve thermal performance. The unique approach utilizes experimentally-observed thermal maps of tested devices to optimize a corresponding simulation model and overcome both experimental and numerical thermal characterization challenges. Deep-submicron resolution thermoreflectance imaging provides accurate thermal maps in surface regions of the HEMT, with the ability to detect microscale hot-spots, while the advanced numerical engine provides the fast thermal modeling capabilities that render iterative methods feasible.

The reverse-modeling approach couples the experimental maps with fast simulation capabilities, allowing for the development of an experimentally-valid simulation model that can provide estimates for uncertain thermal parameters, expand 2D experimental optical imaging limitations to 3D numerical solutions, and serve as a platform for additional parametric studies. This feasibility of this approach was demonstrated by extracting and comparing estimates of important thermal parameters of GaN HEMT devices, such as the thermal conductivity of the substrate and the TBR of the interface layers, as well as to observe weak thermal effects such as the temperature dependent thermal conductivity of GaN and the anisotropic thermal conductivity of CVD-diamond.

By comparing the extracted thermal parameters of the GaN HEMTs, the Diamond substrate showed a superior thermal conductivity to SiC. However, as observed in the experimental study in the previous Chapter, the associated GaN-on-diamond HEMTs exhibit similar heating rates to GaN-on-SiC and can still benefit from several thermal improvement strategies. On the basis of the reverse modeling approach and its results presented in this paper, two main areas for potential thermal improvements can be identified: the SiN bonding layer with high TBR, and the near-interface crystal disorder which reduces the effective thermal conductivity of the CVD-diamond substrate.

In addition to providing experimental thermal maps, the combined approach provides a more complete thermal characterization of the GaN HEMT devices, especially in important areas that are inaccessible to direct measurement. The main advantage of the combined approach is the ability to build an understanding of the thermal response based on the thermal properties of the components in the different GaN HEMT configurations, from which one can offer guidelines for future developments in GaN HEMT thermal management strategies.

Chapter 6

Compact 3D Thermal Model for VLSI and ULSI Interconnect Network Reliability Verification

In addition to advance power devices at the front-end of advanced integrated-circuits (ICs), the integration stage (back-end) that accompanies IC development also encounters thermal challenges that may accelerate network degradation and compromise reliability. The application possibilities for the presented advanced thermal investigative techniques are numerous and beneficial in many advance technologies. However, before delving into emerging technologies, it would serve a great benefit to use the developed techniques and offer an assessment for present investigative models and techniques that may require some update to meet the stricter thermal design criteria. Presented in this Chapter, the experimental and numerical techniques are applied to assess the thermal models for the integration level (BEoL) of ICs, expand the understanding into its thermal characteristics, and develop less conservative thermal model to meet the thermal challenges in device integration (VLSI and ULSI) imposed by device scaling and increasing processing power demands.

In this Chapter, the thermal characteristics of interconnects within the BEoL are investigated using thermoreflectance imaging, and the influence of different metrics (interconnect shape factor, insulation thickness, passivation thickness) is investigated. The available reduced models for thermal conductance of BEoL interconnects are assessed for their accuracy and a more accurate compact thermal model is developed accordingly for the quick and accurate thermal characterization of self-heating in Back-End-of-Line (BEoL) interconnect network for reliability assessment. The model offers a more accurate thermal tool compared to the currently used conservative 2D reduced models, and is then expanded to a three dimensional model (3D) using a resistive network analysis. Both 2D and 3D reduced models are developed and verified against numerical simulations of different configurations and further validated against thermoreflectance measurements of specially fabricated samples devices.

The compact model ultimately provides quick thermal characterizations for vast ICT networks at a fraction of the analysis time and computational cost required for full numeric simulations. When integrated with electrical layout designs, the model would serve as a thermal check on VLSI and ULSI networks to identify thermally critical regions where overheating could lead to degradation and reliability issues.

6.1. Introduction

The Back-End-of-Line (BEoL) is the stage comprising all of the interconnects (ICTs) that are responsible for signal relay between, and power delivery to all devices within an Integrated Circuit (IC). As electrical design dictates the performance of microdevices in terms of frequency, power rating, and efficiency, the reliability and expected lifetime of the network remains largely dependent on its thermal performance [17, 247]. In fact, operating temperatures play a major role in accelerating several degradation mechanisms, especially Electromigration (EM) [21,22,146,236]. For that reason, the thermal performance of a device is a factor that limits the electrical activation levels, and a crucial part of IC design is ensuring that the vast BEoL network, which may consist of millions of ICTs, can tolerate the required activation levels with reliable operation and minimal thermal degradation [7, 183, 222].

6.1.1. Electromigration Failures and the Degradation of IC BEoL Networks

Material transport in conducting media can occur under different conditions such as concentration, temperature, and stress gradients. When caused by a high electric current, the atomic transport mechanism is called Electromigration. The exchange in momentum causing the material transport occurs when the flowing electrons collide with the metallic ions in the conducting medium, carrying the loosened ions in the direction of electron flow. Consequently, the atoms diffuse under EM conditions and are depleted from the cathode and accumulate at the anode, creating voids and hillocks at the opposite conducting lead ends (Figure 6.1, and thus leading to a resistance increase as the network degrades or eventually fails from short-circuits or circuit-breaks. One of the major concerns in IC ICT networks is the degradation that occurs due to Electromigration (EM).



Figure 6.1. Image of interconnect showing hillock and void formation due to material transport under Electromigration. (Source: Kyung-Hoae 2011)

Electromigration failure analysis was first described by J. R. Black who presented an empirical model in 1960 as shown in (6.1). The equation relates the mean-time-to-failure (MTTF) to a geometric parameter (A cross-sectional area), an activation parameter (J current density), and to material properties (E_a activation energy) and finally to the average lead temperature T. The square term is later replaced by J^n where n depends on the different depletion or growth failure modes. k_B is the Boltzmann constant.

$$MTTF = \frac{A}{J^2} \exp\left(\frac{E_a}{k_B T}\right) \tag{6.1}$$

The empirical model of Black has been proven as an oversimplified model where the fitting parameters for activation energy E_a and n obtained at stress conditions differ from those at normal operation. More accurate models built on Black's equation, adding the effect of hydrostatic stress, current density and temperature [146]. Other reliability models offer physics-based EM analysis where the void initiation and growth time are modeled under the effects of electrical activation, material properties, layout design and residual stresses [112]. The model determines the void initiation time based on the stress distribution in the ICT network. The void growth then determines the power-ground (p/g) network deterioration where the voids grow and the resistance ratings increase and is updated at each subsequent
time step. The failure consideration criteria is taken when the IR (voltage) drop exceeds a certain tolerance. The effects of in-chip temperature distributions are studied in a later work [111] and are seen to drastically vary the failure time, and the failure location, as local ICT temperatures can be higher or lower than the average die temperature depending on the MET layer and the location of the ICT. Higher temperatures can accelerate EM, while overestimated temperature can wrongly predict void initiations [111]. Thermal stresses are reduced at higher temperatures since the material contains residual stresses from the fabrication at higher zero-stress temperature T_{zs} . Higher temperatures reduces the temperature difference $(T - T_{zs})$ thus reducing thermal stresses and retarding EM failures. The observed effects stress the importance of within-die temperature distributions on lifetime estimations and the crucial need for accurate reduced thermal models for reliability assessment of IC's.

Different materials require different activation energies for the onset of Electromigration, with Copper (Cu) having higher diffusion resistance than Aluminum (Al), with $E_a(Cu) = 0.8 - 1.2eV$ for dominant surface diffusion, as compared to $E_a(Al) = 0.7eV$. Refractory metals such as Tantalum (Ta), Titanium (Ti), and Tungsten (W) are used for vias to connect ICTs at different levels of the BEoL since they have high atomic bonding energies and can thus serve as barriers to EM diffusion. Another technology strategies that improves the atomic bonding of conducting metals that reduces EM vulnerability is introducing a 0.5% Cu blend into Al ICTs.

Geometry parameters such as the cross-sectional area (A) and length (L) are also key factors in EM reliability models. Increasing the area of a conductor or reducing the current intensity reduces J and thus extends lifetime. Interconnect length, if below a certain limit denoted as Blech limit, can render segments immune to EM effects [22]. Other design strategies can also be implemented to reduce EM effects. For example, reducing sharp corners may reduce current crowding effects at the corners, thus reducing localized J. Moreover, reversing the current stress reduces EM effects and can even result in self-healing [72], which is why connectivity ICTs carrying bidirectional electric current are less susceptible than their power deliver counterparts that carry unidirectional currents. The above conditions can be determined in the choice of technology and design for the BEoL stage. Temperature, on the other hand, is a crucial factor that is difficult to model and that can accelerate EM since thermal energy contributes to part of the activation energy needed for the onset of EM, causes a positive feedback as resistance increase due to degradation further increases self-heating and feeds back EM and accelerated void growth. This exponentially reduces EM lifetime where a 5 Kelvin temperature rise could reduce the lifetime by 35% and a 10 K by 58% for Aluminum as estimated by Black's equation [21].

The ICTs in the BEoL are separated from the substrate by an electrically insulating interlayer dielectric (ILD) medium, which is required for signal isolation to reduce RC delay, cross talk and dynamic power consumption [15,251]. The low electrical conductivity (σ) material also exhibits a poor thermal conductivity (κ) that hampers heat dissipation within the BEoL, rendering active ICTs susceptible to considerable self-heating [17]. This thermal side-effect is becoming a major concern for IC reliability, especially with the ongoing trend in electronic miniaturization and ever-increasing power requirements. For these reasons, accurate and quick thermal characterization, as well as innovative thermal management strategies are required for the BEoL stage to ensure reliable operation [247]. With the continuing trend in device down-scaling and increasing power demand, and with transition from monolithic ICs to 2.5 and 3D integration, the undesired thermal heating effects are further exacerbated leading to more constrained device performance. This raises the need for more advance thermal characterization tools, both experimental and numerical, to ensure reliable device operation for an acceptable lifetime. The in-chip temperature distribution is challenging to determine and requires either time-consuming extensive 3D modeling, or over-simplified reduced thermal models that prove to be inaccurate or overly conservative.

In this chapter, a reduced three-dimensional (3D) thermal model is developed to estimate the temperature rise of active ICTs in BEoL networks. The model is assessed for its feasibility for large scale numerical thermal analysis and for its accuracy through experimental and numerical validations. Initially, available 2D models are presented and assessed for accuracy in Section 6.2. Aiming to improve on accuracy of the oversimplified 2D models, a combined 2D model is developed to estimate the 2D conductance from a thermally long interconnect. In Section 6.5, the studied reduced models and the newly developed models are compared to numerical simulations and validated with experimental thermal mapping of representative device samples. In Section 6.3, the 2D reduced model is extended to a 3D model that considers entrance effects, conduction through the vias, and mutual heating between multiple ICTs. The developed 3D reduced model makes it possible to obtain fast and accurate thermal assessments of a large-scale ICT network that would otherwise require vast and impractical computational efforts. A case verification study with numerical and experimental results is presented in Section 6.6.

6.2. 2D Model for Thermal Conductance from an Isolated Interconnect

Given the long and narrow shape factor of ICTs, it is logical to begin with an initial two-dimensional (2D) analysis of the heat transfer from a thermally long heat source. In simple terms, neglecting axial heat conduction, the temperature rise in an active ICT under Joule heating mainly depends on the heater/resistor material and geometry, the activation level, and the surrounding dielectric material. The ICTs considered in this study are thin conductive lines of width w and thickness t, and are located in a BEoL with an insulation thickness of t_i above the substrate and an upper-passivation thickness t_p (Figure 6.2).

The temperature rise upon activation is determined from the heat generation rate Q'_{gen} and the total thermal resistance between the ICT and the substrate's heat sink. The effective thermal resistance is directly related to the effective conductivity κ_{eff} of the dielectric $(R_{th,eff} = t_i/(\kappa_{eff}w))$. Q'_{gen} is determined from the electrical activation, based on the sheet resistivity of the ICT material (ρ'_0) and the activation current density (J). The temperature rise can be obtained from both the electrical and thermal subsystems (Figure 6.2) according to (6.2), and an allowable activation level, given an allowable temperature rise limit, ΔT_{allow} , can be obtained using (6.3).

$$\Delta T = R_{th} \cdot Q'_{gen} = \rho'_0 J^2 \frac{t_i}{\kappa_{d,eff}}$$
(6.2)



Figure 6.2. a) Schematic of the device structure considered for the 2D thermal model showing the ICT embedded in the dielectric medium b) Corresponding thermal resistive circuit showing the heat source generated Q'_{gen} and the total thermal resistance R_{th} c) The electrical activation circuit for the ICT showing the electrical resistance R and current density J.

$$J_{allow} = \sqrt{\frac{\Delta T_{allow}}{\rho_0'} \frac{\kappa_{d,eff}}{t_i}}$$
(6.3)

6.2.1. Reduced Mathematical Models for Effective Conductivity

6.2.1.1. 1D Model

The simplest model to calculate κ_{eff} is to consider only a rudimentary one-dimensional (1D) heat flow across a rectangular region of the dielectric underneath the ICT. The dielectric thermal resistance to the substrate is calculated as $R'_{th,1D} = t_i/\kappa_d w$. This is the most conservative model as it does not consider heat spreading in the dielectric layer, an effect that can improve conductance and reduce the operating temperature.

A better representative heat conduction models would consider 2D heat flow and account for lateral heat spreading beneath the ICT, and can be derived by the use of mathematical domain transformation models [20, 88, 222]. The 2D models are less conservative, yielding a higher conductance and a lower $R_{th,2D} = t_i / \kappa_{d,eff} \cdot w$ with an effective dielectric conductivity ratio $\kappa_{d,eff}/\kappa_d > 1$.

6.2.1.2. Bilotti 2D Model

The 2D heat spreading effect was studied by Bilotti [20] and is based on the mathematically derived shape factor for conduction between a rectangular heat source located in an insulating medium at a distance from the substrate surface plane (Figure 6.2.a with $t_p = 0$). Bilotti's equation shown in (6.4) can accurately represent heat conduction between a thermally long ICT and the substrate surface, both considered at uniform temperatures. The model however, does not consider heat flow from the sides and the top of the ICT when it is embedded under some thickness of passivation, as is the case for BEoL ICTs which are present in a multi-layered stack. Considering only the bottom region for heat dissipation overestimates the resistance of the dielectric and thus leads to a higher estimated temperature rise and a more conservative model.

$$\left. \frac{\kappa_{d,eff}}{\kappa_d} \right|_B = \left(1 + B^* \frac{t_i}{w} \right) \tag{6.4}$$

6.2.1.3. Andrews 2D Model

The mathematical model of Andrews' [12] described by (6.5) more accurately represents the case of a passivated ICT since it considers conduction from a rectangular source placed in a semi-infinite medium (Figure 6.2.a with $t_p = \infty$). Due to the semi-infinite passivation, the top surface is modeled as adiabatic and thus the model provides the effective conduction to the substrate surface. This adiabatic assumption is valid since the convection and radiation heat losses at the top surface are negligible due to the typically moderate temperature rises.

$$\frac{\kappa_{d,eff}}{\kappa_d}\Big|_A = \alpha \frac{t_i}{w} \left[log_{10} \left(1 + \frac{t_i}{w} \right) \right]^{\beta_1} \left(\frac{w}{t} \right)^{\beta_2} \tag{6.5}$$

Both equations are based on geometric parameters of the system, width and thickness of the resistor (w and t) and on the thickness of the dielectric insulation (t_i) with $\kappa_{d,eff}/\kappa_d = f(w,t,t_i)$. The equations can be expressed in non-dimensional form as $\kappa_{d,eff}/\kappa_d = f(w',t')$ where $w' = w/t_i$ and $t' = t/t_i$. The Bilotti parameter (B^*) is obtained for large excess width of insulation, which is applicable for our assumption of a narrow resistor being much smaller than the width of the oxide layer. The coefficients in the Andrews equation $(\alpha, \beta_1, \beta_2)$ are determined to fit our simulations.

6.3. Reduced 3D Thermal Model for an Interconnect Network

As full thermal modeling may require extensive computational effort and expense, reduced 3D models provide quicker and more effective thermal analysis method for microelectronic devices that contain standardized dimensions and structures, such as Siliconon-Insulator (SOI) devices [47, 88, 235, 271], FinFET structures [46], and some BEoL layouts [111, 246, 251].

However, as the complexity and variety of device designs increase, custom reduced modeled are required to be tailored to each individual structure; otherwise, more rigorous extensive computational modeling would be required. In the case of BEoL networks, the sheer number of ICTs renders computational methods infeasibly expensive. For that reason, reduced model have been developed in an effort to conduct a quick thermal analysis of active power grid (P/G) networks for reliability assessment.

Teng et al. [246] developed an electromigration reliability tool (iTEM) that first calculated the chip temperature using a finite difference method and then estimated ICT temperature using a reduced model based on a series solution for $\kappa_{d,eff}$ [88]. For their EM assessment tool, Huang et al. [111,112] estimated the temperature distribution within the BEoL by utilizing a thermal model based on cuboidal thermal cells with effective local thermal properties. However, they then report the temperature as an average in a region around the ICT, which does not capture actual temperature rise of the interconnects themselves. For more densely packed ICTs, this method would fail to represent individual ICT, and if one opts to then use finer numerical grids, the method would become similar to a full FEA, which is numerically infeasible for the previously stated reasons.

Chen et al. [40] conducted computational studies and used reduced thermal resistance networks to model ICT heating between isolated ICTs (2D model), parallel coupled ICTs, and cross-coupling of power and signal lines, with results being verified with numerical results. Chiang et al. [251] analyzed the length effect and the effect of the separation of vias by the use of the "lossy wire model" and a 2D reduced model that considers a new expression for the 2D heat spreading $\kappa_{d,eff}$. The preceding two studies presented a reduced model for ICT configurations at two BEoL levels but are not general enough to address more complex configurations. Moreover, no experimental work was performed to ascertain the validity of the proposed models.

In the analysis of the previous section, only thermally-long ICTs were addressed, with no consideration of longitudinal heat conduction. In addition to through-plane and transverse heat dissipation, axial conduction also contributes to the thermal response of active ICTs and results in an axial temperature distribution, mainly observed at the edges of ICTs. Moreover, the presence of connective vias at the ICT ends also provides additional thermal paths between ICTs at different BEoL levels, and results in additional heat transport effects. As a result, in the following subsection, a reduced 3D model is developed based on the "lossy wire model" to consider the additional thermal effects in the axial direction, namely entrance effects and thermal coupling through vias and cross configurations.

6.3.1. 2+1 D Heat Conduction: The Lossy Wire Model

The lossy wire model (LWM) is widely accepted for the thermal design and analysis of structures with narrow shape factors, such as heat fins and extended surfaces [4, 134] that experience some heat loss to the surroundings. The temperature profile along a lossy wire can be derived by evaluating the balance between heat lost at a differential length (dx) and the axial heat conducted axially. This steady energy balance governs the temperature distribution along any ICT of index j and is given in (6.6).

$$\frac{d^2T}{dx^2} - \frac{T - T_0}{\lambda_H^2} = -\frac{\rho_m J^2}{\kappa_m}$$
(6.6)

The heat conduction along the wire is expressed in the first term, the heat lost to the surroundings in the second, and the heat generation rate in the third. The second term is the effective heat lost to the surroundings and is expressed in terms of λ_H , a characteristic thermal length. The equation is subject to a boundary condition of fixed temperatures at both ends of the ICT, $\Delta T_{x=0}$ and $\Delta T_{x=L}$. The third term represents the Joule-heating rate upon electrical activation at J_{RMS} and is used to solve the non-homogeneous problem with zero boundary conditions. The homogeneous solution is obtained by assuming the third term to be zero, which gives the boundary-driven conduction as a function of boundary conditions at both ends. Superposing both solutions gives the temperature distribution along an ICT of length L as presented in (6.7).

$$\Delta T(x) = \Delta T_{max} \left(1 - \frac{\cosh(\frac{x - L/2}{\lambda_H})}{\cosh(\frac{L/2}{\lambda_H})} \right) + \Delta T_0 \frac{\sinh(\frac{L-x}{\lambda_H})}{\sinh(\frac{L}{\lambda_H})} + \Delta T_L \frac{\sinh(\frac{x}{\lambda_H})}{\sinh(\frac{L}{\lambda_H})}$$
(6.7)

The temperature profile of any active lossy wire is defined in (6.7) in terms of only the three following parameters:

6.3.1.1. The Thermal Entrance Length

 (λ_H) is a characteristic dimension that determines the distance of the entrance regions that is affected by a node temperature boundary condition. The thermal entrance length depends mainly on the ratio of axial heat conduction (represented by the metal thermal conductivity κ_m) and the heat lost to the surrounding dielectric (represented by the effective conductivity $\kappa_{d,eff}$ obtained from the reduced 2D model of Section 6.2):

$$\lambda_H = \left(\frac{\kappa_m \ t \ t_i}{\kappa_{d,eff}}\right)^{1/2} \tag{6.8}$$

The thermal entrance length λ_H combines the balance of axial heat conducted and the heat lost to the dielectric and describes the end effects within an ICT. The effective conductivity ($\kappa_{d,eff}$) of the dielectric medium is obtained from the reduced models for 2D heat conduction presented in the previous section.

6.3.1.2. The Maximum Attainable Temperature

 (ΔT_{max}) is the temperature attained by a thermally long ICT at a location away from the edge ($\approx 5\lambda_H$) (Figure 6.3). ΔT_{max} is obtained by solving the non-homogeneous energy balance equation with zero boundary conditions (6.6):

$$\Delta T_{max} = \frac{\rho_0 J_{RMS}^2 \lambda_H^2}{\kappa_m} \tag{6.9}$$

6.3.1.3. The End Temperatures

 $(\Delta T_0 \text{ and } \Delta T_L)$ are boundary conditions for the 1D energy balance equation. In the present model, as neighboring ICTs connect to each other and to vias and other features, a set of common nodes will arise whose temperatures (ΔT_n) are the unknowns that will be solved for by the thermal resistance network analysis described in the following section.

6.3.2. Thermal Resistance Network Analysis

Constructing the temperature distributions for several ICTs of index j requires first to solve for $\lambda_{H,j}$, $\Delta T_{max,j}$, and the temperature ΔT_n of the connecting nodes. $\Delta T_{max,j}$ and $\lambda_{H,j}$ can be obtained from technology and activation parameters by the use of the combined 2D model of Section 6.2. However, the values for ΔT_n are unknown and result from heat transfer between different connected features such as ICTs, vias, and/or cross configurations. Therefore, to model the heat transfer between the different components and configurations, a resistive network analysis is used in this study to calculate the node temperatures ΔT_n , which requires a resistance representation of heat transfer between the nodes to all other connected components, such as ICTs, vias, and cross configurations.

6.3.2.1. ICT Entrance Thermal Resistance

The first resistance that is required is the resistance to heat transfer from a node n to its connected ICT i (Figure 6.3), denoted by "entrance thermal resistance" $(R_{th,n,j})$. This resistance can be obtained from the temperature gradient dT/dx as follows.

$$R_{th,n,j} = \left(\frac{\kappa_{m,j}A_{cs,j}}{\Delta T_n - \Delta T_k} \left. \frac{\partial T_j}{\partial x} \right|_n \right)^{-1}$$
(6.10)

The temperature gradient $(\partial T/\partial x)$ can be obtained by differentiating (6.7) at x = 0 to yield:

$$\frac{\partial T_j}{\partial x}\Big|_n = \Delta T_{max,j} \left(\frac{1}{\lambda_{H,j}} \tanh \frac{L_j}{2\lambda_{H,j}}\right) - \Delta T_n \left(\frac{1}{\lambda_{H,j}} \coth \frac{L_j}{\lambda_{H,j}}\right) + \Delta T_k \left(\frac{1}{\lambda_{H,j}} \operatorname{csch} \frac{L_i}{\lambda_{H,j}}\right)$$
(6.11)

In general, the resistance is expressed between the two node temperatures ΔT_n and ΔT_k of an ICT of index *i* using (6.10) and (6.11). For thermally-long ICTs ($L > 5\lambda_H$), the $R_{th,n}$ reduces to the form given in (6.12), and heat conduction is considered between the node temperature ΔT_n and $\Delta T_{max,i}$ (Figure 6.3).

$$R_{th,j,long} = \left(\frac{\kappa_{m,j}A_{cs,j}}{\lambda_{H,j}} \tanh\frac{L_j}{\lambda_{H,j}}\right)^{-1}$$
(6.12)

6.3.2.2. Via Thermal Resistance

The heat conduction through a via is considered as 1D flow with a thermal resistance calculated by the use of the via material and dimensions as follows.

$$R_{th,via} = \frac{h_{AB}}{k_{via}A_{via}} \tag{6.13}$$

 h_{AB} is the height of the via extending between the two ICTs, k_{via} is the thermal conductivity of the via material, and A_{via} is the cross-sectional area of the via which depends on the



Figure 6.3. Schematic showing a) thermally long $(L/\lambda_h > 5)$ and b) thermally short $(L/\lambda_h < 5)$ ICT with the considered entrance thermal resistance at the nodes and the associated temperature distribution for a given λ_H . Zero boundary condition is considered $\Delta T_n = \Delta T_0 = 0$ and $\Delta T_k = \Delta T_L = 0$ at both ends x = 0 and x = L. Note that the temperature distribution in a thermally short ICT does not reach ΔT_{max} .

dimensions of the vias, and the number of vias present for a given ICT width, all of which are predefined technological (i.e. fabrication) parameters.

The heat conduction through the via material is considered as the primary heat transfer path since the medium is of higher conductivity than the dielectric. The secondary heat conduction through the dielectric is considered by evaluating the effective conductance $G_{d,via}$ between two ICT ends as given in (6.14).

$$R_{th,via,d} = G_{d,via}^{-1} = \frac{3h_{AB}}{k_d w_A w_B}$$
(6.14)

Since the two described heat conduction paths are parallel, the resistances in (6.13) and (6.14) are handled in a parallel configuration to obtain the overall resistance across the via between the two ICTs.

6.3.2.3. Cross Configuration Thermal Resistance

Another configuration that can influence the temperature of ICTs is the cross-coupled mutual heating that occurs between two transversely running ICTs. The cross-coupling can lead to additional local heating load at the cross location when both ICTs are active, or possibly to a desirable cooling effect if one of the ICTs is inactive.

The heat exchange between two ICTs in a cross configuration is modeled and added as a thermal resistive connection in the present model. The cross resistance $R_{th,cross}$ given by (6.15) was analytically obtained by Cheng et al. [48] by integrating the conductance as a function of the view factor along both ICTs.

$$R_{th,cross} = \frac{3}{2\pi\kappa_d} \frac{h_{AB}}{(w_A + t_A)(w_B + t_B)}$$
(6.15)

 h_{AB} is the vertical separation between the two ICTs A and B, w and t are the width and thickness of each ICT, respectively, and κ_d is the thermal conductivity of the separating dielectric.

The resistive connection is placed at the cross junction between the two ICTs. Another configuration presented by [48] is seen to give more accurate results is a six-resistor model (Figure 6.4). The six-resistor network is equivalent to the derived resistance of the single resistor model, such that $R = 1.5R_{cross}$, where $R_m = l_c/\kappa_m \cdot w \cdot t$ is the axial thermal resistance in the conducting ICT segment of dimensions ($l_c \times w \times t$) within the cross region. $R = 1.5R_{cross}$ is the cross resistance, and R_j is the ICT entrance thermal resistance that connects the cross configuration to the full resistance network.

The heat generation in both ICT segments located in the cross region are also included in the thermal resistance analysis. The heat generation is calculated from the Joule heating per unit length (Q'_x) , scaled by each segment's length, and then distributed equally upon the three nodes of each ICT. The ground resistance connects the lower ICT to the substrate heat sink and is calculated by the use of Bilotti's model since only conduction from the bottom surface is considered.



Figure 6.4. Schematic showing the resistive network configuration for a) Single Resistive Cross model b) Six Resistors Cross Model based on [40]. The value of R is such that the equivalent network resistance is equal for the two ICTs in both configurations. c) Resistance network schematic showing the six-resistor model [48] connected to the ICT segment ends.

The cross configuration thermal network (Figure 6.4) is solved for the unknown temperatures (nodes 2, 4, 5, and 7) given a) the temperatures of the four connected segments in ICTs A and B, and b) the heat generation in the active regions of A and B. The temperature profile within the cross is then reconstructed from the three nodes within each ICT: nodes 2, 3, 4) in B, and nodes 5, 6, 7 in A (Figure 6.4).

6.3.3. Iterative Approach to Solve Resistance Network

In general, the entry thermal resistance $R_{th,i}$ and node temperature rise $\Delta T_{n,i}$ are coupled (6.11) and cannot be solved separately. Therefore, to calculate ΔT_n , an iterative method is implemented where ICTs are initially assumed as being thermally-long, in which case $R_{th,long}$ can be determined independently of node temperatures. This allows an initial thermal resistance network to be built with $R_{th,long}$ and ΔT_{max} , all of which are known beforehand.

The iterative method then proceeds as follows:

1. Assuming thermally-long ICTs for the first iteration, the resistance network is built with $R_{th,j,long}$ (6.12), $\Delta T_{max,j}$ (6.9), and the corresponding R_{th} for vias (6.13) or cross configurations (6.15).

- 2. The thermal network is solved for an estimate of ΔT_n .
- 3. The resistive network $(R_{th,n,j})$ is updated based on the newly updated ΔT_n .
- 4. In the next iteration, the updated resistive network is solved for ΔT_n , and the process is repeated by updating $R_{th,n,j}$ and solving for ΔT_n until convergence (small change in ΔT_n).

After the above iteration process is complete, the node temperatures ΔT_n , the maximum temperature rise $\Delta T_{max,j}$ and the thermal entry length $\lambda_{H,j}$ are used to construct the full axial temperature profile $\Delta T_j(x)$ in all the ICTs.

6.3.4. Model Validation with Simulations and Thermal Imaging

The developed 2D and 3D reduced models are verified against thermal simulations to ensure that the results from reduced modeling can closely estimate those from full 3D thermal simulations. The software used to conduct the thermal simulations in this study is T°Solver[®] presented in Chapter 7.2. The sample devices are build to scale in the software with material properties are defined as literature reported values. The heat generation rates are set to match the experimental heat generation which corresponds to the electrical activation power.

The conducting material is considered to be of a higher thermal conductivity than the surrounding dielectric material [255], and thus any lateral temperature variation is considered to be negligible. The simulation model faithfully represents the location and dimensions of the ICTs within the stack, the electrical parameters and the thermal parameters of the ICT material. The effect of the chemical mechanical planarization (CMP) dummy fill pattern is shown in a previous study to affect the heat conductance within the BEoL stack and result in a passive cooling effect [77]. The CMP fill is therefore modeled with the same effective thermal properties as used in [77].

Experimental thermal maps of activated sample devices of similar test structures are initially used to validate the numerical simulation model. thermoreflectance (TR) imaging system [207, 212], which provides deep-sub-micron resolution thermal maps. The optical imaging technique provides accurate thermal maps at sub-micron resolution scales from which the temperature distribution along the ICT features can be extracted. This approach is taken, in lieu of using the experimental maps to validate the reduced model, for the following reasons: 1) the actual thermal properties may contain uncertainties and unknown interface effects that may affect the agreement between the reduced model and the experimental results, and 2) the same input parameters can be defined for both the simulation and the reduced model where any discrepancy would be the result of reduced modeling and not the result of mismatch in defined model input parameters. The methodology and samples will be presented in the respective Sections for the 2D and 3D results.

6.4. TDTR Conductivity Measurements of BEoL Thin-film Materials

Before presenting the results of the thermal investigation into the thermal characteristics of the integration stage (i.e., BEoL) of ICs, a property measurement study is presented to characterize the materials that are present in the BEoL. This will provide the thermal properties that will be utilized in the developed models and in the simulations to follow.

6.4.1. Studied Materials

The materials chosen for this study are widely used in standard components in the fabrication and operation of the BEoL stage. The main component of the P/G network is the current carrying interconnect network patterned at the multiple metallization (MET) levels of the BEoL. A high electrical conductivity material is ideal for that objective to efficiently conduct electric signals with minimal resistive and IC power losses.

Aluminum (Al) is a prime candidate for an interconnect material since it has one of the highest electrical conductivities among metals. However, since Al can suffer from electromigration (EM), which is the material transport that occurs under high electrical current densities, Aluminum Copper has emerged as an improved replacement with better resistance to EM since the addition of Copper in small concentrations (0.5 to 5 weight%) improves the Al grain adhesion. EM is accelerated at elevated temperatures, and so a combination of improved interconnect material design and strict thermal considerations are required to reduce EM induced void formations and P/G network degradation.

Polysilicon (hereafter referred to as Poly or PolySi) is another electrically conductive material that is used for gates, local interconnections, and microresistors in the BEoL network. The Poly layer is deposited in the first BEoL layer and since it has a higher thermal resistivity than AlCu, it contributes more to Joule heating that could elevate local BEoL temperatures when subjected to high current densities. The high electrical resistivity and the proximity to active devices at the front-end demands adequate thermal consideration for Poly components.

Electrical isolation between the interconnects of the BEoL is required to reduce resistivecapacitive (RC) delays, crosstalk, and dynamic power consumption [15]. For that reason, interconnects are placed within an insulating medium. Silicon dioxide (SiO₂) is the most versatile and easy to process insulating material as it is based on the ubiquitous Silicon and is compatible with the metal–oxide–semiconductor (MOS) fabrication process. Tetraethyl orthosilicate based silicon oxide (TEOS) is a highly insulating form of SiO₂ with very high conformity. An advantage of using TEOS SiO₂ is that it can be processed at lower temperatures compared to standard SiO₂ without requiring the use of toxic silane, and provides improved step coverage and film stress control. TEOS is the studied insulating material in the present work since the enveloping thermal insulating material is the determining factor in the thermal response of IC interconnects.

The final studied material, Tungsten (W), is used in the fabrication of vias that establish connections between interconnects at different MET levels. Vias are placed in the inter-MET TEOS layers and are generally made of barrier metals. These materials have a higher atomic bond energy and thus offer a high resistance to EM. Titanium (Ti), Tantalum (Ta), and Tungsten (W) are some barrier metals with high electrical conductivity that also can mitigate EM diffusion.

The above-mentioned materials (AlCu, PolySi, TEOS SiO2, and W) will be considered

for the TDTR conductivity measurements. Other novel materials or compounds may be used for BEoL fabrication, but this study focused on the above materials since they are the most widely implemented ones in the BEoL stage and to also provide thermal properties of the materials used in the numerical studies in this Chapter.

6.4.2. TDTR Results

The total thermal resistance $(R_{th,total})$ is extracted by fitting the results of the numerical simulation to the experimentally-obtained temperature decay profile for each sample structure included in this work. The extracted data are plotted against sample layer thickness and the corresponding curve fit equations are shown for each material (Figure 6.5).



Figure 6.5. Total thermal resistances obtained for the thin-film samples as function of film thickness. The slope and intercept of each data fit are used to extract the intrinsic thermal conductivity of the film and its interface thermal resistance.

With the linear trends in hand, it becomes possible to extract the intrinsic thermal con-

ductivity (κ_i) of each thin-film material as well as its associated interface thermal resistance (R_{int}) .

But the question arises as to how to properly assess the uncertainty error associated with this data since not only are the number of samples and the trials for each of them relatively small, but the linear fitting equation, and therefore the intercept, are strongly dependent on even small vertical shifts in any of the few data points per curve (represented by the solid symbols in Figure 6.5). A worthwhile approach is to produce bounding linear fits, one upper and one lower, respectively based on considering the upper and lower bounds of the uncertainty for each of the data points. This way, one would respond to the question of what would the error be if all the uncertainties were either additive (upper band) or subtractive (lower band). The upper and lower linear fits would then bracket the "best-fit" plotted in Figure 6.5. The resulting uncertainty errors in the thermal conductivity, based on the maximum and minimum deviations in $R_{th,total}$, are less than 5% for Poly, TEOS, and W, and around 15% for AlCu. The latter is higher because its shallower slope magnifies its sensitivity to variations in $R_{th,total}$.

The properties summarized in Figure 6.6 indicate that the highest thermal conductivities are observed for AlCu (199 W/m.K) and W (115 W/m.K). Conductive metals are expected to have higher intrinsic conductivities since, in addition to the lattice contribution to heat conduction, the electronic contribution of loosely-held electrons in the lattice further increases the total thermal conductivity [110]. The obtained κ values are close to those reported in the literature. For example, the conductivity of pure Al is reported to be around 230 W/m.K [1,110], and the effect of adding a certain weight percent (%wt) of copper to the aluminum tends to decrease the thermal conductivity of the resulting alloy. A study by Zhang et al.14 measured κ_{AlCu} by a laser flash method and reported a value of around 220 W/m.K (for AlCu blends with 1%-wt Cu), 200 W/m.K (for 3%), and 190 W/m.K (for 5%) [274], which also correlate well with the results reported by Akerman and Havill14. The bulk thermal conductivity of Tungsten is reported in the literature to be between 159 W/m.K 15 and 165 W/m.K 16.



Figure 6.6. Summary of the measured intrinsic thermal conductivities of the BEoL materials and their interface thermal resistances.

The thin-film samples considered in this investigation exhibit a lower thermal conductivity, which could be the result of disordered crystal structures and thermal-mechanical stresses that are typically associated with the high temperatures and pressures used in the deposition process.

The thermal conductivity of Polycrystalline Si (Poly) is measured at 23.3 W/m.K, which is lower than that of single-crystalline Si (\approx 140 W/m.K) but higher than amorphous Si (\approx 5-6 W/m.K [254]) due to the polycrystalline nature of the material. The increased scattering present at the grain boundaries adds more resistance to phonon transport and thus reduces the lattice thermal conductivity. The literature reports similar values of κ_{Poly} between 13.8 and 22 W/m.K as measured using joule heating and resistance thermometry [33, 166, 254].

The TEOS SiO₂ is a highly electrically insulating material and thus shows the lowest thermal conductivity measured at 1.12 W/m.K. The low thermal conductivity is expected for amorphous silicon dioxide and is measured in the literature to be in the range of 1 to 1.2 W/m.K [31, 32, 143, 276] and verified by molecular dynamics simulations [113, 167].

The effective conductivities κ_{eff} given by (3.27) are calculated for the different samples

and plotted against layer thickness (Figure 6.5). Since additional interface effects are accounted for, the value of κ_{eff} is always less than κ_i , and by definition approaches κ_i at the bulk limit.



Figure 6.7. The calculated effective thermal conductivities of the sample films as reconstructed from the extracted intrinsic thermal conductivities and interface resistances.

The difference between κ_{eff} and κ_i depends on the intrinsic conductivity of the material and the interface resistance. For low conductivity materials, the bulk thermal resistance is the major contributor to TTR, where films below a thickness of 1000 nm, the interface effects lead to a drastically reduced κ_{eff} . The bulk resistance t/κ_i is larger for thicker samples and for that reason, κ_{eff} approaches κ_i as h increases. For TEOS with a thickness of 100 nm, $\kappa_{eff}=1$ W/m.K is very close to the intrinsic value, and Polysilicon κ_{eff} is seen to approach κ_i for layers of thickness 1700 nm.

For high conductivity materials, the bulk resistance is low and thus the interface resis-

tances dominate the TTR, which leads to a low κ_{eff} . Even at a thickness of 1000 nm, the κ_{eff} of AlCu is still at 40 W/m.K which is a small fraction of the bulk conductivity (200 W/m.K). A similar effect is seen with W, where κ_{eff} for the thickest sample layer is around 55 W/m.K compared to a κ_i of 115 W/m.K. Similar values are reported in the literature where the thin-film conductivity is reported for of a 273 nm thick W sample at 25 W/m.K and at 50 W/m.K after being heat treated [214]. In another study, κ_W is reported at 50-60 W/m.K a 260 nm sample [107]. The reported bulk and effective conductivity is close to our measured results, however, higher interface resistance may have resulted in a lower value than what is reported in other studies.

6.4.3. TDTR Study Conclusions

The thermal conductivity and interface resistances of thin-film materials used in the fabrication of IC BEoL structures are measured using TDTR. The characterization of the thermal properties is essential to accurately model the thermal response and self-heating in IC structures for reliability analysis. The reported thermal conductivity measurements reveal a thermally resistive TEOS medium which might be the most restrictive to heat dissipation. Moreover, the interface effects observed for high-conductivity metals are seen to add to the total thermal resistance of thin-film metals such as AlCu and W and reduce their effective conductivity. The accurate measurements of material properties would provide more representative thermal models for reliability assessment of IC BEoL networks.

6.5. 2D Combined Model Results

The simulation models used for verifying the 2D reduced model is first validated with experimental thermal mapping of the test samples. Specially-fabricated devices of different widths and at two levels in the BEoL are thermally mapped with the T°Imager[®] while being electrically activated with a constant current source, resulting in Joule-heating induces temperature rise profiles. Once the simulation model is validated, it is used to verify the reduced 2D for the presented case of an isolated ICT.

6.5.1. Validation Simulations with Thermal Maps

The temperature rise of the test structures are extracted from the acquired thermal maps (Figure 6.8) at a region away from the edges is extracted from the both the measurements and simulation results and is used to calculate the total thermal resistance per unit length (2D) as as $TTR' = \Delta T/Q'_x$, where Q'_x is the activation power level per unit ICT length. The allowable heat flux can then be calculated for any desired temperature limit ΔT_{allow} . as $Q''_{allow} = \Delta T_{allow}/(TTR' \cdot w)$ (Figure 6.9). The results show close agreement between the simulation models and the observed temperature rise for the tested devices. Two types of Poly resistors of different electrical resistivities are tested and hence the two data sets present for Poly.

A thermal model of the tested devices is built in T°Solver[®] with the corresponding dimensions, thermal properties and heat generation rates. The effect of the chemical mechanical planarization (CMP) dummy fill pattern is shown in a previous study to affect the heat conductance within the BEoL stack and result in a passive cooling effect [77]. The CMP fill is therefore modeled with the same effective thermal properties as wll be presented in the next Chapter [77]. The validation results (Figure 6.9) show that the simulation models results closely approximate the observed temperature rise in the six test devices at the two BEoL levels. For a more general comparison to the previously developed 2D model, the effective conductance in the stack is presented in Figure 6.9(b) in terms of $\kappa_{eff}/\kappa_d = Q'_x \cdot t_i/(w \cdot \kappa_d \cdot \Delta T)$. Close result agreement is observed, and the two curves of level 1 (Poly) and level 2 (MET) are almost confounded since a relatively thick passivation $(t_p/t_i > 5)$ is present. Minor discrepancies in the experimental validation could be the attributed to uncertainties in the defined thermal parameters for the simulation model, such as the effective thermal parameters of the present materials. Moreover, the obtained $\kappa_{d,eff}/\kappa_d$ results in Figure 6.9 are higher than those presented in Figure 6.11 due to the increased conductance from the CMP dummy fill.

From the experimental thermal maps (Figure 6.8), it is also observed that heat dissipation in the axial direction can largely affect the temperature distribution especially at the ends of an active ICT. This is mainly due to the factors relating to thermal entry, heat conduction



Figure 6.8. Thermal maps of the sample BEoL devices micro-resistors of widths 1, 3 and 10 μ m at the different locations: Level 1 of Polysilicon (Poly) shown in the left column and level 2 of AlCu metalization (MET1) shown in the right column.



Figure 6.9. Comparison of the heating rate for measured ICT samples as compared with their estimates from the reduced model, with $\kappa_d = 1.1 W/m.K$.

and heat generation at the vias. The combined model given in (6.16) and depicted in Figure 6.11 can accurately estimate the 2D effective heat dissipation from a thermally-long active ICT, and is used to develop a more ambitious 3D reduced model that would be capable of considering the above-mentioned effects.

6.5.2. Verifying 2D Reduced model with Simulations

The 2D reduced models for $\kappa_{\text{eff}}/\kappa_d$ are now compared to full 3D simulations for a set of device structures and dimensions. The mathematical models of Bilotti and Andrews are seen to inaccurately represent the effective conductivity for the case of an ICT embedded in finite passivation (Figure 6.10). κ_{eff} is underestimated in Bilotti's model and overestimated in Andrews' model, which is expected since the models represent two extreme cases of no passivation (Bilotti) and infinite passivation (Andrews), with the former removing heat conduction paths (reducing thermal conductance), and the latter doing the exact opposite.

For the purpose of obtaining an improved conductance model, this study derives a semiempirical model that combines the two aforementioned mathematical models and develops a combined model that accurately represents conductance from ICTs with finite passivation thickness, t_p). The combined model bridges the range of t_p between the Andrews and Bilotti models and presents a more accurate effective conductivity for a real ICT that has a finite passivation thickness. Given that the model should converge to Bilotti at $t_p = 0$ and to Andrews' at $t_p = \infty$, and as observed from an initial set of numerical simulations, an exponential variation has been used to model the variation of κ_{eff} with t_p . Presented in (6.16) is an exponential relation of κ_{eff}/κ_d , referred to in this text as the combined 2D model. The exponential variation is seen to depend on the shape factors t'_p , w' and the fitting exponential coefficient ζ .

$$\frac{\kappa_{d,eff}}{\kappa_d}\Big|_C = \frac{\kappa_{d,eff}}{\kappa_d}\Big|_A \cdot \left(1 - e^{-\zeta \frac{t'_p}{w'}}\right) + \frac{\kappa_{d,eff}}{\kappa_d}\Big|_B \cdot e^{-\zeta \frac{t'_p}{w'}}$$
(6.16)

Adding the passivation thickness dependency improves the accuracy of the 2D model

appreciably (Figure 6.10). A set of thermal simulations is conducted for a thermally long interconnect with dimensions w, t, t_p and compared with the combined reduced model. The results of the reduced model are seen to closely estimate the simulation results, and a final tuning is performed for the fitting parameters from Bilotti, Andrews, and the exponential ζ (Figure 6.10). The optimal values are obtained as follows and are close to literature values (reported for the Andrews model) [12, 40]. The results of the reduced model (red symbols in Figure 6.10) provide an estimate of the simulation results with an accuracy of within 2%, compared to as much as 20-40% error for the Bilotti and Andrews reduced models.

$$B^* = 0.944$$

 $\alpha = 1.553$
 $\beta_1 = -0.726$
 $\beta_2 = -0.067$
 $\zeta = -1.43$

Using the optimized fitting parameters the finalized model (6.16) can be presented graphically (Figure 6.11) for different widths and passivation thickness shape factors ($w' = w/t_i$ and $t'_p = t_p/t_i$).

As observed in Figure 6.11, κ_{eff}/κ_d is always higher than 1, since 1D heat conduction is the most conservative conductance model. The heat spreading effect increases conductance by at least 20% within (w' < 5), and could exceed 100% for narrower ICTs ($w/t_i < 1.5$). For wider ICTs with $w/t_i < 1.5$, the effect of passivation is no longer significant and κ_{eff}/κ_d gradually approaches 1 for thermally wide resistors. Moreover, the Andrews model is seen to accurately model the cases for which $t_p/t_i > 8$, whereas the Bilotti model does better for cases with $t_p/t_i < 0.25$.

The implications of this result for BEoL designers is significant in that it points to the facts (a) that there is now a fast estimate for the effective thermal conductance from an active ICT which is more closely related to the physics and hence much less conservative (b) that



Figure 6.10. Comparison between the newly developed combined model and the simulation results, the models of Bilotti and Andrews are also shown for each case to highlight the improvement of using the combined model.

narrower ICTs' temperature rise is not as significant as would have been thought previously, and (c) accounting for the presence of additional passivation introduces an improvement in the total thermal conductance. Understanding how the thermal conductance can be improved in relation to other physical parameters the allowable electrical activation levels can be safely —from a thermal perspective— extended without requiring additional costs or bulkier ICTs, and without the need for extensive computations or conservative models.

6.6. 3D Compact Model Results

A similar approach to the previous section is presented to verify the developed 3D compact model (Section 6.3). The reduced modeling results will be verified against numerical simulations to ensure that results agree given the same defined input parameters for the simulations and the reduced model. Experimental thermal maps of activated sample devices of similar test structures were initially used to validate the numerical simulation model that will in turn be used to verify the reduced 3D model.



Figure 6.11. Combined model chart showing effective conductance $\kappa_{d,eff}/\kappa_d$ from an ICT of width w, insulation thickness t_i and passivation thickness t_p , all of which are denoted in the added schematic. The Bilotti and Andrews cases show the extreme effects of, respectively, ignoring passivation or making it infinite.

6.6.1. Validating Simulations with Thermal Maps

To initially validate the simulations, test device structures are thermally mapped using the T°Imager thermal imaging system described in Section 6.5.1. Simulation models that are representative of the test structures are validated for three different device configurations, consisting of a suspended ICT at level 1 (Poly) with via connections to two contact leads at level 2 (MET Level) (Figure 6.12 a). A transversely-running "sense" lead when present is located at level 2. The "sense" is inactive in one case, and active in the other (Figure 6.12 b). The devices are activated at a certain current density J and thus are Joule heated, resulting in an axial temperature rise profile.

From each of the performed thermal maps, the temperature rise is obtained by averaging over a central region in the resistor away from the edges to avoid the via cooling/heating effects. The temperature variation across the width of the micro-resistor is neglected and



Figure 6.12. Schematic showing the resistive network configuration for a) an polyresistor ICT in Level 1 between two via connections to contact leads in the higher MET level, and b) the same configuration with a "sense" lead in the MET layer with the cross coupling. The resistive network that connects the device components is also shown in an overlay that shows the thermal resistance coupling of the different features (entry, via, and cross resistance).

the lumped approach is assumed because the thermal conductivity of the resistor material is much larger than the neighboring oxide medium.

The heating or cooling of the resistor's entrance region around the via is dependent on their materials' relative electrical resistivity ρ_0 . For Poly resistors, most of the heat is generated in the higher resistivity Poly. The Tungsten vias conduct some of that heat to the contact leads, cooling the edge regions of the resistor. On the other hand, Tungsten is more resistive than AlCu and thus volumetrically generates more heat for the same current density and thus heats up the entrance regions around the vias. As a last observation, the contact leads are also of AlCu composition and thus experience similar heating density as the AlCu resistor, showing a temperature rise comparable to that of the micro-resistor. These cooling/heating effects can bias our measurements, therefore the edge regions are avoided when measuring the Joule heating temperature rise of the resistors.

It is important to point out that simulation accuracy is always as good as that of the input

parameters for the simulation model, such as the effective thermal conductivity values, which consider the interface resistance effects. For thin films, these parameters often differ from the bulk values and require in-situ measurements with special sample fabrication. A small variation from the actual values could lead to error in experimental validation. Given that ballpark values reported in the literature are used, the experimental validation discrepancies are satisfactory and show good agreement. In the next section, the reduced model will be compared to the simulation models with identical defined input thermal parameters. In this manner, any discrepancies that would arise in comparison would be the result of using reduced models, and not due to mismatch in the input parameters.

The test structures are thermally mapped to validate their representative simulation models. The resistor and sense lead are activated with a current of 30 mA and 250 mA, resulting in a Joule heating rate Q'_x of 0.945 and 0.625 mW/µm, respectively. The actual device dimensions and experimental power levels are faithfully represented in the simulations.

The thermal simulations are conducted for the three cases of a) an active resistor with no sense lead, b) an active resistor with an inactive sense lead, c) and an active sense lead with an inactive resistor. The temperature is extracted from a central axial trace along the resistor-contact leads averaged across a 5 μ m centered width. The results from both experimental and simulation temperature profiles are extracted and compared in Table 6.6.1. Row (1) shows the thermal maps obtained using thermoreflectance imaging, row (2) shows the thermal profiles obtained from the simulation models, and row (3) presents a comparison between the temperature traces of the experimental measurements and of the simulation model. When the sense lead is present (case (B) and (C)) a 10 μ m portion of the resistor lead lies beneath the sense lead and is inaccessible to the optical measurement method. For that reason, the central 10 μ m portion of the trace in subfigure (3.B) and (3.C) corresponds to the sense lead. Moreover, the chemical-mechanical planarization (CMP) process utilized a dummy fill pattern, clearly seen in (1.C) which covers most of the wafer surface, but is intentionally designed to keep a small region around the device exposed for optical access.

The simulation results for the three cases are compared to the experimental measure-

Table 6.1. Temperature axial distribution along the resistor lead showing heating in the activated region and the cross coupling between the resistor and the sense lead. The three graphs show the single resistor configuration (Left), the active resistor with a cross coupled sense lead (Middle), and the active sense lead atop an inactive resistor (Right). Row (1) showing experimental thermal map, row (2) showing simulation thermal map, and row (3) showing a comparison between temperature distributions along the axial direction from the experimental data (Symbols) and the numerical data (Solid lines).



ments in row (3). The simulation results are in close agreement with the observed thermal maps. The oxide effective conductivity that matches the observed temperature distributions is obtained at $\kappa_{d,eff} = 1.07 \ W/m.K$, which is within an expected range for thermally grown oxide (TEOS). In (3.A), the central region shows some distortion due to the presence of a very thin sense lead that is neglected, but however, results to edge distortion effects in the experimental trace. Regarding the contact lead, only a small section is exposed from underneath the CMP fill pattern. The measurement setup is optimized to detect the temperature rise from the resistor material and thus has a low sensitivity to the contact leads heating, which, along with a small ΔT signal, lead to high uncertainty in the contact lead measurements. In (3.B) the temperature is seen to closely estimate the heating in the resistor as well as the mutual heating to the sense lead, which is extracted from the exposed sense portion that is not covered by the CMP fill pattern.

6.6.2. Verifying 3D Reduced Model with Simulations

The reduced 3D model is compared to the experimentally-validated simulation model. The tested structures consist of sample ICT components in the configurations of Figure 6.12 (b) under three different activation setups. The iterative error converges within a few iterations, where the residual error drops below 1.5% after 5 iterations, below 0.01% after 10 iterations, and below 0.002% after 20 iterations. The results presented in Table 6.6.2 are obtained with high computational efficiency where the model is solved and plotted in less than one second.

The results of row (1) initially show that the reduced model closely estimates ΔT_{max} in the thermally developed regions, which is expected after validating the 2D model in Section 6.2. Moreover, the model succeeds in representing entrance effects, as well as the conduction through the vias and the cross configuration with the respective $\lambda_{H,i}$, as well as succeeds in calculating the node temperatures ΔT_n to build the temperature distributions in each of the leads. However, some discrepancies are observed, where secondary effects contribute to deviations from the simulation results, seen clearly in regions denoted by (M), (N), and

Table 6.2. Comparison between temperature trace of simulation results (Dashed) and approximate model (Solid) for Resistor lead (Blue), Sense Lead (Green), and Contact Leads (Red). (1) shows the results for the initial model without global heating effects. (2) results with global heating (3) results with global heating and corrected cross model The three rows present the original model and two later modifications that are implemented based on presented observations and discussions. The first column (A) shows the case of an active resistor, the second column (B) shows the case of an active sense lead with an inactive resistor, while the third shows the case for active sense and resistor leads.



(P). These discrepancies are observed in two main regions and are thus associated with two aspects of the model.

The first observation can be clearly inferred from the contact leads in (row 1) where there appears to be a temperature bias due to an additional uniform/global heating in the simulations. This could be due to the thermal resistance of the substrate which is not modeled by the 3D reduced model, and thus the simulation temperature does not decay to zero. Note that the contact leads are active whenever the resistor leads are active, but due to a much lower resistivity, exhibit negligible heating in comparison. By adding the global heating effect, the mutual heating between the different leads can be modeled, resulting in closer temperature estimates as shown in Table 6.6.2 row (2). A quick simulation investigation shows that the temperature decays to a global temperature between 3 to 7% of the ΔT_{max} depending on the lead width. More complicated models can be used to estimate mutual heating between neighboring active ICTs, however, the temperature is seen to sharply decay a few microns away from an active ICT and only the global heating effect persists.

The second discrepancy in the reduced model is observed in the cross region where the model used from [40] is seen to inaccurately represent the heating in our studied configuration. The temperature is seen to be underestimated in the model, which could be due to inaccuracies in the cross resistance ($R_{th,cross}$) or the ground resistance ($R_{Bil.}$) of the lower ICT. To improve the result agreement, the cross model is corrected where the coefficient of $R_{th,cross}$ in 6.15 is changed from 3/2 to 15/13, and $R_{Bil.}$ is corrected by a factor of 2/3. The improved model results are presented in row (3) of Table 6.6.2, with more accurate approximations of the cross temperature distribution for the three instances of activations.

By implementing the above improvements, the model is seen to give closer estimates to the temperature profiles of the studied configuration while accounting for edge conduction and cross coupling effects. The model could be improved further by considering more of the secondary heat conduction paths in the model to get more accurate representations of λ_h and ΔT_{max} , which would increase the model's complexity.

It is crucial to note that the reduced model is able to reach a solution in less than one

second for our test structure. This is at least two orders of magnitude faster than the ultrafast computations conducted by T°Solver, which in turn is another two orders faster than traditional/commercial thermal software engines. To model complex 3D microelectronic devices, the T°Solver multi-grid self-adaptive engine is highly effective and practical, and would give highly accurate representation of the thermal response. However, the engine may not be as convenient for a BEoL stage with large scale integration (VLSI and ULSI) consisting of millions of individual ICTs. For that reason, the reduced model would be the only feasible solution for a fast thermal tool for reliability assessment of IC BEoL grids. The 2D and 3D models are implemented in an easy to use GUI for initial assessments (Figure) and can be integrated in future work to other simulation softwares

6.7. Conclusions

This study presented a reduced thermal model based on mathematical derivation for the 2D heat conduction for ICTs in BEoL stack. The 2D is validated against thermal measurements and numerical simulations, and is later used with the lossy wire model to develop a reduced 3D (2D+1D) model to account for edge conduction effects to vias, and mutual heating effects in cross configurations. The numerical model is based on resistive circuits that are solved with fast analytical computations and few iterations to reach a steady state thermal response of an ICT network. The presented method is more accurate than the currently applied reduced models based on Andrews or Bilotti, and can provide a full 3D thermal characterization with a fraction of the time and computational cost of full thermal models. The 3D reduced model is verified and compared to simulation results for a simple geometry of BEoL device samples, which is in turn validated with experimental thermal maps of specially fabricated BEoL device samples. The reduced thermal model finally can be expanded and integrated into already existing BEoL layout softwares to serves as a fast thermal check for grid networks to ensure reliable operation within thermally safe limits.



Figure 6.13. Graphical user interface for 2D reduced model built in MATLAB GUIDE. The interface shows input electrical and thermal parameters for an isolated interconnect, and provides the allowable current density levels. The model also reports on the effective thermal conductivity of the surrounding dielectric.


Figure 6.14. Graphical user interface for the 3D reduced model built in MATLAB GUIDE. The interface shows input electrical and thermal parameters for an isolated interconnect as well as the dimensions of the interconnect and its location within the BEoL stack. The model provides the allowable current density levels as well a temperature distribution along the length of each interconnect segment. The insert graph shows the overlaid temperature of the test samples used in this study.

Chapter 7

Standardized Heat Spreader Design for Passive Cooling of Interconnects in the BEOL of

ICs

The ability of accessible thermal investigation at the sub-micron scale not only allows to improve on the available models and technologies, but also opens the possibility to develop advance thermal management strategies that were infeasible to validate and at scales that were previously inaccessible. With advanced capabilities in experimental and numerical methodologies, thermal solutions should no longer be limited to the system level and can be designed and integrated at the device (front-end) and integration level (back-end) to maximize their thermal cooling benefit.

The Back-End components of integrated circuits (ICs), being susceptible to self-heating deteriorating effects due to the microscale interconnects carrying large current densities, require innovative passive cooling strategies. This Chapter investigates the cooling effect of the high conductivity metalization fill that is used in conjunction with the Chemical Mechanical Planarization (CMP) process. Thermal simulation models are developed for a three-level BEOL stack and then validated experimentally using high resolution thermal imaging. A coupled approach is used to optimize the numerical model and fully characterize the BEOL embedded passive cooling solution. Results indicate that stricter thermal constraints are present for devices higher in the BEOL stack, and exhibit the highest cooling potential from the use of CMP fill in the underlying metal (MET) layers. As a thermal improvement strategy for such thermally-critical interconnects, a CMP fill based cooling solution is presented by modifying the fill pattern in order to maximize heat dissipation within the BEOL. The resulting heat spreader design achieved up to 30% reduction in temperature for 10 µm-wide interconnects, and can reach 43% for narrower interconnects. The gained cooling makes it possible to extend the activation limits of interconnects by 15% and 25%, respectively. experimentally validated HS simulation model is used to conduct parametric analysis for a range of interconnect dimensions with an eye on standardizing the HS design within the BEOL stage of ICs.

7.1. Introduction

As presented in Chapter 6, the BEOL stage of an Integrated Circuit (IC) microchip consists of interconnects that relay signals between, and distribute power among the frontend devices. These interconnects are activated at high current densities and surrounded by a highly thermally resistive dielectric medium (Inter-layer ILD, or Pre-metal PMD dielectric), which causes critical self-heating [16]. This makes BEoL interconnects more prone temperature-induced exponential reduction in lifetime as a result of Electro-Migration (EM) failures.

Fortuitously, a procedure used during the BEOL fabrication stages replaces a portion of the mentioned insulating medium with high thermal conductivity metalization (MET) fill, and can hold vast cooling potential in reducing operating temperatures in the BEoL. When fabricating the multiple MET levels of the BEOL, a Chemical-Mechanical Planarization (CMP) process is applied to ensure that a level surface is available for the deposition of the next higher dielectric and MET layers [120, 135, 273] (Figure 7.1). A generic CMP process introduces two major challenges in the form of surface defects associated with thickness loss in the metal and in the dielectic regions (referred to as "dishing" and "erosion", respectively) [186, 275].

As a proposed solution to reduce the above surface defects, a dummy MET fill pattern incorporated within the dielectric region of the MET layer helps improves surface homogeneity and increases fabrication yield [36]. This pattern of metallic fill has been shown to add some parasitic electrical effects such as capacitance coupling and signal delay [94,124] as well as a visible increase in thermally-induced mechanical stresses [123]. However, from a heat transfer perspective, the fill material is of high thermal conductivity, which compensates for the



Figure 7.1. a) Schematic showing stages of CMP fill fabrication process with a newly deposited MET layer (top) a deposited dielectric layer for interconnect passivation (middle) and after CMP process provides a level surface for deposition of next layer (bottom). b) Snapshot of BEoL sample device showing microresistor element and contact leads surrounded by the square CMP fill patterns. An exclusion zone around the device is used for optical access to the device.

poorly conductive dielectric and in turn enhances the effective thermal conductance within the BEOL stack. As a result, the CMP fill could serve as a local heat-spreading medium within the BEOL which reduces operating temperatures of BEoL active components and thus improves their reliability.

Thermal studies on the cooling effect of CMP fill are lacking by comparison to those on the thermal characterization of BEOL interconnect [246,251]. Chiang et al. [252] and Nguyen et al. [183] studied the cooling effects of vias in enhancing heat transport from interconnects, and using a similar approach, they studied the impact of dummy thermal vias. The effect of dummy vias is similar to that of a CMP dummy fill, except that the fill density, spacing, and locations of the vias are different from those of the CMP pattern. Datta et al. [68] performed simulations to assess what thermal improvements the CMP fill pattern might have on the heat conductivity and in temperature planarity. Their study considered different fill pattern densities and different inter-layer dielectric (ILD) materials (air, polymer, SiO₂). However, only a single level of interconnects was considered and no validations with actual device measurements were presented.

In the first part of this study, we present the results of a numerical investigation of the thermal effects of incorporating CMP dummy fill into the BEOL stack for different interconnect dimensions and locations in the BEOL (Section 7.2). The model is an extension of the one presented in Chapter 6 and thus the experimental validation holds for the samples with the CMP fill. After this first numerical assessment of the cooling potential of the high-conductivity MET fill, we present in the second part an investigation of an improved fill pattern designed to serve as a heat spreader (HS) solution in the vicinity of thermally-critical interconnects. The HS design aims at effectively dissipating the generated heat locally from the active interconnects, and thus relieving some of the deteriorating self-heating effects (Section 7.3). Afterwards, we present a coupled approach that uses experimentally observed thermal maps of specially-fabricated devices featuring the proposed HS in order to drive an optimization method that validates the the thermal simulation model we sought to develop. This coupled approach makes it possible to overcome uncertainties in the standard thermal properties used as numerical input parameters and thus yields an experimentally-validated thermal model that can be finally used with confidence for conducting wider-ranging parametric studies. In Section 7.3.4, we use the validated and experimentally-calibrated thermal model to design a candidate HS for optimal cooling solution for interconnects of different dimensions in thermally critical locations in the BEOL. The final outcome is a general BEOL cooling solution that could be standardized and integrated in the initial design process of the BEOL of ICs.

7.2. Thermal Simulation Model

To first assess the added cooling effect of the metallic CMP fill in the BEOL stack, a numerical model representative of a three MET layered BEOL stack (Figure 7.2) is developed. The simulation model is built in T°Solver[®], which is a thermal modeling software specifically designed for IC structures with advanced capabilities that provide ultra-fast simulations with a self-adaptive, multi-grid meshing approach essential in handling large variations in spatial



Figure 7.2. *a*) Device illustrations as seen from the top view. *b*) Schematic of the three-level BEOL stack showing the resistors devices with the contact and sensing leads (solid color), and the CMP fill regions (hatched color) at the three MET levels: Level 1 Poly (Left), Level 2 AlCu (Middle), Level 3 AlCu (Right).

and temporal scales [205, 262].

The modeled device structure consists of three microresistor devices embedded at three different levels in the BEOL. The interconnects are 1, 3, and $10\mu m$ wide and located at each of the three metalization levels in the stack. Level 1 is made of Polysilicon (Poly) material and is at lowest level, closest to the substrate surface. Levels 2 and 3 are the two higher metalization layers and are both made of an Aluminum Copper (AlCu) alloy.

The CMP dummy fill patterns are fabricated through the same metalization process as the remaining features at each MET layer (Figure 7.3). Consequently, the fill is located at the same levels as the interconnects, are of the same thickness as the MET features, and are composed of the same material as the layer that they are located within (i.e., Poly in Layer 1, and AlCu in Layers 2 and 3). The patterns are blocked within a "keep-off" distance around device components such as interconnects, micro-resistors, contact leads, and vias to provide optical access for thermal imaging.

Since modeling the complex patterned fill directly would require a large computational effort, and since the multiple interface resistances between the fill material and the oxide



Figure 7.3. a) Top view intensity map of a sample device under test (DUT). The center resistor is at level 1 and surrounded by the CMP fill square pattern. Two contact leads are seen at both resistor ends a central sensing lead is running transversely above the resistor. More CMP fill is also seen at the higher levels of the BEOL stack; b) Top view showing fill pattern unit cell dimensions and in-plane heat transfer path. c) Equivalent thermal resistance circuit model for calculating in-plane effective thermal conductivity. d) Side view of CMP fill pattern unit cell and heat conduction path e) Equivalent thermal resistance circuit model for through-plane thermal conduction. density w_f^2/w_d^2 .

medium are unknown, an initial thermal study is conducted assuming a homogeneous fill medium with equivalent effective thermal properties. A representative thermal resistance circuit analysis (Figure 7.3) is used to obtain the effective in-plane thermal conductivity $(\kappa_{ip,eff})$ and through-plane conductivity $(\kappa_{tp,eff})$ of the fill lattice structure. The effective conductivities are calculated using (7.1) and (7.2) for a square pattern fill of side width w_f and conductivity κ_f in a dielectric unit cell of width w_d and conductivity κ_d . A detailed derivation is given in the Appendix.

$$\frac{\kappa_{ip,eff}}{\kappa_d} = 1 - \frac{w_f}{w_d} + \left(\left(\frac{w_d}{w_f} - 1\right) + \frac{\kappa_d}{\kappa_f}\right)^{-1}$$
(7.1)

$$\frac{\kappa_{tp,eff}}{\kappa_d} = 1 - \left(1 + \frac{\kappa_f}{\kappa_d}\right) \left(\frac{w_f}{w_d}\right)^2 \tag{7.2}$$

The effective material density and specific heat are obtained from a volume average for the square pattern fill and defined in (7.3) and (7.4). As shown in Figure 7.3, the CMP fill occupies a square region of width $w_f = 2\mu m$ in the square dielectric lattice of width $w_d = 3\mu m$, resulting in a fill volumetric ratio of $w_f^2/w_d^2 = 44\%$.

$$\frac{c_{p,eff}}{c_{p,d}} = 1 - \frac{w_f^2}{w_d^2} \left(1 - \frac{c_{p,f}}{c_{p,d}} \right)$$
(7.3)

$$\frac{\rho_{eff}}{\rho_d} = 1 - \frac{w_f^2}{w_d^2} \left(1 - \frac{\rho_f}{\rho_d} \right) \tag{7.4}$$

Three device models are built to represent the active interconnects at the three BEOL levels. The temperature rise is extracted from the simulation results and the allowable activation rate is calculated for each of the devices of the varying widths and at the different levels in the BEOL. The simulation results reported here for comparison are in the form of the allowable heat generation flux $Q'(mW/\mu m)$ instead of the allowable electrical activation since the different materials have distinct electrical conductivities and the heat generated rate is not equal for a given current density J_{RMS} .



Figure 7.4. Simulation results of heat generation limit for an allowable temperature rise (ΔT) of 15 °C for interconnects at the three MET levels as function of device (resistor) width.

The simulation results (Figure 7.4) are presented for the allowable heat generation flux for the different device widths, and at the three BEOL levels. A first observation reveals a reduction in the allowable activation level for wider interconnects. As the width increases, the generation region widens and heat initiating in regions farther away from the interconnect edges become more challenging to dissipate laterally. Lateral heat dissipation adds more cooling to narrower interconnects and thus increases their allowable activation level [216].

Moreover, the location in the BEOL also affects self-heating of interconnects. At higher locations (higher in the stack) in the BEOL, activated interconnects are separated from the substrate by a thicker layer of oxide, increasing the thermal resistance and thus elevating the operating temperatures for a given electrical activation. This further limits the allowable activation levels for devices higher in the stack if a maximum temperature is not to be exceeded. This is evident from the lower allowable heat flux for Level 3 as compared to Level 2 and Level 1. This hierarchy is an unfortunate direct opposition to the actual BEOL electrical design requirements, where more power is delivered at the higher levels. The limitation in the allowable activation levels would thus require more critical thermal management or bulkier conductive materials at the higher BEOL levels to reduce electrical resistance and self-heating, which then adds to the fabrication costs.

Table 7.1. Percent reduction in self-heating temperature rise within the BEoL interconnects, and the percent increase in allowable current density (J) and heat flux (Q') showing the cooling effect of the CMP Dummy Fill (*) at different levels of the BEoL.

	$\frac{\Delta T - \Delta T^*}{\Delta T}; \frac{Q^{,*} - Q'}{Q'} (\%)$	$\frac{J_{RMS}^* - J_{RMS}}{J_{RMS}} (\%)$
Level 1	3	1.5
Level 2	16.5	9.5
Level 3	20	13

The CMP fill pattern has a visible cooling effect as seen from the dashed lines in Figure 7.4. The generated Joule heat in the interconnects has to dissipate from the generation region in the microresistor to the heat sink in the substrate through the highly resistive dielectric material. The fill pattern in the intermediate MET levels improves the thermal conductivity of the dielectric medium and results in a higher cooling effectiveness for Levels 2 and 3, reducing their temperature rise during operation by around 16.5% and 20% respectively. For the case of Level 1, no CMP fill is present in the dielectric medium separating the micro-resistor from the substrate, thus resulting in only 3% cooling and is attributable to the surrounding CMP fill. The cooling rates and the consequent increase in allowable activation levels are summarized in Table 7.1. The reported values from the simulations assume ideal thermal contact between the fill pattern and the dielectric medium and thus may be overestimated. In the actual case, interface effects would add more thermal resistances thus reducing the cooling effectiveness of the fill pattern. This first study is to assess possible cooling effects of the CMP fill in ideal conditions. A more accurate approach is presented in Section 7.3 where in-situ testing results are matched with the simulations to provide an experimentally-validated numerical model.

7.3. Heat Spreader Design

The CMP fill pattern is seen to improve the heat conductance, and shows promising cooling potential for thermally critical interconnects at the highest location in the BEOL stack. In the following part of the study, this observed thermal cooling effect is utilized for assessing the design of a heat spreader to cool devices at MET Level 3. The choice of Level 3 is justified since the highest level is most susceptible the self-heating, and since the highest cooling efficiency of the CMP pattern is observed at that level. The CMP fill pattern is thus modified and a heat spreader (HS) design is proposed for the effective passive cooling of BEOL interconnects.

In Section 7.3.1, sample devices of the proposed HS design are specially fabricated and their temperature rise is measured through thermoreflectance microscopy. The cooling effect is observed experimentally and used for the validation of a simulation model in Section 7.3.2. An iterative approach is used to iterate for uncertain model input parameters and to match the observed experimental and numerical results, which are presented and discussed in Section 7.3.3. As a result, the model obtained faithfully represents the actual device's thermal behavior and can then be used for additional parametric design studies. As an example, a parametric study for determining the optimal heat spreader dimensions is presented in Section 7.3.4.

7.3.1. Temperature Measurements of Sample Devices

The proposed pattern design for the heat spreader shown in Figure 7.5 consists of an array of thin, closely-packed, and transversely-running metal lines that would improve the through-plane and lateral heat dissipation. Referred to as heat spreading, this secondary heat flow distributes the generated heat in a direction perpendicular to that of the primary heat flow running from source (resistor) to sink (substrate). This allows the heat to be spread out to a wider region and thus reduces the operation temperature of the device.

The width of the HS metal lines are 0.5 μm and spaced apart at 0.5 μm . The array patterns are located at the first (Poly) and second (AlCu) MET levels and will serve as



Figure 7.5. Schematics showing the design configurations of the microresistor BEOL devices: a) without the heat spreader and b) with the heat spreader. c) The actual device under test intensity image as obtained by the camera. The top row shows the narrow HS configuration while lower part shows the wide HS configuration. d) Side view showing the schematic of the HS features at the different levels of the BEOL e) Top view showing the staggered array structure of the Poly and AlCu lines beneath the resistor.

a heat spreader for cooling the devices in the highest and most thermally critical region of Level 3. The interconnect representative device is a 10 μm wide micro-resistor, chosen since the widest interconnects are the most thermally constrained. Two variations of the HS design are tested and shown in Figure 7.5. The first is a 10 μm wide HS configuration (narrow) same as that of the activated microresistor, while the second is a $w = 52.6 \ \mu m$ wide HS configuration extending almost twice the width beyond the microresistor in each direction. The two designs will assess the heat spreading effectiveness of the HS in reducing the operating temperature rise, both through enhancing the transverse and the through-plane heat conduction.

7.3.2. Experimentally Validated Thermal Model

A thermal model is built to extract important device thermal characteristics of the measured devices, such as the effective thermal conductivity of the HS array and the separating dielectric layer. The HS arrays are added within the underlying oxide layer and modeled as a uniform block with an effective thermal conductivity, density and specific heat as obtained from a representative thermal resistive network analysis. An intermediate oxide layer is defined between the two HS MET layers with an effective conductivity to also consider the added interface resistances due to stacking. The CMP pattern surrounding the device and the HS is modeled as a uniform fill region with the effective properties as presented in Section 7.2.

In an iterative approach, the input parameters for the simulation model are varied and tuned until the numerical results match the observed experimental thermal response. The simulation model will iteratively run until the RMS error between the observed and computed temperature maps is minimized [208, 211]. In this manner, the model is validated with the experimental temperature maps of the tested devices, and the model parameters are accurate and faithful to the actual device thermal characteristics.

To drive the iterative method, the thermal maps for the activated devices are obtained using the same thermoreflectance methodology detailed in Chapter 2. The temperature rise of the resistor is then compared to the simulation results for the two configurations with and without the embedded heat spreader. The heating rates used for the experimental activation are matched with the heat source definitions in the simulation model.



7.3.3. Simulation and Experimental Results

Figure 7.6. Thermal simulations of activated devices (Right) compared to experimental temperature maps (Left) of device with narrow heat sink (Top) and wide heat sink (Bottom) for a heating rate of 1.54 $mW/\mu m$.

The measured temperature maps for the devices with narrow and wide HS configurations are shown in Figure 7.6 and compared to the corresponding temperature distributions obtained from the numerical model. The temperature rise ΔT averaged in a central region of the resistor is extracted from the thermal maps and the simulation results and plotted against the heat generation rate Q' in Figure 7.7.



Figure 7.7. Temperature rise profile showing cooling effect and the reduction in overall thermal resistance experienced by the 10 μm interconnect in Level 3 for device with a) narrow HS and b) with wide HS

The plot shows a close match between the experimental and simulation results which validates the developed numerical model. By comparing the heating rates $\Delta T/Q'$, the cooling effect can be described for the different configurations. Initial iterative matching is performed for the oxide conductivity for the bare model with no heat sink. The matching results in a conductivity of $\kappa_{d,eff} = 1.4 \ W/m.K$, which is close to reported values for silicon dioxide (SiO_2) . Next, an iterative approach on the narrow HS determines the effective thermal conductivity for the inter-layer dielectric between the two HS MET layers. The matching for the narrow heat sink shows an effective through-plane oxide thermal conductivity drop to about $\kappa_{d,eff} = 0.7 \ W/m.K$. This effective conductivity considers the contact thermal resistances that are added by the multiple interfaces of the HS structure. The matching results are then verified for the wide HS, where the same thermal properties provides matching results with the experimentally observed thermal response of the wide HS device. This validates the numerical model and verifies that the converged input thermal properties are accurate.

The heating rate in Figure 7.7 of the narrow HS design shows an 8.5 % reduction in the overall thermal resistance of the stack from 126.8 $^{\circ}C.\mu m/mW$ to 115.3 $^{\circ}C.\mu m/mW$,

while that of the wide HS design results in a 30.2% reduction from 117 °C. $\mu m/mW$ to 87.9 °C. $\mu m/mW$. The narrow HS case mostly improves the through-plane conductance since the HS is located just beneath the resistor, and the added benefit could be offset by the added interface resistances from stacking the multiple MET layers. The extended HS shows better cooling effectiveness since it improves both the in-plane, as well as the through-plane heat conductance, thus spreading the generated heat to a wider span thus reducing the operating temperature. It is important to note that the cooling is calculated with respect to the base case where the square CMP fill is present. The additional temperature reduction is the added effect of the heat spreader.

7.3.4. Parametric Study

The developed thermal model representing the structures shown in Figure 7.5 is experimentally validated and thus accurately represents the observed thermal behavior of the actual device. The model can thus be used to extract the full 3D temperature distribution and infer the thermal response of embedded features that are otherwise inaccessible with optical surface measurement techniques [211]. Furthermore, the model can be used to conduct more general parametric studies and what-if scenarios to understand the contribution of different parameters in the design, such as geometry, layout, and material. This experimentally-driven iterative modeling thus allows device researchers to perform optimization studies that may otherwise require extensive experimental testing.

As an exhibit of this capability, and since only samples of two HS widths are fabricated for testing, the parametric study chosen is to determine the optimal HS width for cooling of the active interconnect. Using the validated model with the optimized input parameter file, the model is run for the different HS width cases and for cooling a device of different widths. The reduction in operation temperature ΔT , shown in Figure 7.8 (Top), and the increase in allowable activation current density J_{RMS} (Bottom), are reported for the wider HS in comparison to the narrow HS design. The reduction in self-heating by the HS cooling allows the relief of this activation limit by a certain percentage which is presented in the bottom graph of Figure 7.8. The increase in J_{RMS} allowance in this study considers a max temperature rise of 15°C. Since wide HS configurations $(w_{HS} > w_{dev})$ are seen to improve heat spreading, the results are plotted against the excess HS width $w_{ex} = 0.5 \times (w_{HS} - w_{dev})$ which allows to determine what is the optimal HS dimension for a given interconnect width.



Figure 7.8. Cooling effectiveness of different widths of HS for different micro-resistor widths (Top) and the associated percent increase in current density J_{RMS} allowance (Bottom).

As a first observation, any added HS width improves heat spreading, by that reducing self-heating in the interconnects and increasing the allowable activation limits. For our 10 μm resistor, an additional width of 10 μm at each side is sufficient to obtain most of the cooling effectiveness of the HS. In fact, the 30 μm wide HS is sufficient for achieving optimal cooling for all the other narrower microresistors. Another observation is that the HS is less effective for the wider resistors since the HS has to dissipate the heat from a wider generation region. The maximum cooling rates of the HS configurations are summarized for the different interconnect widths in Table 7.2. The above results are reported for the actual thermal response obtained from the experimentally-validated numerical model, and thus offer accurate rates of cooling as would be expected from the actual studied devices.

Width (μm)	$\frac{(\Delta T - \Delta T_N)}{\Delta T_N} (\%)$	$\frac{(J_{RMS}-J_{RMS,N})}{J_{RMS,N}}(\%)$
2	35.5	24.5
4	33.9	23.0
6	30.2	19.7
8	25.9	16.2
10	25.2	15.7

Table 7.2. Maximum Added Cooling and Increase in Allowable Activation Level for the different width Interconnects, as Compared to the Case with Narrow (N) HS Configuration.

After careful validation of the model, other parametrization studies are possible such as determining the location of the HS within the stack height, the spacing of the two MET layers, or even the pattern layout shape to eventually attain an optimal cooling for the more thermally-critical higher level devices of the BEOL.

7.4. Conclusions

This study presents an investigation into the added thermal benefit of incorporating CMP dummy fill into MET layers of the BEOL of ICs. A numerical study and experimental investigation proves that the high fill density improves the heat conductance within the stack, and can offer a passive cooling solution for thermally critical interconnects. By enhancing heat dissipation from active BEOL regions, the operation temperature and thus the degradation rates can be reduced, which improves the BEOL network reliability and lifetime. Moreover, with enhanced thermal management, designers can allocate higher activation levels for ICs or can use less conductive material in order to reduce costs. Finally, the presented investigation tool combines experimentation with numerical modeling to obtain a device accurate thermal model, which can be used to efficiently conduct wider-ranging parametric studies [98, 99] that would otherwise require vast experimental efforts and resources.

Chapter 8

Temperature Induced Switching in NbO_x Current-Controlled Negative Differential Resistance (CC-NDR) Memristive Devices

The previous Chapters have presented technologies where temperature has an adverse effect on microelectronic devices. The thermal characterization techniques were thus applied in conjunction with strategies for thermal management to reduce self-heating and mitigate the degrading effects of elevated operation temperatures. For the technology presented in this Chapter, the thermal effects are not particularly disagreeable but are a major factor in the driving mechanisms behind interesting electrical characteristics, such as those observed in memristive devices. For that purpose, the analysis and modeling of these thermally-driven electrical behaviors cannot occur without a full understanding of the underlying thermal behavior and response of memristive devices.

This Chapter presents a thermal investigation into the response of novel Niobium Oxide based memristors, using the advanced characterization techniques presented earlier. This investigation enables and assists in the development of emerging memristor technologies, which would allow the modeling and integration of the novel devices into functional systems and applications.

8.1. Memristor: the Fourth Fundamental Passive Circuit Element

In addition to the resistor, capacitor, and inductor, a fourth fundamental passive circuit element was postulated by Leon Chua in 1971 by reasoning that there should exist six equations relating each pair of the four fundamental electrical parameters: current *i*, voltage v, charge q, and flux ϕ (Figure 8.1). The fourth equation described memristance behavior which relates the applied flux variation (ϕ) to a change in electric charge distribution (q) through M, to be later described. This equation reduces to Ohm's law for a constant coefficient $M = d\phi/dq$, as current and voltage are the time-derivatives of flux and charge. However, the applied flux varies the charge distribution and thus also changes the material's resistance.



Figure 8.1. The four fundamental passive circuit devices relating the four electrical parameters $(i, v, \phi, \text{ and } q)$.

This activation control over the device's resistance gives the device a non-linear behavior, which is very desirable characteristic in non-linear circuit design, and would otherwise require active circuit elements to reproduce. Fortunately when compared to active circuits, those based on this passive element would then be exceedingly more compact and energy efficient systems. Moreover, the control over the variable electrical resistance provides a memory effect where the device can hold on to its resistance, much like a data storage device, even when the device is inactive. This promotes applications in memory and computing, and thus granting the descriptive term of the passive element as a memory resistance (M) or a "memristor".

Without any actual device implementation of the memristor, later developments observed memristive characteristics in thin oxide layers that experience exceptional behaviors, such as electro-luminescence, electron emission, and most notably variable resistance switching. [69]. Memristive characteristics is observed in transition metal oxides as Negative differential resistance (NDR) behavior in two types, a current-controlled (S-type) and a voltage-controlled (N-type) behavior. The S and N-type terminology refers to the shape of the I-V characteristics curves as shown in Figure 8.2. The S-type NDR exhibits a voltage drop when subjected to a current sweep, while the N-type exhibits a current drop under a voltage sweep. The displayed response depends mainly on the oxide material, with some oxides, such as Tantalum (Ta) and Titanium (Ti) oxides, can exhibit both types of NDR behavior depending on the fabrication process.



Figure 8.2. IV characteristics showing N-type and S-type Negative Differential Resistance (NDR) behavior.

This change in resistance allows different resistive states at different activation levels, thus allowing for bistable switching, as well as inducing a resistance change which could be sustained in the device. This sparked an interest in developing multiple transition-metal oxide based devices for applications in non-volatile memory and neuromorphic computing technologies.

8.2. Transport phenomena in Thin Oxides

The major transport mechanisms identified for the observed electrical response in memristors are 1) the electric field induced Frenkel-Poole conduction and 2) the Joule heating induced Mott insulator-metal transition. Frenkel-Pool conduction (PFC) is driven by trapped electrons which are loosened from their localized states to the conduction band under the application of a high electric field. Higher thermal energy enhances this mechanism as excited electrons have more energy to escape to the conduction band and contribute to electrical conduction. The thermal effect renders this mechanism non-linear in nature and the effect is most dominant at moderate temperatures of around 500 K [238].

Temperature induced insulator to metal transition, also known as Mott transition, is another mechanism attributed to the NDR behavior. The transition occurs at comparatively higher temperatures than PFC, that can be reached under thermal runaway, as the electrical and thermal conductivity of the oxide layer increases with temperature, leading to localization of electrical current and heat generation to a narrow filamentary path (Figure 8.3) which could irreversibly transition to metallic phase if the temperature exceeds that of the Mott transition (≈ 1000 K).

Pt				
_	NbO ₂ I (metal) I	NbO ₂ (insulator)	Nb ₂ O ₅	
Ţ		r _{met}	r _{ch}	
Pt				

Figure 8.3. Metallic filament forms at temperature exceeding the metal-insulator-transition (MIT) temperature ($\approx 1000 \text{ K}$) [196]

Other transport phenomena are also described for insulation material, namely Hopping conduction, Space-charge-limited current (SCL), and Tunneling. However, these phenomena are not dominant for the scale and electrical activation levels studied in this paper.

8.3. Applications of memristor devices

The thin transition-metal-oxide devices portray several electrical behaviors that could be employed in several applications. The bistable switching between high and low resistive states can be used in the development of passive microdevices for switching and diode applications. These devices are based on passive memristive devices and thus require minimal power consumption. Non-linear behavior of the memristive components are also important for non-linear circuit applications and can replicate active components' oscillatory behavior. This study is mainly concerned in NbO_x current-controlled NDR devices which have been mostly implemented in memory and neuromorphic computing applications.

8.3.1. Non-volatile memory

A memristor consists of a medium that exhibits variable resistance depending on the electrical activation at the two electrodes as shown in Figure 8.4. The resistance value persists even after the device is inactive, allowing for the storage of information as a resistance value, instead of binary states. A demonstration in Figure 8.4 presents the basics of operation where the depletion ions, for instance oxygen, is dispersed through the material upon the application of a voltage potential, thus varying the resistance of the oxide channel. This electro-chemical phenomena became the basis for emerging non-volatile technologies such as resistive random access memory (ReRAM) where a crossbar array of memristors could replace present technology of volatile active memory components.

Moreover, this resistance change persists in the memristor device. In some cases the resistance value is sustained by the current flow, thus removing or reversing the electric field would dissolve this channel. For other materials, the device remains in its resistance state once it is switched without the need for continuous electrical current. This behavior is known as 'memory switching' and offers diverse application potential in non-volatile data storage systems.

Another negative differential resistance behavior was observed as an abrupt transition, and also termed 'threshold switching'. The effect has been contributed to one of the two conduction mechanisms, namely Poole-Frankel and Mott transition, which occur at elevated temperatures and accelerated by Joule heating run-off. 'Threshold switching' crosspoint switches where the high or low resistance state can be maintained as long as the suitable activation current is passing through the device.



Figure 8.4. Schematic showing the resistive memory behavior (re-RAM) of transition-metal oxides.

8.3.2. Neuromorphic computing (neuristor)

Technological progress has been for the past decades based on a steady increase in computing power and a decrease in chip production cost. This trend, known as Moore's law, has been slowing down as chips reach their size limit and the cost to sustain the trend becomes more inflated. Even with the most advancements, the most powerful supercomputers have failed to replicate biological intelligence of beings more advanced than a spider and a mouse. [118] Emulating the computing speed and complexity of higher brain functionality is exponentially more complex and power consuming, if the same computing architecture is used. To overcome those limitations, researchers are trying to shift the computing architecture to more efficient and faster methods, with options like quantum and neuromorphic computing in development.

Neuromorphic chips are a crude attempt to design electronic chips that model the functioning of the human brain and mimic human intelligence. The method is based on a densely connected network of components that allows the combined storage and processing of data, replaces traditional architecture, and offers the physical implementation to support neural network software algorithms. This requires processing and storage to be combined at the component level, which is is different from the traditional Von Neumann based approach where the CPU and memory are separated. This interconnectivity at the smallest scales is inspired by actual biological neural networks with components aiming to emulate the activation mechanisms in the neural synapses as shown in Figure 8.6. Memristors have been in consideration for neuromorphic applications for their favorable characteristics. Much like neurons create connections, memristors can change resistance to reinforce a neural node or weaken it. Moreover, CC-NDR memristors can be used for controlled current emission, much like the sodium and potassium ion channels in the synapse. Similar activation response behavior have also been compared by Ju et al. as presented in Figure 8.5 The 'threshold switching' characteristic present in memristors can also mimic all-or-nothing action potential that occurs at the axons of neurons.



Figure 8.5. Activation synaptic behavior in memristors as compared to an actual neuron [118].

Memristors size also allows for large scale integration in crossgrid configurations shown in Figure 8.6. This array has the potential to improve computations by performing highly parallelized execution of the weighted sum computation, or the matrix-vector product, thus solving a bottleneck in CMOS based neuron circuits [86]. With such computing capabilities combining memory, computation and communication, memristor based chips would be able to concurrently process information, learn and adapt from its experiences. These similarities between the artificial and the biological systems reveal the feasibility of neural-based computing systems that would allow us to understand and mimic the highly-efficient biological computing capabilities. [86, 196]



Figure 8.6. Biologically inspired neural networks based on the functioning of the synapse [118].

8.4. Temperature-induced CC-NDR switching characteristics

The mechanisms behind memristor operation has been associated with, and are largely determined by the device temperature. Thus, the thermal aspect is crucial in understanding and modeling the electrical and switching characteristics of the device. The temperature can affect the switching characteristics of the device [6] and Wang et al. even experimentally demonstrated that thermal properties of the device can be used to tune its electrical characteristics [260].

The dominant mechanism behind the distinctive I-V characteristics has been long debated, in particular the snapback switching and the nonlinear resistance change. Kumar [140] examined NbO₂ and found that S-type NDR is caused by current controlled (Frenkel-Poole) conduction and occurs at temperatures of around 400 K, while SB switching is caused by insulator-metal transition (IMT) and occurs at temperatures of around 1000 K. The study presented thermal and chemical spectro-microscopy results as well as simulations. The microscopy results even show the formation of a metallic phase beyond the high temperature IMT switching. Alexandrov [6] studied the similar effect using global heating to determine the temperature effect on the current characteristics in TiO2. The author concluded that a temperature 600 to 650 K is sufficient for TiO₂ transition to anatase phase. These results seem to show conclusive evidence about the dominant switching mechanism, however other researchers have presented differing viewpoints. Gibson [230] showed using a thermal compact model that thermally induced NDR occurs at temperatures of 380 K \approx 400*K*, fairly lower than metal-insulator-transition temperatures (\approx 1000*K*). This was also observed by Wang et al. where the maximum temperature observed from quasi-static electrical modeling does not exceed 300°C, which is well below the MIT temperature of 800°C. [259] Slesazeck [230] also estimated the switching temperature to be around 550 K. The researchers argued that moderate temperature rise of 150 K, well below the MIT temperature, is sufficient for switching. They stating that the Mott transition is not dominant, but can exist in conjunction with the switching if the temperature exceeds the MIT temperature (\approx 1000*K*), and that the low-temperature thermal-feedback mechanism is responsible for the switching.

As there has not been any final consent on the dominant mechanism governing the switching, with low filament temperature (<500 K) or high temperature (>1000 K) pointing to the most presently debated mechanisms of Poole-Frankel and Mott transition respectively, conducting an advance experimental investigation into the thermal characteristics of NDR devices would provide an insight on the controlling mechanisms and allow accurate prediction and modeling of the device behavior. Presented in this chapter, and for the first time, in-situ thermoreflectance imaging and quasi-static current voltage characteristics is used to investigate the thermal mechanism behind snap-back switching in NbO₂ and to validate the previously core-shell model presented by the co-authors. The TR high-resolution thermal maps also provide an estimate of the filament temperature to finally resolve the long-standing controversy of the origins of the NDR characteristics. In addition, TR measurements will be used to validate the model and investigate the effects of stoichiometry, device dimensions, polarity, and temperature on the observed NDR device switching behavior. This would provide a physical basis for understanding and predicting (i.e., modeling) the behavior of the novel device technology.



Figure 8.7. Transmission electron microscopy images showing the metallic phase formed after device switching [140].

8.5. Sample Description and Methodology

The thermal study is performed on Pt-NbOx-Pt crosspoint devices. The devices are fabricated on thermally oxidized Si (100) with a patterned electrode terminals (Figure 8.8) of Pt deposited using e-beam evaporation. The sub-stoichiometric NbO_x is deposited using RFsputtering of an Nb₂O₅ target. The crosspoint devices (metal-oxide-metal (MOM) junctions) are patterned with of different overlap sizes of 2, 5, 10 and 20 µm. Each device consists of a central bottom electrode (BE) that is common for four identical peripheral junctions connected each to a top electrode (TE). Thin deposited electrodes are utilized to minimize their heat absorption and to obtain measurements closest to the actual filament temperature. The different widths will allow the analysis of size effect on the device electrical, thermal, and switching characteristics.

Initial WL scan and test runs revealed that the platinum (Pt) surface material of the electrode has a very low thermo-reflectance response $(C_{TR} < 0.5 \times 10^{-4} K^{-1})$ which lead to a low signal-to-noise ratio SNR.

Prior to utilizing thermoreflectance imaging, collaborators had used the photoresist (PR) cover on the Pt electrode surface to identify the location of the filament formation, indicated by the a burn-through the PR due to the generated hotspot from the localized electrical conduction. In our initial measurements, the PR covered Pt revealed a high TR response, which was beneficial to observe the temperature rise with a good SNR. However, the PR covered electrode was limited to moderate temperature rises since the PR would evaporate and leave surface defects. For that purpose, An initial investigation to observe the temperature rise pre-electroforming, where the observed temperature rise is uniform within the cross-point region, and no hot-spots are present.

Mapping the temperature response post-electroforming would require another approach since the PR would be denatured at the filamentary region and would not be viable for a temperature measurement. To improve the TR response (i.e., better SNR) while having a stable surface for measurement, a thin layer of Gold (Au) is added over the Pt electrode. Gold is known to exhibit a desirable TR response and thus would serve as a "transducer"



Figure 8.8. a) Device structure as seen under $20 \times$ magnification showing the four patterned top and bottom electrodes (TE and BE) and the resulting four cross-point devices. b) Intensity map of crosspoint device under $100 \times$ as seen with the camera under monochromatic illumination. c) Schematic of the crosspoint devices showing the Pt electrodes and the NbO_x thin-film.

layer for the TR measurement [131, 258] providing a higher TR signal.

The sample test structures are thermally mapped using the T°Imager system presented in Chapter 2. The samples are placed on the thermal chuck under an illumination that ensures maximum TR response as determined initially by a WL scan. The devices are mapped with a 50× magnification which provides sufficient resolution for the 5, 10 and 20 μ size devices (pixel size $\approx 0.15 \ \mu$ m).

The devices are activated in-situ (i.e., during thermal mapping) with a current control (CC) activation using the Keithley 2010. Ex-situ electrical measurements (I-V sweeps) are performed independently to characterize the switching characteristics of the devices. The bottom electrode is grounded while forward (positive) or reverse (negative) bias are applied to the top electrode.

Other device characterizations are performed by the collaborators to complement the thermal investigations such as Rutherford backscattering spectrometry (RBS) to measure the NbO_x stoichiometry x, with x directly related to the film electrical resistivity, and X-ray diffraction (GIAXRD) to verify the amorphous crystal structure of the grown NbO_x.

Initially in Section 8.6, the activated temperature profiles are measured with activation levels prior to electroforming. After electroforming, the temperature is later measured with respect to the snapback switching. The method will approximate the electroforming temperature and switching temperature of the memristor and infer the dominant switching mechanism. In Section 8.7, a model is presented to predict the different NDR switching mechanisms based on a thermal-runaway and current bifurcation process. The thermal response behind the observed electrical behavior is presented to verify the reduced electrical model. In Section 8.8, the polarity dependent NDR characteristic is modeled by investigating the Schottky barrier asymmetry in shell resistance. Thermal investigation verifies and correlates the different NDR characteristics with the thermal signature of electrical conduction in the crosspoint device.

8.6. Electric Field- and Current-Induced Electroforming Modes in NbO_x [176]

To establish the memristive behavior in NbO_x devices, one step electroforming is required, during which the crosspoint device is subjected to high current or potential field conditions. This generate a conductive electronic path (i.e. soft dielectric breakdown) which results in the characteristic NDR characteristics.

For NbO_x two modes of EF observed, one being field-induced and another thermallyinduced under high current conditions. The field induced EF relies on high-field electrolytic process that occurs on the oxide/electrode interface by oxidation/reduction reactions and creates a conduction path (Figure 8.9). The second observed mode of EF occurs is current induced and occurs due to current bifurcation and thermal runaway. This occurs since the electrical conductivity of the oxide film increases with temperature, resulting in a feedback mechanism that localizes the current in the regions of higher temperature, and leading to more localized Joule heating. Due to the thermal boundary conditions, the current localization leads to filament generation in a central region of the cross-device, while the field-induced EF results in randomly generated filament formation depending on local electric fields.

The EF mode that occurs for an NbO_x device depends mainly on film conductivity where low-conductivity films (high x \approx 2.6) exhibit field induced EF with oxygen-vacancy filament. High conductivity films with significant current densities (low x \approx 1.92) exhibit sufficient thermal heating within the device which results in transient current-induced filament. correlated by filament formation location, I-V measurements and thermoreflectance imaging. More results and discussion are presented in [176].

To validate the thermally-induced electroforming in high conductivity NbO_x films, thermoreflectance imaging is applied to the a 10 μm test device (high- σ , x=1.99) while activating with increasing current levels. The I-V characteristics and the thermal mapping results (Figure 8.10) reveal that initially, the temperature distribution is broad and rises monotonically with current levels. A snapback response is observed at around 6 mA indicative of an electroforming event while, concurrently, the temperature distribution narrows abruptly and exhibits a large jump in the peak temperature. This peak rise in temperature of around 200



Figure 8.9. Electroforming and filament distributions: (a) electroforming characteristics of a 5 μ m Pt/Nb/NbO2.6/Pt device, (b) electroforming characteristics of a 5 μ m Pt/Nb/NbO1.92/Pt device, (c) schematic representation of filament distribution in a 5 μ m \times 5 μ m cross-point device with low-conductivity NbO_x (x = 2.60) films, (d) schematic representation of filament distribution in a 5 μ m \times 5 μ m cross-point device with high-conductivity NbO_x (x = 1.92) films, (e) schematic of an oxygen vacancy filament formed by the fieldinduced generation, drift, and diffusion of oxygen vacancies, and (f) schematic of a transient current filament due to current bifurcation. Note that each dot in (c, d) represents a single device and the filament distributions represent 75 separate measurements for each film [176].

K is accompanied with a reduction of about 50 K in the region surrounding the filament.

The observed thermal response associated with electroforming and the current bifurcation is also verified using a finite element model of the bifurcation process. A 2D axisymmetric model where the electrical conductivity was governed by Poole-Frenkel conduction supports the experimental observations (Figure 8.11). The model self-consistently solves the heat transfer and current continuity equations. More results and discussion are presented in [176].

The results presented above however do not explain why some devices exhibit S-type or SB-type NDR behavior, and the dependence on device parameters. For that purpose, a lumped electrical model is presented in the next Section to explain the above NDR behaviors.

Initial thermoreflectance results show different heating profiles for the three activation schemes. Before electroforming of the conductive filament, global heating is seen at the electrodes with heating extending to the leads. After the filament forms, localized heating is observed at a central region of the crosspoint. Moreover, observations show that Joule heating in the filament causes a parabolic rise in temperature up to a steady value of around 450 K where switching occurs. At higher activation levels, the thermal maps show that the hot spot changes location and that the peak temperature rise remains constant. Thus any increase in current intensity causes the filament region to expand accommodating the increased Joule heating keeping the temperature uniform. The post-switching temperature correlates well with the values measured by Gibson and Slesazeck [87,230,259]. Another explanation for the dynamic phenomena is that the heating could have evaporated or deformed some material from the electrode or the oxide, thus destroying the filament and causing a new filament to form at another location [18].

8.7. Current Localization and Redistribution as the Basis of Discontinuous Current Controlled Negative Differential Resistance in NbO_x [177]

Beyond the initial electroforming of the crosspoint devices, two distinctive modes of negative differential resistance are observed during a current-controlled activation. The first is characterized by an S shape I-V behavior is denoted as an S-type NDR. The second



Figure 8.10. In situ thermoreflectance measurements: a) in situ (points) and ex situ (line) current-voltage characteristics of a 10 μ m × 10 μ cross-point device with a high conductivity NbO_x (x=1.92) film, and the temperature of the filamentary and surrounding regions of the film (shown by circles in panel b), b) Two-dimensional temperature maps of the top electrode surface for different device currents. The inset shwos a back-scattered electron image of the filamentary region in the oxide film (i.e., after removing top electrode).


Figure 8.11. Finite element simulatio: a) current-voltage characteristics during bidirectional current sweep, b) maximum temperature in oxide film as a function of device current, c) current density distribution before and after bifurcation, d) temperature distribution before and after bifurcation, e) before (point A) and f) after current bifurcation.



Figure 8.12. Core-Shell model and current bifurcation: a) schematic of the CS model of a negative differential resistance device, b) electroforming characteristics of a $5\mu m \times 5\mu m$ device with NbO_x (x-2.22 film), c) electroforming characteristics of a $10\mu m \times 10\mu m$ device with NbO_x (x-2.22 film), d) in situ thermoreflectance maps of $5\mu m \times 5\mu m$ device during electroforming e) in situ thermoreflectance maps of $10\mu m \times 10\mu m$ device during electroforming.



Figure 8.13. Structure of the studied NDR crosspoint device showing snapback switching and saturation of filamentary conduction after current bifurcation.

observed characteristic denoted as a snapback switching (SB-NDR) shows a sudden voltage drop in the I-V sweep beyond a certain threshold (Figure 8.14).



Figure 8.14. I-V characteristics showing a) S-type NDR behavior and b) snapback (SB) NDR behavior. c) model of conductive paths in transition metal oxide (NbO_x) layer showing core and shell with representative electrical resistance. d) representative electrical circuit with constant current source, and the respective resistance of shell and variable resistance (memristor) of core [177].

Extensive I-V measurements are conducted by the authors and has lead to observations that the switching type and threshold values are dependent on crosspoint area, area and temperature. The threshold current and voltage (I_{th} and V_{th}) are extracted from the I-V characteristics as well as the switching mode. Results and the major conclusions are presented in the article [177].

While the origins of S-type behavior in memristive device have been agreed upon, the origins of the SB-type switching remains elusive and controversial. Initially thought to originate from IMT, but the phase transition fails to account for similar SB behavior occurs in other transition-metal oxides such as TaO_x , NiO_x , and in SiO_x . It has been correlated through modeling that the switching behavior is caused by a current redistribution into regions of high and low current density, which served to develop a electrical model to represent the different observed NDR behaviors in NbO_x [145].

From initial observation, the switching behavior of NbO_x based memristors can be described by a mechanism of current localization from two regions with different electrical conductance (Figure 8.14). A thermal runaway behavior due to positive feedback between increase in thermal conductance and electrical conductance leads to a filamentary conduction and a sudden drop in voltage.

The developed electrical resistance model is based on representing two regions, one region of high current localization within the filament (core), and another within the surrounding film (shell) which acts as a parallel resistance to the core. The threshold switching would thus depend on the relative magnitudes of the core NDR and shell resistance, denoted by R_{NDR} and R_S .

The distinct NDR behaviors are then explained by comparing the relative magnitudes of the core and shell resistances.

- 1. If $R_S > R_{NDR}$, the current is localized at the filament and S-type characteristics are observed.
- 2. If $R_S < R_{NDR}$, SB characteristics are observed. Given that R_S depends on conductivity (stoichiometry), area and thickness, then for some critical value of those parameter the device might exhibit a transition from S-type to SB-type NDR

To verify the model presented by the co-authors in [145], some sort of physical investigation is required to observe the current bifurcation and analyze the spatial distribution. For this purpose, the thermal signature within the cross-point device is experimentally investigated to observe the current density distribution during the different experienced NDR behaviors. Three devices, when observed under high-resolution thermoreflectance imaging, helped correlate the observed electrical characteristics with the current localization and redistribution. The devices of three different observed features are presented (Figure 8.15): one with S-NDR and a permanent filament, one with a SB-NDR and permanent filament, and one with SB-NDR without a filament.

- 1. Devices with permanent filaments show localized heating
- 2. Shell temperature for S-NDR increases monotonically with filament temperature
- 3. Shell temperature for SB-NDR decreases while filamentary temperature increases rapidly

Show that snap-back is associated with current localization to a pre-existing filament, or with current bifurcation and the redistribution of current between low and high currentdensity domains [177]. Moreover, the measured highest filament temperature beyond switching does not exceed a few hundred degrees (200 to 400 K rise) and does not reach the Mott temperature needed for metal-insulator transition, verifying that a sustained switching can be achieved without any phase transition.

8.8. Schottky barrier induced asymmetry in the negative differential resistance response of Nb/NbO_x/Pt cross-point devices [178]

The NDR response in Nb/NbO_x/Pt is observed to be dependent on the polarity of the applied potential. This in some cases has resulted in distinct NDR types at the different polarities, in addition to the bipolar S-type and bipolar SB-type. The different NDR behaviors are observed using TR imaging to be associated with strong current localization thus justifying the validity of the developed core-shell model.

To account for the polarity dependence, the contact resistance contributed by the metal/oxide Schottky barrier is added to the model and verified for the observed NDR behavior at different stoichiometric values and device areas. This contact resistance results in an asymmetric R_S which can be designated as R_n and R_p in negative and positive polarity respectively. This asymmetry can lead to three scenarios according to the reasoning presented in the core-shell model:



Figure 8.15. In-situ temperature measurements of S-type and snap-back NDR. a) Currentvoltage (I-V) characteristics and average temperature rise of the filament and surrounding area (the area used for averaging is indicated by boxes in b) as a function of applied current, b) 2D maps of the surface temperature rise in a 5 μ m device operating at 1 mA and 6 mA, c) Temperature (current) localization of S-type NDR in the post-formed device at different current levels as shown in a, d) I-V characteristics and average temperature rise of the permanent filament and surrounding area (indicated by boxes in e) as a function of applied current, e) 2D map of the surface temperature rise in a 10 μ m device at pre-threshold (4mA) and post-threshold (10 mA) currents, f) Temperature (current) localization in a post-formed device at different currents as shown in d (the blue arrow indicates snap-back transition), g) I-V characteristics and average temperature rise of the current filament and surrounding area (indicated by boxes in h) as a function of applied current, h) 2D map of the surface temperature in a 10 μ m device at pre-threshold (4 mA) and post-threshold (12 mA) currents, i) Temperature (current) localization due to current bifurcation in the device without permanent filament as shown in g (the blue arrow indicates snap-back transition) [177].

- 1. $R_p > R_n > R_{NDR}$ results in bipolar S-type
- 2. $R_p > R_{NDR} > R_n$ results in SB in negative bias and S-type in positive bias
- 3. $R_{NDR} > R_p > R_n$ results in bipolar SB-type

These three scenarios are observed when different stoichiometric values and device areas are tested (Figure 8.8)



Figure 8.16. (a-c) Asymmetric NDRs observed in Nb/NbO_{x 1.99}/Pt MOM under positive and negative polarity. (d) Matrix representation of dependencies of NDR on stoichiometry and device area.

"In situ thermoreflectance imaging is performed on $10-\mu m$ NbO1.99 devices to better understand the current distribution during post-forming current sweeps. The results are summarized in Figure 8.8 and include in situ I -V characteristics and the measured temperature distributions for devices subjected to positive and negative bias. Under positive bias the temperature distribution is highly localized in the filamentary region over the entire range of operating currents and the temperature in this region and that of the surrounding film increase monotonically with increasing current. This clearly demonstrates that the resistance of the filamentary path is lower than that of the surrounding device and that the S-type NDR characteristic is dominated by the temperature-dependent conductivity of the filamentary region.

In contrast, under negative bias, the temperature distribution is near uniform at currents below the threshold for snapback and only becomes localized for currents near the threshold value [indicated by the point "F" in Figure 8.8(b)]. At this point the temperature increases abruptly while that of the surrounding area decreases, consistent with current redistribution and localization due to the positive feedback created by local Joule heating, as previously reported [28]. This demonstrates that the resistance of the filamentary region is initially comparable to, or greater than that of the surrounding device, but becomes relatively less resistive as the current increases to the threshold value. Such a change implies that the conductivity of the filamentary region increases more rapidly with temperature than that of the surrounding device. For filaments near the center of the device this may also be facilitated by the nonuniform temperature distribution created by the device geometry [see Figure 8.8(c)]. It is important to note that the extent of the filamentary region is smaller than that of the temperature distribution observed at the top electrode surface due to the high thermal conductivity of the metal electrode [25,28]."

8.9. Thermal Conductivity of Amorphous Sub-stoichiometric NbO_x for Memristors Applications using Transient-Domain Thermoreflectance

Despite of the general understanding of thermal environment during electroforming or switching, the description of the temperature field belying memristors operation remains incomplete due to lack of their thermal properties. Therefore, it is very important to know to



a), b) In situ I -V characteristics of a $10 \times 10 \ \mu m^2$ Au (75 nm)/Nb(5 Figure 8.17. nm)/NbO1.99 (approximately 45 nm)/Pt (25 nm) device showing S-type NDR under positive bias and snapback under negative bias, respectively. Insets show the in situ thermoreflectance $(\Delta R/R)$ maps of the 10×10 μm^2 device during corresponding bias polarity. c) Temperature profile through the filamentary region for different points in the current-voltage curve during positive bias. d) Temperature profile of the same device for different points in the currentvoltage curve during negative bias. Note: the temperature map and the I-V characteristics shown in Figure 3 are also obtained for $5 \times 5 \ \mu m^2$ devices with lower threshold currents, and a snapback response observed under negative polarity and S-type NDR under positive polarity. But in this case, the filament is observed to form around the edges due to the dominance of edge effect in smaller area cross-point devices with a thick (75-nm Au in this case) capping layer [25]. The short-dashed curves in c) and d) represent the experimental data and the smooth lines show Gaussian fits of the corresponding experimental data. A, B, and C denote sub-threshold, threshold, and post-threshold points respectively in the I-V characteristic obtained under positive bias, while D, E, and F denote the same for negative bias polarity [178].

have thermal conductivity values as a function of stoichiometry. However, the computational prediction of their switching dynamic depends or the temperature distribution relies on approximations, as the thermal properties of the NbO_x as a function of stoichiometry (x) have not been investigated.

8.9.1. Experimental Methods

NbO_x dielectric layers of variable composition were subsequently deposited using either RF sputtering of an Nb₂O₅ target in an Ar ambient or DC sputtering of an Nb target in a variable O_2/Ar ambient to deposit sub-stoichiometric NbO_x films. Details of the deposition conditions are given in Table 1.

A gold absorptive/transducer layer with a thickness set to maximize the measurement sensitivity is deposited using electron beam evaporation. The conductivity measurements are conducted using the time-domain thermoreflectance (TDTR) method that provides the thermal diffusivity of a thin film stack in the through plane direction. The Transometer TDTR is used to conduct the conductivity measurements. Details of the TDTR setup and methodology are presented in Chapters 2 and 3. The NbO_x samples are placed on a hotplate with temperature control (Temptronic TP04310) that can vary the sample temperatures between 20 and 180°C for the temperature dependent analysis.

8.9.2. TDTR Results and Discussion	8.9.2.	TDTR	Results	and	Disc	ussic
------------------------------------	--------	------	---------	-----	------	-------

Layer	Ar/O_2 (sccm/sccm)	Power (W)	Pressure (mT)	x in NbO_x
Nb ₂ O ₅	20	180	4	$2.6 {\pm} 0.05$
NbO ₂ .11	19/2	150	2	$2.10{\pm}0.03$
$NbO_2.03$	18.5/1.5	150	1.5	$1.98{\pm}0.04$
NbO ₁ .88	19/1	150	1.5	$1.88{\pm}0.03$

Table 8.1. Deposition conditions for different NbO_x samples

* Layer thickness is function of deposition time



Figure 8.18. a) Schematic representing the Pump-and-Probe setup used to conduct transientdomain thermoreflectance conductivity measurements. b) TDTR normalized response showing the heating and temperature decay profile as measured at the gold surface of the blanket film samples.



Figure 8.19. a) The TDTR response is presented as a function of temperature for the thickest (100 nm) sample. b) Thermal conductivity as a function of temperature for different stoichiometric NbOx films.

At higher temperatures, the total thermal resistance of the sample film decreases and the slope decreases revealing an increase in intrinsic conductivity of the NbO_x sample with temperature, which is observed when κ_i is plotted against T, varying approximately from 1.5 to 1.8 W/m·K. The measured conductivities in this study closely match the improved model by Agne et al [3], as it considers diffusons diffusivity. In regards to interface thermal effects, there is no significant increase with temperature where R_{int} remains at a constant value around 30 m2K/GW.

The thermal conductivity of the sub-stoichiometric NbO_x for the three measured values of x=1.88, 2.03, and 2.11 are reported for the same temperature range between 20 and 180°C (Figure 8.9.2). The intrinsic thermal conductivity for the different samples is seen to increase from around 1.2 - 1.5 W/m.K at 20°C to around 1.8 - 2.5 at a base temperature of 180°C. This increase with temperature is expected and is the basis of the thermal runaway mechanism that occurs in NbO_x crosspoint devices which results in a filament region of higher thermal and electrical conductivity than its surrounding. The thermal conductivity range is within expected range for amorphous NbO_x and shows a lower conductivity than crystalline NbO_x (3-4 W/m.K [54]) due to the amorphous structure of the lattice. The effect of oxygen deficiency is not significant where the room-temperature thermal conductivity and the variation with temperature was similar for the three samples. The effect of oxygen deficiency on thermal conductivity is observed in crystal structures of reducible oxides (such as PrCrO₂ [155], LaSrCoO3 [267]) where reduction of Pr4+ to Pr3+ causes lattice distortion. The direct effect of oxygen is slight since oxygen does not contribute to the mass of the compound.

Chapter 9

Characterization of Temperature Rise in AC Electro-thermal Flow Using Thermoreflectance Method [129]

Thermal concerns mostly related to degradation and premature failure in electronic devices have been the driving motivation for thermal characterization of devices operating under extreme power-density applications. However, in the micro-fluidic application presented in this Chapter, the reliability of the device operation is temperature sensitive instead of the devices itself. An example of a micro-fluidic operation, AC electrothermal flow (ACET) induced by Joule heating is utilized to transport biologically relevant liquids in microchannels using simple electrode designs. The operation is compromised by increasing temperature since the ACET Joule induced temperature rise may result in degradation of the chemical or biological fluidic specimens, and hence, rendering ACET impractical for biomicro-fluidic sensors and other possible applications. For that purpose, strict temperature control and characterization is necessary in micro-sensing applications to ensure a proper functioning, or else unchecked temperature levels may invalidate any sensing measurements.

For the above thermal concerns, the thermoreflectance method is applied in this study to investigate the temperature rise at the electrode/electrolyte interface during ACET flow. The TR imaging setup generally used to thermally map microelectronics systems, so to meet the challenging requirements of imaging within an active microfluidic channel, the method is slightly modified and an innovative approach which has not been previously reported is presented. The experimental findings reveal that Joule heating could result in an excessive temperature rise, exceeding 50°C at higher voltage levels (20 V_{pp}). The measured data are compared with the results of the enhanced ACET theoretical model, which predicts the temperature rise accurately, even at high levels of applied voltages. Overall, our study provides a temperature measurement technique, which is used for the first time for electrode/electrolyte systems. The reported results are critical in designing biomicro-fluidic systems with significant energy dissipation especially for conductive fluids.

9.1. AC Electrothermal Flow for Electrokinetic Actuation of Liquid Media

Microfluidic platforms employed for point-of-care (POC) diagnosis in micro-total analysis systems (μ -TAS) are a great lab-on-chip driver due to their low cost, low power consumption, short analysis time, and their use of minute amounts of sample volumes. Most of the μ -TAS use physiological samples including urine, bile, cerebrospinal fluid, blood, saliva and other biological buffers such as Lysogeny broth, Mueller Hinton broth, phosphate buffer saline, and Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium, where the conductivities of solutions vary from 0.4 to 1.8 S/m [83,153]. Among various techniques, alternative current (AC) electrokinetics represents a promising approach towards the development of a fully integrated μ -TAS where electrodes embedded in micro-fluidic channels are commonly used for electrokinetic actuation of liquid media [24, 70, 139, 265]. AC electrothermal flow (ACET) is a dominant transport phenomenon for operating in high conductive media, and it is applied by the biomicro-fluidics community in the past two decades due to its predictable nature and ease of implementation, while requiring simple electrode structures [71, 188, 229].

ACET flow has been used to enhance the performance of μ -TAS, for instance, when the sensitivity is usually limited by the diffusion of target molecules to the ligand surface [223]. It was utilized to enrich the binding efficiency of on-chip immunoassay biosensors by Li et al., who presented an immunoassay experiment using PBS, which is a conventional solution in most biosensor and high ionic strength biological applications [116]. The ACET mechanism for pumping of cell suspended Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM, $\approx 1.7 \text{ S/m}$) has been investigated by Lang et al. who designed a configurable ACET circulatory pump by switching the voltage over the electrodes [142]. In another study, Lysogeny broth buffer ($\approx 1 \text{ S/m}$) was used as a carrier medium, and the pumping was established by the ACET flow [266]. An ACET micromixer was presented by Cao et al., whose results showed that a mixing efficiency of 98% can be achieved in a microchannel [34]. ACET flow was also

used for active control of ion transport which can find broad applications in improving onchip electrodialysis by inducing thinner ion-depletion layers [189], lowering the microchannel resistance for biosensing at nanoscale [144], and controlling the location of pre-concentrated plug of charged nanoparticles [181, 182]. Besides the aforementioned applications, ACET has been also employed for many diverse fields such as the homogenization of solutions of reagents in biochemical reactions [221], clinical diagnosis [150], and drug delivery [162].

9.2. Temperature Control for ACET Applications

It is of great importance to monitor and control temperature within the micro-fluidic device while utilizing ACET flow as a favorable tool. However, maintaining a relatively low temperature rise is a major challenge for high ionic strength processing, since higher conductivity fluids substantially increase the effects of Joule heating at the electrodes and within the fluid medium. At high conductivities, temperatures beyond a few degrees (T_i10°C) are likely to occur under an applied AC potential of even a few volts. For instance, using PBS of electrical conductivity $\sigma=1$ S/m, the temperature rise could exceed 100°C for the 20 V_{pp} applied voltage depending on the geometry of the system [90, 213]. Therefore, the ACET-induced self-heating must be characterized prior to any electric field excitation to avoid unwanted effects and ensure that ACET is applicable and biologically safe for the required applications [39, 66, 80, 150].

A variety of methods have been employed to measure the temperature of active microelectronic devices. Infrared (IR) thermography is the most widely recognized and is mainly used for macroscale applications. The IR thermal metrology technique measures the amount of thermal radiation emitted from a surface and thus, it requires the surface material to be sufficiently emissive [102, 154]. This renders the method less than advantageous for electronic devices as they contain mostly reflective metallic features that would require special high-emissivity coatings. Moreover, the resolution of IR is diffraction restrained by the infrared wavelength to around 3-10 μ m which further limits the application for micro-devices of similar scales. Other methods like Scanning Thermal Microscopy (SThM) [244] and μ - Thermocouples [142] can improve resolution but are contact methods that require direct access to the measurement region, which can interfere with the thermal system and affect the accuracy of the measurements [130]. Furthermore, direct access is unfeasible for most devices since the electrodes are embedded within the fluidic microchannel, and hence, an optical method such as Thermoreflectance (TR), or Micro Raman Spectroscopy would be required. Micro Raman Spectroscopy is a high resolution optical method that measures temperature changes based on inelastic or Raman Scattering of visible light [137,233]. The method is highly complex in nature and is a single-point measurement approach that would require a translation stage for scanning, resulting in large acquisition times in addition to the expensive system setups. Raman scattering can also result from mechanical and electrical phenomena which would need to be decoupled from the temperature effect to avoid additional accuracy errors.

Recently, Rhodamine B (RhB) has been used as a temperature sensitive dye, exhibiting strong temperature dependent fluorescence in the range of 0-100 °C [137]. Although it provides a high spatial resolution, it is not preferable for biologically relevant studies due to its invasive nature. Besides that, thermosensitive dyes can be absorbed on a polymer-based channel surface because of its hydrophobic nature. Dye adsorption causes fluctuations in the baseline fluorescence intensity, resulting in inaccurate temperature data. In contrast, the TR method presented in Chapter 2, is an optical thermal metrology method that is nondestructive, non-invasive, and non-contact with a submicron spatial resolutions and without requiring special sample preparations, all of which make the TR method suitable for this experimental thermal investigation.

To the best of our knowledge, the extent of temperature rise due to Joule heating was not experimentally reported in the literature. In this study, the TR imaging technique described above is used to measure the temperature rise distribution on the electrodes in contact with a high conductivity medium in ACET activated flow. The findings will help in the design of new generation of high accuracy, low-cost, low power biosensors. This paper is organized as follows: In Section 2, we first present the samples fabrication methods and the experimental setup. In Section 3, the results of self-heating for different activation frequencies, potential, and power dissipation are provided and discussed. Finally, conclusions are presented.



9.3. Materials and Methodology

Figure 9.1. a) Process flow of electrode fabrication using photolithography technique and b) image of intedigitated electrodes fabricated on glass substrate. The micro-fluidic channel is indicated with red dashed rectangle.

The interdigitated electrode array used herein is a well-known geometric configuration for AC electrokinetic-based micro-fluidic platforms, as it yields large electric field gradients even at small applied potentials. The micro-fluidic device is fabricated using a standard photolithography technique (Figure 9.1). 2.5×2.5 cm² glass slide are used as substrate where the electrodes are fabricated by using a sputter-coater (EMS300TD, Emitech). Sputtering generates the thin layers of chromium (\approx 5nm) and gold (\approx 55nm) required for the electrodes. The substrate is then immersed in PG remover (Sigma-Aldrich) to remove the gold on the positive photoresist. The emerging device pattern consists of 3 pairs of interdigitated electrodes with 200 μ m width (w) and 200 μ m spacing (l) as shown in Figure 9.1. A microfluidic channel is made by sandwiching 400 μ m height double-sided tape between two glass slides. The rectangular portion of the tape is cut using a craft cutter to create a microchannel with 0.4mm×10mm×25mm (height (H)×width (W)×length (L)) dimensions and centered at the electrode region. Inlet and outlet ports are drilled with a diamond drill bit on the top glass slides where the electrodes are placed. The wires used for electrical connections are bonded using conductive silver epoxy (MG Chemicals). Figures S-1a) and S-1b) show the microelectrode fabrication procedure and the electrodes fabricated on a glass substrate, respectively. The electrical ports are connected to a function generator (Tektronix AFG3102) to induce the required sinusoidal excitation at a given frequency and peak-to-peak voltage (V_{pp}) .

The sample structures are thermally mapped using the T°Imager thermoreflectance setup presented in Chapter 2. To measure the temperature rise, the device is placed on a thermally controlled stage and illuminated with a monochromatic light source. As shown in Figure 9.2, the light is directed through a $5\times$ objective lens, reflects from the electrode surface through the transparent glass slide, and is collected on a 16-bit camera that provides 1024×1024 pixels intensity map of the reflected light from the region of interest (ROI).



Figure 9.2. a) Schematic of the thermal imaging measurement setup used for measuring the temperature rise at the electrodes. b) In calibration, the electrodes are heated using a thermal chuck. c) In activation, the electrodes are self-heated in the presence of applied voltage via Joule heating effect.

The thermoreflectance response is largely dependent on the wavelength of illumination, and thus the optimal wavelength must be determined initially to maximize the measurement signal. A wavelength (λ) scan is conducted using a Variable WL Monochromatic Light Source (Figure 9.3) while resistively heating the center electrode with a current density of 1000 μ A/ μ m (200 mA) to induce an observable temperature change, and compare the response for the different λ values. After determining the optimal wavelength for illumination at 520 nm (530 nm LED used), the measurement procedure is performed in two runs, one for device calibration and another for activation.



Figure 9.3. Wavelength scan showing the thermoreflectance response ($\Delta R/R$) at different illumination wavelengths. Only the middle electrode is electrically activated using a constant current source and shows a positive reflectance change response for $\lambda < 490$ nm, a negative response for $\lambda > 490$ nm, and an optimal response at $\lambda=520$ nm. A 530 nm LED is used for higher intensity.

To measure the thermoreflectance signal during device activation, the reflectance from the electrodes must be monitored. Since the micro-fluidic flow may distort the optical path above the electrodes, the measurement is performed from the back side of the electrodes through the glass substrate. A set of 50 cold frames are first obtained during the OFF state from the ROI. Another set of 50 hot frames are collected next after activating the device with a sinusoidal signal of prescribed amplitude (V_{pp}) and frequency (f). Since an aysne activation is performed, a quasi-steady state temperature rise is measured. The unit change of reflectance $(\Delta R/R)$ caused by the Joule-heating temperature rise is then acquired with the camera by averaging the two sets of unit intensity change maps $(\Delta I/I)$ at each pixel in the ROI. The activation run is repeated and the reflectance change maps are acquired at several voltage levels and frequencies to observe the Joule heating dependency on the different activation parameters.

Calibration is next performed to measure the thermoreflectance coefficient of the electrode material. Only the upper glass slide containing the electrodes is used for calibration and placed in direct thermal contact with the heating stage. This ensures that the electrodes are at the set chuck temperature. Moreover, this also ensures that the optical path is identical to that of the activation runs since the light reflects from the backside of the electrodes through the transparent glass (Figure 9.2b and 9.2c).

To infer the Joule heating rate within the device under AC activation, the resistance value in the frequency domain is extracted by impedance spectroscopy using the Agilent 4193A high precision impedance analyzer. An equivalent circuit analysis is conducted to extract the important impedance and resistance values of the micro-fluidic system. The values are used in the simulation model of the fluidic and thermal system. Numerical simulations of the ACET flow in our microchannel are conducted using COMSOL Multiphysics which incorporates the electrical, thermal and Stokes flow physics. The model was solved for the fluid domain representing the tested micro-fluidic device. More details on the equations, model domain, and boundary conditions are presented in [129]. The model results will be used to verify the experimental measurements.

9.4. Results

9.4.1. Frequency-Dependent Self-Heating

An initial impedance study is conducted to determine the frequency at which the heat generation rate is highest. Thermal measurements are conducted between 10 kHz and 100 MHz with 20 V_{pp} . The results (Figure 9.4) reveal three impedance regions within the micro-fluidic system.

In the low frequency range, EDL capacitance overshadows the impedance spectra and this behavior is diminished after a critical frequency (f \approx 1 MHz). The frequency range of interest for ACET flow is located in an intermediary region ranging from 1 MHz kHz to 10 MHz, where the signal obtained is dominated by the electrolyte resistance. The impedance magnitude shows a resistive plateau and a frequency independent impedance behavior as can be noticed from Figure 9.4a. The stray capacitance takes into account the alternative current paths found in parallel with the detection or reference volume. At higher frequencies (10-100M MHz), the stray capacitance from the connectors and electronic board shunts the channel impedance.

TR measurements are conducted to determine the corresponding temperature rise at different discrete frequencies under a fixed applied potential of 20 V_{pp}. At this activation level, the measurements are performed at discrete frequencies starting from 100 MHz to a minimum frequency of 1 kHz while avoiding lower frequencies at which electrolysis occurs. In the high frequency regime, the applied voltage is annihilated by the stray capacitance. One notable observation can be that the ACET flow generated by the temperature rise does not exist after a critical frequency (50 MHz) of the system even at high applied potentials.

In the intermediate region, the measured temperature difference remains almost constant, which indicates frequency independent electrolyte resistance. This characteristic behavior also validates that the applied voltage is transmitted to the solution without being stored in the EDL and converted into heat.



Figure 9.4. a) Impedance magnitude and b) phase angle of 1.4 S/m PBS solution in 400 μ m micro-fluidic channel from 100 Hz to 100 MHz c) Experimental temperature rise at the electrode/electrolyte interface with electrode excitation at 20 V_{pp} and frequencies varying from 10 kHz to 100 MHz. Maximum temperature rise at these conditions is obtained at 51.5 °C ± 5.5 °C (standard deviations were constant for all data points).

In the low frequency regime, most of the applied voltage is stored in EDL capacitance, and therefore, the voltage transmitted to the solution becomes less than the applied voltage. As a consequence of low transmitted voltage, the Joule heating rate and thus the temperature rise decreases drastically. At 1 kHz, the electrodes peel off because of Faradaic reactions, which occurs at low frequency spectrum and high applied voltage. Therefore, any data below 10 kHz in Figure 9.4 are lacking.

9.4.2. Voltage-Dependent Self-Heating

The voltage dependent temperature measurements are performed at 5 MHz where the resistance of the system is accurately known ($R_{sol} = 940\Omega$). Figure 9.5a shows the temperature rise profile between the side electrodes at different activation voltage ranging from 2 to 20 V_{pp}, with 2 V_{pp} increments. The data are shown with a rainbow color coding where red and dark blue represent the highest and lowest temperature rises, respectively.

As expected for Joule heating, the temperature rise increases with increasing activation voltage. Note that the temperature rise profiles obtained from the simulations (solid lines) at different applied voltages were collapsed on experimental results (symbols), showing that the temperature rise due to Joule heating is accurately predicted by the numerical model. The deviations between numerical and experimental values can be attributed to the ideal considerations adopted in the numerical modeling, where the electrode edge effects are not considered, resulting in smooth temperature profiles.

Figure 9.5b summarizes the average temperature rise on the side and middle electrodes as a function of applied voltage at 5 MHz. The standard deviation is for the set of 50 different measurements for an applied voltage and the highest standard deviation was obtained at 5.5 °C when the electrodes were activated at the highest potential of 20 V_{pp} . It is important to state that good agreement between the numerical model and experiments are due to the chosen applied frequency where EDL and stray capacitance effects are negligible, and hence, nearly the entire applied electrical field contributes to Joule heating. Figure 9.5c shows the thermal map obtained on the electrodes for 20 V_{pp} at 5 MHz. The temperature rise between



Figure 9.5. Comparison of experimental (symbols) and numerical (solid lines) temperature fields on the electrode regions a) for different applied voltages at 5MHz. b) Experimentally and numerically obtained average temperature rise on the side and middle electrodes as a function of the applied peak to peak voltage. c) Measured temperature field on chromiumgold surface at 20 V_{pp} (Top view). d) Flow field below the electrodes (represented with yellow) bars is shown with streamlines and the velocity magnitude contours given in terms of μ m/s. The simulation is performed at 5 MHz and 20 V_{pp} .

the electrodes (black region) could not be measured because no TR signal reflects back from the transparent glass region nor from the fluid channel, only the reflective gold electrode surface is measured.

As our model is validated with the electrode measurements, the temperature of the remaining domain can be inferred from the validated numerical model. Moreover, for a given case, the average temperature rise at the center electrode is seen to be higher than that of the side electrodes (Figure 9.5a and 9.5b). This distinction can be explained by examining the ACET flow behavior predicted by the numerical simulations (Figure 9.5d). Two global vortices are created beneath the electrodes, which convect the flow from the outer edges of the side electrodes to the center of the middle electrode, and then circulate the flow. As the simulations show, convection effects are stronger near the side electrodes than those under the middle electrode. Another reason is that the electric field magnitude becomes maximum between the electrodes and decreases away from inner edges of side electrodes, which can also explain the temperature drop towards the outer edges.

Since Joule heating is proportional to the square of the electric field strength (Joule heat $\approx E^2(E = V/r)$), the volumetric heat generation decreases with square of the distance and it results in lower temperature rise at the other edges. The maximum velocity magnitude is found consistent with the experimentally measured velocities using micro particle image velocimetry (μ -PIV) technique for similar electrode design [152].

9.4.3. Power-Loss Dependent Self-Heating

Applying an external electric field E to manipulate bulk fluid will result in some electrical power dissipation in the form of Joule heating. Using the results from the impedance measurements, the relationship between dissipated power and temperature rise was established for different applied voltage. The power level is calculated as $P = (V_{rms}^2)/R_{sol}$ where $V_{rms} = V_{pp}/(2\sqrt{2})$. The resistance of the solution $(R_{sol}(T_0) \approx 940\Omega)$ has been measured at 5MHz-20mV at which the Joule heating effect is negligible. However, the resistance of the solution is temperature dependent and would decrease at higher applied voltages. Since the temperature-dependent electrical conductivity is considered for the numerical simulations, the power dissipation is calculated and corrected for the temperature variation in the measured R_{sol} , using the measured temperature rise where $R_{sol}(T) = R_{sol}(T_0)/(1 + c_{\sigma}(T - T_0))$. The results of the temperature measurements are plotted against the power dissipation and presented in Figure 9.6.



Figure 9.6. Temperature rise at the electrode/electrolyte interface as a function of the dissipated power when the side electrodes are excited at 5 MHz and with different voltages.

A linear relationship is observed between the variations of temperature and dissipated power, with regression factors of 0.988 for both middle and side electrodes (Figure 9.6. This relation, also known as the "Arrhenius Principle", is expected for our results. As the power generated increases at the electrodes, the temperature differences between the heat source and the heat sink also increase to maintain the higher power dissipation to the substrate. The linear relation reveals that higher order effects thermal effects can be neglected and that the thermal resistance of the system does not vary much with activation level (468 K/W and 509 K/W for side and center electrodes respectively).

As defined in the equation presented earlier, the Joule heating rate is linearly proportional to the conductivity of the medium. As a result, reducing the conductivity of the solution should in principle reduce Joule heating, even under high levels of applied potential. To demonstrate this expected behavior, the temperature measurements were repeated for the same micro-fluidic device but while using deionized (DI) water ($\sigma = 5 \times 10^{-6} S/m$) as the fluidic medium. The obtained temperature rise data presented in Figure 9.7 show no significant Joule heating, with a temperature rise that does not exceed a couple of degrees. This also proves that the heating observed in PBS is solely due to Joule heating. The important insight from Figure 9.7 is that for low conductivity solutions, ACET operation is thermallysafe and even the highest electrical field is unable to induce a measurable temperature rise in the fluid.



Figure 9.7. Temperature rise as a function of applied voltages at 5 MHz for DI water showing negligible self-heating due to low Joule heating in electrically non-conductive fluidic medium.

9.5. Conclusions

This study presents a thermal investigation into ACET Joule heating induced temperature rise. The study also validates the enhanced numerical model by characterizing the thermal behavior of the electrode/electrolyte interface under ACET flow operation. The temperature rise of the activated electrodes is measured using a high-resolution, non-invasive thermoreflectance imaging method. Numerical simulations are performed for different applied voltages (2-20 V_{pp} and varying frequencies (1 kHz – 100 MHz) and show substantial heating at the electrodes, with the maximum temperature rise reaching $\approx 52^{\circ}$ C at 20 V_{pp} . The experimental results are consistent and thus validate the numerical solutions, both showing similar temperature rises and distributions along the middle and side electrodes. The good agreement between experimental and numerical results can allow one to assess temperature variations for ACET based devices prior to experimentation.

This study provides a useful guideline for experimental temperature determination in ACET-based micro-fluidic applications, which allows one to assess Joule heating effects. It also validates the appropriate numerical model to predict the temperature rise prior to ACET flow experiments with precious biological samples. The outcomes of this study ultimately can provide insights to improve future biosensor designs, as thermal considerations are crucial for tailoring the sensor geometry to keep the Joule heating effects within acceptable ranges for biological samples, or other temperature sensitive applications. Accordingly, our work makes substantial contributions to the field of electrokinetic biomicro/nanofluidics, by presenting a unique microscopic interpretation of temperature rise. In the future, the thermoreflectance technique can also be adapted to a variety of micro/nanofluidic applications to explore fundamental observations such as nanoscale interfacial transport at extended evaporating menisci.

Chapter 10

Conclusions

As emerging technologies push the boundaries of the achievable in activation power levels, operation frequencies, and energy efficiency, thermal concerns become more and more crucial for accurate and reliable device performance. Characterizing the thermal response and temperature rise of active devices is becoming a determining factor across the spectrum of applications and requirements, as temperature affects operation, lifetime, and reliability. In other advanced device technologies still under development, thermal response is key in understanding and predicting operating mechanisms behind devices operation to allow their modeling and integration into working systems.

This work has presented the advanced methods used for experimental and numerical thermal analysis of emerging microelectronic devices and structures. Thermoreflectancebased surface temperature mapping offers the benefits of non-invasive, non-destructive, high resolution measurements and suitable for reflective metallic electronic components, without requiring any special sample preparation. The presented ultra-fast numerical technique provides a complete 3D thermal model to accurately represent the physical test device, in regards to structure, properties, and thermal response. The combined approach finally helps bridge the gap across each of the methods' shortcomings, resulting in an extremely powerful tool for full thermal characterization, where the experimental measurements provide accurate validation, and the simulation model provides a full temperature map that reaches embedded and inaccessible features, and provides estimates for uncertain thermal and physical parameters specific to the device-under-test at the moment of testing.

Developing an accurate digital representation of microelectronic devices serves many design benefits. The model can be used for studying the effect of different model parameters and performing parametric studies to optimize design. This saves time and cost by requiring fewer samples for experimental validation and device testing. The method also can serve as an in-situ property measurement technique instead of other thin-film measurement setups that require expensive sample preparations. All the mentioned benefits would eventually lead to a reduction in prototyping, testing, and evaluating steps in the design cycle, with shorter time to push new, advanced, and reliable technologies to market.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [1] ACKERMAN, M. W., AND HAVILL, T. N. Thermal conductivity of ten selected binary alloy systems. Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data (1978).
- [2] AGARWAL, G., KAZIOR, T., KENNY, T., AND WEINSTEIN, D. Modeling and analysis for thermal management in gallium nitride hemts using microfluidic cooling. *Journal of Electronic Packaging*, *Transactions of the ASME 139* (2017).
- [3] AGNE, M. T., HANUS, R., AND SNYDER, G. J. Minimum thermal conductivity in the context of: Diffuson -mediated thermal transport. *Energy and Environmental Science* (2018).
- [4] AHMED, H. E., SALMAN, B. H., KHERBEET, A. S., AND AHMED, M. I. Optimization of thermal design of heat sinks: A review. *International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer* (2018).
- [5] ALBRECHT, J. D. AlGaN/GaN heterostructure field-effect transistor model including thermal effects. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* (nov 2000), 2031–2036.
- [6] ALEXANDROV, A. S., BRATKOVSKY, A. M., BRIDLE, B., SAVEL'EV, S. E., STRUKOV, D. B., AND STANLEY WILLIAMS, R. Current-controlled negative differential resistance due to Joule heating in TiO2. Applied Physics Letters 99, 20 (2011), 2009–2012.
- [7] ALFORD, T. L., MISRA, E., BHAGAT, S. K., AND MAYER, J. W. Influence of Joule heating during electromigration evaluation of silver lines. *Thin Solid Films* 517, 5 (2009), 1833–1836.
- [8] ALOMARI, M., DUSSAIGNE, A., MARTIN, D., GRANDJEAN, N., GAQUIÈRE, C., AND KOHN, E. AlGaN/GaN HEMT on (111) single crystalline diamond. *Electronics Letters* 46 (feb 2010), 299–300.
- [9] ALTMAN, D., TYHACH, M., MCCLYMONDS, J., KIM, S., GRAHAM, S., CHO, J., GOODSON, K., FRANCIS, D., FAILI, F., EJECKAM, F., AND BERNSTEIN, S. Analysis and characterization of thermal transport in GaN HEMTs on Diamond substrates. In *Thermomechanical Phenomena in Electronic Systems -Proceedings of the Intersociety Conference* (sep 2014), Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., pp. 1199–1205.
- [10] ANAYA, J., BAI, T., WANG, Y., LI, C., GOORSKY, M., BOUGHER, T. L., YATES, L., CHENG, Z., GRAHAM, S., HOBART, K. D., FEYGELSON, T. I., TADJER, M. J., ANDERSON, T. J., PATE, B. B., AND KUBALL, M. Simultaneous determination of the lattice thermal conductivity and grain/grain thermal resistance in polycrystalline diamond. *Acta Materialia 139* (oct 2017), 215–225.
- [11] ANDERSON, T. J., HOBART, K. D., TADJER, M. J., KOEHLER, A. D., IMHOFF, E. A., HITE, J. K., FEYGELSON, T. I., PATE, B. B., EDDY, C. R., AND KUB, F. J. Nanocrystalline Diamond Integration with III-Nitride HEMTs. ECS Journal of Solid State Science and Technology 6, 2 (2017), Q3636–Q3039.
- [12] ANDREWS, AND R.V. Solving Conductive Heat Transfer Problems with Electrical-Analogue Shape Factors. Chem. Eng. Progr. Vol: 51, 2 (feb 1955), 67–71.

- [13] ARENAS, O., AL ALAM, É., AIMEZ, V., JAOUAD, A., MAHER, H., ARÈS, R., AND BOONE, F. Electrothermal mapping of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs using microresistance thermometer detectors. *IEEE Electron Device Letters* 36, 2 (2015).
- [14] BAGNALL, K. R., MOORE, E. A., BADESCU, S. C., ZHANG, L., AND WANG, E. N. Simultaneous measurement of temperature, stress, and electric field in GaN HEMTs with micro-Raman spectroscopy. *Review of Scientific Instruments 88*, 11 (nov 2017), 113111.
- [15] BAKLANOV, M. R., AND MAEX, K. Porous low dielectric constant materials for microelectronics. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences* (2006).
- [16] BANERJEE, K., AMERASEKERA, A., DIXIT, G., AND CHENMING HU. The effect of interconnect scaling and low-k dielectric on the thermal characteristics of the IC metal. In *International Electron Devices Meeting. Technical Digest* (1996), IEEE, pp. 65–68.
- [17] BANERJEE, K., AMERASEKERA, A., DIXIT, G., AND HU, C. Effect of interconnect scaling and low-k dielectric on the thermal characteristics of the IC metal. In *Technical Digest - International Electron Devices Meeting* (1996).
- BASAVAIAH, S., AND PARK, K. Bistable switching and conduction mechanisms in Nb-Nb ₂ O ₅ -Bi junctions. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 20*, 2 (feb 1973), 149–157.
- [19] BHAT, T. N., RAJPALKE, M. K., ROUL, B., KUMAR, M., AND KRUPANIDHI, S. B. Substrate nitridation induced modulations in transport properties of wurtzite GaNp-Si (100) heterojunctions grown by molecular beam epitaxy. *Journal of Applied Physics* (2011).
- [20] BILOTTI, A. A. Static temperature distribution in IC chips with isothermal heat sources. *Electron Devices, IEEE Transactions on 21*, 3 (1974), 217–226.
- [21] BLACK, J. Electromigration A brief survey and some recent results. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 16, 4 (1969), 338–347.
- [22] BLECH, I. A. Electromigration in thin aluminum films on titanium nitride. Journal of Applied Physics 47, 4 (1976), 1203–1208.
- [23] BOGNER, M., BENSTETTER, G., AND FU, Y. Q. Cross- and in-plane thermal conductivity of AlN thin films measured using differential 3-omega method. *Surface and Coatings Technology 320* (jun 2017), 91.
- [24] BOIKA, A., AND BARANSKI, A. S. Dielectrophoretic and electrothermal effects at alternating current heated disk microelectrodes. *Analytical Chemistry* (2008).
- [25] BONELLO, B., PERRIN, B., AND ROSSIGNOL, C. Photothermal properties of bulk and layered materials by the picosecond acoustics technique. *Journal of Applied Physics* (1998).
- [26] BURZO, M. G., KOMAROV, P. L., AND RAAD, P. E. Minimizing the uncertainties associated with the measurement of thermal properties by the transient thermo-reflectance method. *IEEE Transactions on Components and Packaging Technologies* (2005).
- [27] BURZO, M. G., KOMAROV, P. L., AND RAAD, P. E. Noncontact transient temperature mapping of active electronic devices using the thermoreflectance method. *IEEE Transactions on Components* and Packaging Technologies 28, 4 (Dec 2005), 637–643.

- [28] BURZO, M. G., KOMAROV, P. L., AND RAAD, P. E. Optimized thermo-reflectance system for measuring the thermal properties of thin-films and their interfaces. In Annual IEEE Semiconductor Thermal Measurement and Management Symposium (2006).
- [29] BURZO, M. G., RAAD, P. E., LEE, T., AND KOMAROV, P. L. Thermal conductivity measurements of novel SOI films using submicron thermography and transient thermoreflectance. In *Annual IEEE Semiconductor Thermal Measurement and Management Symposium* (2012).
- [30] CAHILL, D. G. Thermal conductivity measurement from 30 to 750 K: The 3ω method. Review of Scientific Instruments (1990).
- [31] CAHILL, D. G. Erratum: Thermal conductivity measurement from 30 to 750 K. The 3ω method (Review of Scientific Instruments (1990) 61 (802)), 2002.
- [32] CAHILL, D. G., AND ALLEN, T. H. Thermal conductivity of sputtered and evaporated SiO2 and TiO2 optical coatings. *Applied Physics Letters* (1994).
- [33] CAHILL, D. G., FORD, W. K., GOODSON, K. E., MAHAN, G. D., MAJUMDAR, A., MARIS, H. J., MERLIN, R., AND PHILLPOT, S. R. Nanoscale thermal transport, 2003.
- [34] CAO, J., CHENG, P., AND HONG, F. J. A numerical study of an electrothermal vortex enhanced micromixer. *Microfluidics and Nanofluidics* (2008).
- [35] CARSLAW H.S., J. J. Conduction of Heat in Solids. Oxford University Press, 1986.
- [36] CHANG, LI-FU; FAN, ZHONG; LU, DANIEL; BAO, A. No Title. In Improving copper CMP topography by dummy metal fill co-optimizing electroplating and CMP planarization (2010), Proceedings of SPIE - The International Society for Optical Engineering, Apr 2010, Vol.7641.
- [37] CHASE, M. NIST-JANEF Thermochemical Tables, Fourth Edition, 1998.
- [38] CHATTERJEE, B., DUNDAR, C., BEECHEM, T. E., HELLER, E., KENDIG, D., KIM, H., DONMEZER, N., AND CHOI, S. Nanoscale electro-thermal interactions in AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors. *Journal of Applied Physics* (2020).
- [39] CHAUREY, V., POLANCO, C., CHOU, C. F., AND SWAMI, N. S. Floating-electrode enhanced constriction dielectrophoresis for biomolecular trapping in physiological media of high conductivity. *Biomicrofluidics* (2012).
- [40] CHEN, D., LI, E., ROSENBAUM, E., AND KANG, S.-M. Interconnect thermal modeling for accurate simulation of circuit timing and reliability. *Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems, IEEE Transactions on 19*, 2 (2000), 197–205.
- [41] CHEN, J.-T., BERGSTEN, J., LU, J., JANZÉN, E., THORSELL, M., HULTMAN, L., RORSMAN, N., AND KORDINA, O. A GaN–SiC hybrid material for high-frequency and power electronics. *Applied Physics Letters* 113, 4 (jul 2018), 041605.
- [42] CHEN, J. T., PERSSON, I., NILSSON, D., HSU, C. W., PALISAITIS, J., FORSBERG, U., PERSSON, P. O., AND JANZÉN, E. Room-temperature mobility above 2200-cm2/V·s of two-dimensional electron gas in a sharp-interface AlGaN/GaN heterostructure. *Applied Physics Letters 106 (25)* (2015).
- [43] CHEN, J.-T., POMEROY, J. W., RORSMAN, N., XIA, C., VIROJANADARA, C., FORSBERG, U., KUBALL, M., AND JANZÉN, E. Low thermal resistance of a GaN-on-SiC transistor structure with improved structural properties at the interface. *Journal of Crystal Growth* 428 (oct 2015), 54–58.

- [44] CHEN, X., DONMEZER, F. N., KUMAR, S., AND GRAHAM, S. A numerical study on comparing the active and passive cooling of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 61* (2014), 4056.
- [45] CHENEY, D. J., DOUGLAS, E. A., LIU, L., LO, C.-F., GILA, B. P., REN, F., AND PEARTON, S. J. Degradation Mechanisms for GaN and GaAs High Speed Transistors. *Materials 5* (nov 2012), 2498–2520.
- [46] CHENG, M. C., SMITH, J. A., JIA, W., AND COLEMAN, R. An effective thermal model for FinFET structure. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* (2014).
- [47] CHENG, M. C., YU, F., JUN, L., SHEN, M., AND AHMADI, G. Steady-state and dynamic thermal models for heat flow analysis of silicon-on-insulator MOSFETs. *Microelectronics Reliability* (2004).
- [48] CHENG, M. C., AND ZHANG, K. An effective thermal circuit model for electro-thermal simulation of SOI analog circuits. *Solid-State Electronics* 62, 1 (2011), 48–61.
- [49] CHENG, Z., BAI, T., SHI, J., FENG, T., WANG, Y., MECKLENBURG, M., LI, C., HOBART, K. D., FEYGELSON, T. I., TADJER, M. J., PATE, B. B., FOLEY, B. M., YATES, L., PANTELIDES, S. T., COLA, B. A., GOORSKY, M., AND GRAHAM, S. Tunable Thermal Energy Transport across Diamond Membranes and Diamond-Si Interfaces by Nanoscale Graphoepitaxy. ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces 11 (20) (2019), 18517–18527.
- [50] CHENG, Z., CHEAITO, R., BAI, T., YATES, L., SOOD, A., FOLEY, B. M., BOUGHER, T., FAILI, F., ASHEGHI, M., GOODSON, K., COLA, B. A., GOORSKY, M., AND GRAHAM, S. Probing local thermal conductivity variations in CVD diamond with large grains by time-domain thermoreflectance. In *International Heat Transfer Conference* (dec 2018), p. 022782.
- [51] CHENG, Z., MU, F., YATES, L., SUGA, T., AND GRAHAM, S. Interfacial Thermal Conductance across Room-Temperature-Bonded GaN/Diamond Interfaces for GaN-on-Diamond Devices. ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces 12 (7) (jan 2020), 8376–8384.
- [52] CHENG, Z., WEIDENBACH, A., FENG, T., TELLEKAMP, M. B., HOWARD, S., WAHILA, M. J., ZIVASATIENRAJ, B., FOLEY, B., PANTELIDES, S. T., PIPER, L. F., DOOLITTLE, W., AND GRAHAM, S. Diffuson-driven ultralow thermal conductivity in amorphous N b2 O5 thin films. *Physical Review Materials* (2019).
- [53] CHIRITESCU, C., CAHILL, D. G., NGUYEN, N., JOHNSON, D., BODAPATI, A., KEBLINSKI, P., AND ZSCHACK, P. Ultralow thermal conductivity in disordered, layered WSe2 crystals. *Science* (2007).
- [54] CHO, H. J., KIM, G., ONOZATO, T., JEEN, H., AND OHTA, H. Thermal conductivity tensor of NbO2. International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer (2019).
- [55] CHO, J., LI, Y., ALTMAN, D. H., HOKE, W. E., ASHEGHI, M., AND GOODSON, K. E. Temperature dependent thermal resistances at GaN-substrate interfaces in GaN composite substrates. In *Technical Digest - IEEE Compound Semiconductor Integrated Circuit Symposium*, *CSIC* (oct 2012), pp. 1–4.
- [56] CHO, J., LI, Y., HOKE, W. E., ALTMAN, D. H., ASHEGHI, M., AND GOODSON, K. E. Phonon scattering in strained transition layers for GaN heteroepitaxy. *Physical Review B - Condensed Matter and Materials Physics* (2014).

- [57] CHO, J., LI, Z., BOZORG-GRAYELI, E., KODAMA, T., FRANCIS, D., EJECKAM, F., FAILI, F., ASHEGHI, M., AND GOODSON, K. E. Thermal characterization of GaN-on-diamond substrates for HEMT applications. In *InterSociety Conference on Thermal and Thermomechanical Phenomena in Electronic Systems, ITHERM* (2012), pp. 435–439.
- [58] CHO, J., LI, Z., BOZORG-GRAYELI, E., KODAMA, T., FRANCIS, D., EJECKAM, F., FAILI, F., ASHEGHI, M., AND GOODSON, K. E. Improved thermal interfaces of GaN-Diamond composite substrates for HEMT applications. *IEEE Transactions on Components, Packaging and Manufacturing Technology 3*, 1 (jan 2013), 79–85.
- [59] CHOOBINEH, L., AND JAIN, A. An explicit analytical model for rapid computation of temperature field in a three-dimensional integrated circuit (3D IC). *International Journal of Thermal Sciences* 87 (2015), 103–109.
- [60] CHRISTOFFERSON, J., MAIZE, K., EZZAHRI, Y., SHABANI, J., WANG, X., AND SHAKOURI, A. Microscale and nanoscale thermal characterization techniques. In 2007 International Conference on Thermal Issues in Emerging Technologies: Theory and Application (Jan 2007), pp. 3–9.
- [61] CHRISTOFFERSON, J., MAIZE, K., EZZAHRI, Y., SHABANI, J., WANG, X., AND SHAKOURI, A. Microscale and nanoscale thermal characterization techniques (reprinted from thermal issues in emerging technologies: Theory and application, january, 2007). JOURNAL OF ELECTRONIC PACKAGING 130, 4 (2008).
- [62] CHU, S. N. G., JANG, S., RAJAGOPAL, P., KANG, B. S., PEARTON, S. J., PINER, E. L., BAIK, K., GILA, B. P., ABERNATHY, C. R., JOHNSON, J. W., REN, F., LINTHICUM, K. J., KIM, J., ROBERTS, J. C., AND THERRIEN, R. J. Capacitance pressure sensor based on GaN high-electron-mobility transistor-on-Si membrane. *Applied Physics Letters 86*, 25 (2005), 253502.
- [63] CHUA, L. O. Memristor—The Missing Circuit Element. IEEE Transactions on Circuit Theory (1971).
- [64] CRUPI, G., RAFFO, A., AVOLIO, G., SCHREURS, D. M., VANNINI, G., AND CADDEMI, A. Temperature Influence on GaN HEMT Equivalent Circuit. *IEEE Microwave and Wireless Components Letters* 26, 10 (oct 2016), 813–815.
- [65] CUERDO, R., CALLE, F., BRAÑA, A. F., CORDIER, Y., AZIZE, M., BARON, N., CHENOT, S., AND MUÑOZ, E. High temperature behaviour of GaN HEMT devices on Si(111) and sapphire substrates. In *Physica Status Solidi (C) Current Topics in Solid State Physics* (jun 2008), pp. 1971–1973.
- [66] CUI, H., CHENG, C., LIN, X., WU, J., CHEN, J., EDA, S., AND YUAN, Q. Rapid and sensitive detection of small biomolecule by capacitive sensing and low field AC electrothermal effect. *Sensors* and Actuators, B: Chemical (2016).
- [67] CUI, Y., EL HELOU, A., AND RAAD, P. E. (Invited) Coupled Experimental and Numerical Investigation of High-Voltage GaN HEMTs. ECS Transactions (2019).
- [68] DATTA, B., AND BURLESON, W. On temperature planarization effect of copper dummy fills in deep nanometer technology. In Proceedings of the 10th International Symposium on Quality Electronic Design, ISQED 2009 (2009).
- [69] DEARNALEY, G; STONEHAM, A. M. M. D. V. Reports on Progress in Physics Related content. *Rep. Prog. Phys.*, 33 (1970), 1129.
- [70] DING, H., LIU, W., SHAO, J., DING, Y., ZHANG, L., AND NIU, J. Influence of induced-charge electrokinetic phenomena on the dielectrophoretic assembly of gold nanoparticles in a conductive-island-based microelectrode system. *Langmuir* (2013).
- [71] DOCOSLIS, A., ESPINOZA, L. A., ZHANG, B., CHENG, L. L., ISRAEL, B. A., ALEXANDRIDIS, P., AND ABBOTT, N. L. Using nonuniform electric fields to accelerate the transport of viruses to surfaces from media of physiological ionic strength. *Langmuir* (2007).
- [72] DOYEN, L., FEDERSPIEL, X., AND NEY, D. Improved Bipolar Electromagnetic Model. 2006 IEEE International Reliability Physics Symposium Proceedings, 2 (2006), 683–684.
- [73] DUMKA, D. C., CHOU, T. M., FAILI, F., FRANCIS, D., AND EJECKAM, F. AlGaN/GaN HEMTS on diamond substrate with over 7W/mm output power density at 10 GHz. *Electronics Letters* 49, 20 (sep 2013), 1298–1299.
- [74] DUMKA, D. C., AND SAUNIER, P. AlGaN/GaN HEMTs on diamond substrate. In 65th DRC Device Research Conference (2007), pp. 31–32.
- [75] EL BOUKILI, A. Physical Modeling and Simulation of Thermal Heating in Vertical Integrated Circuits. International Journal of Computer Science & Engineering Survey 4, 2 (2013), 1–15.
- [76] EL HELOU, A., VENUGOPAL, A., AND RAAD, P. E. Standardized Heat Spreader Design for Passive Cooling of Interconnects in the BEOL of ICs. *IEEE Transactions on Components, Packaging and Manufacturing Technology 10* (2020), 1010–9.
- [77] EL HELOU, A., VENUGOPAL, A., AND RAAD, P. E. Standardized Heat Spreader Design for Passive Cooling of Interconnects in the BEOL of ICs. *IEEE Transactions on Components, Packaging and Manufacturing Technology* (2020).
- [78] F., W. Optical Properties of Solids. Elsevier Science, 1972.
- [79] FELBINGER, J. G., CHANDRA, M. V. S., SUN, Y., EASTMAN, L. F., WASSERBAUER, J., FAILI, F., BABIC, D., FRANCIS, D., AND EJECKAM, F. Comparison of GaN HEMTs on Diamond and SiC Substrates. *IEEE Electron Device Letters* 28, 11 (nov 2007), 948–950.
- [80] FELDMAN, H. C., SIGURDSON, M., AND MEINHART, C. D. AC electrothermal enhancement of heterogeneous assays in microfluidics. *Lab on a Chip* (2007).
- [81] FRANCIS, D., WASSERBAUER, J., FAILI, F., BABIC, D., EJECKAM, F., HONG, W., SPECHT, P., AND WEBER, E. GaN-HEMT epilayers on diamond substrates: Recent progress. In 2007 International Conference on Compound Semiconductor Manufacturing Technology, CS MANTECH 2007 (2007).
- [82] FTOUNI, H., BLANC, C., TAINOFF, D., FEFFERMAN, A. D., DEFOORT, M., LULLA, K. J., RICHARD, J., COLLIN, E., AND BOURGEOIS, O. Thermal conductivity of silicon nitride membranes is not sensitive to stress. *Physical Review B 92*, 12 (sep 2015), 125439.
- [83] GABRIEL, C., GABRIEL, S., AND CORTHOUT, E. The dielectric properties of biological tissues: I. Literature survey. *Physics in Medicine and Biology* (1996).
- [84] GAJULA, D., JAHANGIR, I., AND KOLEY, G. High temperature AlGaN/GaN membrane based pressure sensors. *Micromachines* 9, 5 (2018), 1–9.
- [85] GALE, E. TiO2-based memristors and ReRAM: Materials, mechanisms and models (a review), 2014.

- [86] GAO, L., CHEN, P. Y., AND YU, S. NbOxbased oscillation neuron for neuromorphic computing. *Applied Physics Letters* 111, 10 (2017).
- [87] GIBSON, G. A., MUSUNURU, S., ZHANG, J., VANDENBERGHE, K., LEE, J., HSIEH, C. C., JACKSON, W., JEON, Y., HENZE, D., LI, Z., AND STANLEY WILLIAMS, R. An accurate locally active memristor model for S-type negative differential resistance in NbOx. *Applied Physics Letters* 108, 2 (2016).
- [88] GOODSON, K., AND FLIK, M. Effect of microscale thermal conduction on the packing limit of silicon-on-insulator electronic devices. *IEEE Transactions on Components, Hybrids, and Manufacturing Technology* 15, 5 (1992), 715–722.
- [89] GOODSON K., P. E. Thermal phenomena in nanoscale transistors. Journal of Electronic Packaging (2006).
- [90] GREEN, N. G., RAMOS, A., GONZÁLEZ, A., CASTELLANOS, A., AND MORGAN, H. Electrothermally induced fluid flow on microelectrodes. *Journal of Electrostatics* (2001).
- [91] GUO, Z., VERMA, A., WU, X., SUN, F., HICKMAN, A., MASUI, T., KURAMATA, A., HIGASHIWAKI, M., JENA, D., AND LUO, T. Anisotropic thermal conductivity in single crystal β-gallium oxide. Applied Physics Letters (2015).
- [92] HAN, Y., LAU, B. L., ZHANG, X., LEONG, Y. C., AND CHOO, K. F. Thermal Management of Hotspots with a Microjet-Based Hybrid Heat Sink for GaN-on-Si Devices. *IEEE Transactions on Components, Packaging and Manufacturing Technology* 4 (9) (sep 2014), 1441.
- [93] HATTA, I. Thermal diffusivity measurements of thin films and multiulayered composites. International Journal of Thermophysics (1990).
- [94] HE, L., KAHNG, A., TAM, K., AND XIONG, J. Design of integrated-circuit interconnects with accurate modeling of chemical-mechanical planarization, 2005.
- [95] HELLER, E., CHOI, S., DORSEY, D., VETURY, R., AND GRAHAM, S. Electrical and structural dependence of operating temperature of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs. *Microelectronics Reliability* 53, 6 (2013), 872–877.
- [96] HELLER, E., CHOI, S., DORSEY, D., VETURY, R., AND GRAHAM, S. Electrical and structural dependence of operating temperature of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs. *Microelectronics Reliability* 53, 6 (jun 2013), 872–877.
- [97] HELOU, A., RAAD, P., AND VENUGOPAL, A. Assessment of CMP Fill Pattern Effect on the Thermal Performance of Interconnects in Integrated Circuits BEOL. In 2019 IEEE 69th Electronic Components and Technology Conference (ECTC) (may 2019), IEEE, pp. 405–409.
- [98] HELOU, A. E., RAAD, P. E., KANDE, D., AND VENUGOPAL, A. Thermal Modeling and Experimental Validation of Heat Sink Design for Passive Cooling of BEOL IC Structures. In 2018 24rd International Workshop on Thermal Investigations of ICs and Systems (THERMINIC) (sep 2018), IEEE, pp. 1–3.
- [99] HELOU, A. E., RAAD, P. E., KANDE, D., AND VENUGOPAL, A. Thermal Modeling and Experimental Validation of Heat Sink Design for Passive Cooling of BEOL IC Structures. In 2018 24rd International Workshop on Thermal Investigations of ICs and Systems (THERMINIC) (sep 2018), pp. 1–3.

- [100] HELOU, A. E., RAAD, P. E., AND KOMAROV, P. Temperature dependence of the thermoreflectance coefficient of gold by the use of a phase-locked single-point measurement approach. In 2018 34th Thermal Measurement, Modeling & Management Symposium (SEMI-THERM) (mar 2018), pp. 161–164.
- [101] HELOU, A. E., TADJER, M. J., HOBART, K. D., AND RAAD, P. E. Full 3D Thermal Simulation of GaN HEMT using Ultra-Fast Self-Adaptive Computations Driven by Experimentally Determined Thermal Maps. In 2018 24rd International Workshop on Thermal Investigations of ICs and Systems (THERMINIC) (sep 2018), IEEE, pp. 1–3.
- [102] HETSRONI, G., MOSYAK, A., POGREBNYAK, E., AND ROZENBLIT, R. Infrared temperature measurements in micro-channels and micro-fluid systems. *International Journal of Thermal Sciences* (2011).
- [103] HILTON, A. M., BROWN, J. L., MOORE, E. A., HOELSCHER, J. A., HELLER, E. R., AND DORSEY, D. L. Characterization of Cross-Sectioned Gallium Nitride High-Electron-Mobility Transistors with In Situ Biasing. *Journal of Electronic Materials* 44 (2015), 3259–3264.
- [104] HILTON, A. M., HELLER, E. R., AND DORSEY, D. L. Electroluminescence Microscopy of Cross-Sectioned AlGaN/GaN High-Electron Mobility Transistors. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 44 (apr 2016), 1459–1463.
- [105] HIROKI, M., KUMAKURA, K., KOBAYASHI, Y., AKASAKA, T., MAKIMOTO, T., AND YAMAMOTO,
 H. Suppression of self-heating effect in AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors by substrate-transfer technology using h-BN. *Applied Physics Letters 105*, 19 (2014).
- [106] HOBART, K. D., FEYGELSON, T. I., TADJER, M. J., ANDERSON, T. J., KOEHLER, A. D., SAM GRAHAM, J., GOORSKY, M., CHENG, Z., YATES, L., BAI, T., AND WANG, Y. Diamond on nanopatterned substrate, us patent 20190360117.
- [107] HOSTETLER, J. L., SMITH, A. N., AND NORRIS, P. M. Thin-film thermal conductivity and thickness measurements using picosecond ultrasonics. *Microscale Thermophysical Engineering* (1997).
- [108] HOU, M., PAN, C. C., ASHEGHI, M., AND SENESKY, D. G. Finite element thermal analysis of localized heating in AlGaN/GaN HEMT based sensors. *Thermomechanical Phenomena in Electronic* Systems -Proceedings of the Intersociety Conference (2014), 25–30.
- [109] HSIEN-CHIN CHIU, CHAO-WEI LIN, AND CHE-KAI LIN. Field-plate technique for high power compound semiconductor devices applications. In 2010 IEEE International Conference of Electron Devices and Solid-State Circuits (EDSSC) (dec 2010), IEEE, pp. 1–4.
- [110] HU, D., GONG, W., DI, J., LI, D., LI, R., LU, W., GU, B., SUN, B., AND LI, Q. Strong graphene-interlayered carbon nanotube films with high thermal conductivity. *Carbon* (2017).
- [111] HUANG, X., SUKHAREV, V., CHOY, J. H., CHEN, H., TLELO-CUAUTLE, E., AND TAN, S. X. Full-chip electromigration assessment: Effect of cross-layout temperature and thermal stress distributions. In 2015 International Conference on Synthesis, Modeling, Analysis and Simulation Methods and Applications to Circuit Design, SMACD 2015 (2015).
- [112] HUANG, X., YU, T., SUKHAREV, V., AND TAN, S. X. Physics-based electromigration assessment for power grid networks. In *Proceedings - Design Automation Conference* (2014).

- [113] HUANG, Z., TANG, Z., YU, J., AND BAI, S. Thermal conductivity of amorphous and crystalline thin films by molecular dynamics simulation. *Physica B: Condensed Matter* (2009).
- [114] ISHIDA, M., UEMOTO, Y., UEDA, T., TANAKA, T., AND UEDA, D. GaN power switching devices. In 2010 International Power Electronics Conference - ECCE Asia -, IPEC 2010 (jun 2010), pp. 1014–1017.
- [115] JACQUOT, A., LENOIR, B., DAUSCHER, A., VERARDI, P., CRACIUN, F., STÖLZER, M., GARTNER, M., AND DINESCU, M. Optical and thermal characterization of AlN thin films deposited by pulsed laser deposition. In *Applied Surface Science* (2002), vol. 186, pp. 507–512.
- [116] JIANG, K., LI, J., AND LIU, J. Electrochemical codeposition of graphene platelets and nickel for improved corrosion resistant properties. *RSC Advances* (2014).
- [117] JIN, S., AND MAVOORI, H. Processing and properties of CVD diamond for thermal management. Journal of Electronic Materials 27, 11 (nov 1998), 1148–1153.
- [118] JO, S. H., CHANG, T., EBONG, I., BHADVIYA, B. B., MAZUMDER, P., AND LU, W. Nanoscale Memristor Device as Synapse in Neuromorphic Systems. *Nano Letters* 10, 4 (apr 2010), 1297–1301.
- [119] JU, W., ZHOU, Z., AND WEI, Z. Anisotropic thermal transport property of defect-free GaN. AIP Advances 6, 6 (jun 2016), 065328.
- [120] KAHNG, A., AND SAMADI, K. CMP Fill Synthesis: A Survey of Recent Studies. IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems 27, 1 (jan 2008), 3–19.
- [121] KANG, B. S., KIM, J., JANG, S., REN, F., JOHNSON, J. W., THERRIEN, R. J., RAJAGOPAL, P., ROBERTS, J. C., PINER, E. L., LINTHICUM, K. J., CHU, S. N., BAIK, K., GILA, B. P., ABERNATHY, C. R., AND PEARTON, S. J. Capacitance pressure sensor based on GaN high-electron-mobility transistor-on-Si membrane. *Applied Physics Letters* (2005).
- [122] KARMALKAR, S., AND MISHRA, U. Enhancement of breakdown voltage in AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors using a field plate. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 48, 8 (2001), 1515–1521.
- [123] KARMARKAR, A. P., XU, X., MOROZ, V., ROLLINS, G., AND LIN, X. Analysis of performance and reliability trade-off in dummy pattern design for 32-nm technology. In *Proceedings of the 10th International Symposium on Quality Electronic Design, ISQED 2009* (2009).
- [124] KATAKAMSETTY, U., HUI, C., HUANG, L.-D., WENG, L., AND WU, P. Timing-aware metal fill for optimized timing impact and uniformity. In *Proceedings of SPIE - The International Society for Optical Engineering* (2009).
- [125] KATO R., I. H. Proceedings of the 23rd japan symposium of thermophysical properties. pp. 265—267.
- [126] KAUTZ, R. L. Reports on Progress in Physics Related content. Rep. Prog. Phys. (1996).
- [127] KEMERLEY, R. T., WALLACE, H. B., AND YODER, M. N. Impact of wide bandgap microwave devices on DoD systems. *Proceedings of the IEEE 90*, 6 (jun 2002), 1059–1064.
- [128] KILLAT, N., KUBALL, M., CHOU, T. M., CHOWDHURY, U., AND JIMENEZ, J. Temperature assessment of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs: A comparative study by Raman, electrical and IR thermography. In *IEEE International Reliability Physics Symposium Proceedings* (2010).

- [129] KOKLU, A., EL HELOU, A., RAAD, P. E., AND BESKOK, A. Characterization of Temperature Rise in Alternating Current Electrothermal Flow Using Thermoreflectance Method. *Analytical Chemistry* 91, 19 (oct 2019), 12492–12500.
- [130] KÖLZER, J., OESTERSCHULZE, E., AND DEBOY, G. Thermal imaging and measurement techniques for electronic materials and devices. *Microelectronic Engineering* (1996).
- [131] KOMAROV, P. L., AND RAAD, P. E. Performance analysis of the transient thermo-reflectance method for measuring the thermal conductivity of single layer materials. *International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer* (2004).
- [132] KOO, K.-H. Comparison Study of Future On-Chip Interconnects for High Performance VLSI Applications. PhD thesis, STANFORD UNIVERSITY, 2011.
- [133] KOTCHETKOV, D., ZOU, J., BALANDIN, A. A., FLORESCU, D. I., AND POLLAK, F. H. Effect of dislocations on thermal conductivity of GaN layers. *Applied Physics Letters* 79, 26 (dec 2001), 4316–4318.
- [134] KRAUS, A., AZIZ, A., WELTY, J., AND SEKULIC, D. Extended Surface Heat Transfer. Applied Mechanics Reviews (2001).
- [135] KRISHNAN, M., NALASKOWSKI, J. W., AND COOK, L. M. Chemical mechanical planarization: Slurry chemistry, materials, and mechanisms. *Chemical Reviews* (2010).
- [136] KUBALL, M., ŤAPAJNA, M., SIMMS, R. J., FAQIR, M., AND MISHRA, U. K. AlGaN/GaN HEMT device reliability and degradation evolution: Importance of diffusion processes. *Microelectronics Reliability* 51, 2 (feb 2011), 195–200.
- [137] KUBALL, M., AND POMEROY, J. W. A review of raman thermography for electronic and opto-electronic device measurement with submicron spatial and nanosecond temporal resolution, 2016.
- [138] KUBALL, M., POMEROY, J. W., GUCMANN, F., AND ONER, B. Thermal analysis of semiconductor devices and materials - Why should I not trust a thermal simulation ? In 2019 IEEE BiCMOS and Compound Semiconductor Integrated Circuits and Technology Symposium, BCICTS 2019 (nov 2019), Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc.
- [139] KUMAR, A., KWON, J. S., WILLIAMS, S. J., GREEN, N. G., YIP, N. K., AND WERELEY, S. T. Optically modulated electrokinetic manipulation and concentration of colloidal particles near an electrode surface. *Langmuir* (2010).
- [140] KUMAR, S., WANG, Z., DAVILA, N., KUMARI, N., NORRIS, K. J., HUANG, X., STRACHAN, J. P., VINE, D., KILCOYNE, A. L., NISHI, Y., AND WILLIAMS, R. S. Physical origins of current and temperature controlled negative differential resistances in NbO2. *Nature Communications 8*, 1 (2017), 4–9.
- [141] KWON, B., FOULKES, T., YANG, T., MILJKOVIC, N., AND KING, W. P. Air Jet Impingement Cooling of Electronic Devices Using Additively Manufactured Nozzles. *IEEE Transactions on Components, Packaging and Manufacturing Technology 10 (2)* (aug 2020), 220.
- [142] LANG, Q., WU, Y., REN, Y., TAO, Y., LEI, L., AND JIANG, H. AC Electrothermal Circulatory Pumping Chip for Cell Culture. ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces (2015).

- [143] LEE, S. M., AND CAHILL, D. G. Heat transport in thin dielectric films. Journal of Applied Physics (1997).
- [144] LEE, W. C., LEE, H., LIM, J., AND PARK, Y. J. An effective electrical sensing scheme using AC electrothermal flow on a biosensor platform based on a carbon nanotube network. *Applied Physics Letters* (2016).
- [145] LI, S., LIU, X., NANDI, S. K., NATH, S. K., AND ELLIMAN, R. G. Origin of Current-Controlled Negative Differential Resistance Modes and the Emergence of Composite Characteristics with High Complexity. Advanced Functional Materials (2019).
- [146] LI, W., AND MING, C. Black 's equation for Today 's ULSI interconnect Electromigration reliability – A revisit. 2011 IEEE International Conference of Electron Devices and Solid-State Circuits, 65 (2011), 1–2.
- [147] LI, W., WANG, Q., ZHAN, X., YAN, J., JIANG, L., YIN, H., GONG, J., WANG, X., LIU, F., LI, B., AND WANG, Z. Impact of dual field plates on drain current degradation in InAlN/AlN/GaN HEMTs. Semiconductor Science and Technology 31, 12 (dec 2016), 125003.
- [148] LING, J. H., TAY, A. A., AND CHOO, K. F. Accurate thermal characterization of a GaN PA MMIC using Thermoreflectance thermography. *Proceedings - 2013 14th International Conference on Electronic Packaging Technology, ICEPT 2013 59* (2013), 843–847.
- [149] LIU, D., SUN, H., POMEROY, J. W., FRANCIS, D., FAILI, F., TWITCHEN, D. J., AND KUBALL, M. GaN-on-diamond electronic device reliability: Mechanical and thermo-mechanical integrity. *Applied Physics Letters* 107, 25 (dec 2015), 251902.
- [150] LIU, T., SIN, M. L., PYNE, J. D., GAU, V., LIAO, J. C., AND WONG, P. K. Electrokinetic stringency control in self-assembled monolayer-based biosensors for multiplex urinary tract infection diagnosis. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology, and Medicine* (2014).
- [151] LIU, W., AND BALANDIN, A. A. Thermal conduction in AlxGa1-xN alloys and thin films. Journal of Applied Physics 97, 7 (2005), 1–6.
- [152] LOIRE, S., KAUFFMANN, P., MEZIĆ, I., AND MEINHART, C. D. A theoretical and experimental study of ac electrothermal flows. *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics* (2012).
- [153] LU, Y., LIU, T., LAMANDA, A. C., SIN, M. L., GAU, V., LIAO, J. C., AND WONG, P. K. AC Electrokinetics of Physiological Fluids for Biomedical Applications. *Journal of Laboratory Automation* (2015).
- [154] LU, Y., REN, Q., LIU, T., LEUNG, S. L., GAU, V., LIAO, J. C., CHAN, C. L., AND WONG, P. K. Long-range electrothermal fluid motion in microfluidic systems. *International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer* (2016).
- [155] LUCKYANOVA, M. N., CHEN, D., MA, W., TULLER, H. L., CHEN, G., AND YILDIZ, B. Thermal conductivity control by oxygen defect concentration modification in reducible oxides: The case of Pr0.1Ce0.9O2- δ thin films. *Applied Physics Letters* (2014).
- [156] LUNDQVIST, B., RAAD, P., YAZDANFAR, M., STENBERG, P., LILJEDAHL, R., KOMAROV, P., RORSMAN, N., AGER, J., KORDINA, O., IVANOV, I., AND JANZEN, E. Thermal conductivity of isotopically enriched silicon carbide. In 19th International Workshop on Thermal Investigations of ICs and Systems (THERMINIC) (sep 2013), pp. 58–61.

- [157] LUO, C., CLARKE, D. R., AND DRYDEN, J. R. The temperature dependence of the thermal conductivity of single crystal GaN films. *Journal of Electronic Materials* (2001).
- [158] MAIZE, K., HELLER, E., DORSEY, D., AND SHAKOURI, A. Thermoreflectance CCD imaging of self heating in AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility power transistors at high drain voltage. Annual IEEE Semiconductor Thermal Measurement and Management Symposium (2012), 173–181.
- [159] MAIZE, K., HELLER, E., DORSEY, D., AND SHAKOURI, A. Fast transient thermoreflectance CCD imaging of pulsed self heating in AlGaN/GaN power transistors. *IEEE International Reliability Physics Symposium Proceedings* (2013), 2–4.
- [160] MAIZE, K., PAVLIDIS, G., HELLER, E., YATES, L., KENDIG, D., GRAHAM, S., AND SHAKOURI, A. High resolution thermal characterization and simulation of power AlGaN/GaN HEMTs using micro-Raman thermography and 800 picosecond transient thermoreflectance imaging. *Technical Digest - IEEE Compound Semiconductor Integrated Circuit Symposium, CSIC* (2014).
- [161] MAJUMDAR, A. Microscale heat conduction in dielectric thin films. Journal of Heat Transfer (1993).
- [162] MALONEY, J. M., UHLAND, S. A., POLITO, B. F., SHEPPARD, N. F., PELTA, C. M., AND SANTINI, J. T. Electrothermally activated microchips for implantable drug delivery and biosensing. In *Journal of Controlled Release* (2005).
- [163] MANOI, A., POMEROY, J. W., KILLAT, N., AND KUBALL, M. Benchmarking of thermal boundary resistance in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs on SiC substrates: Implications of the nucleation layer microstructure. *IEEE Electron Device Letters* (dec 2010), 1395–1397.
- [164] MARTIN-HORCAJO, S., POMEROY, J. W., LAMBERT, B., JUNG, H., BLANCK, H., AND KUBALL, M. Transient Thermoreflectance for Gate Temperature Assessment in Pulse Operated GaN-Based HEMTs. *IEEE Electron Device Letters* 37, 9 (2016), 1197–1200.
- [165] MARTIN-HORCAJO, S., WANG, A., ROMERO, M. F., M. J., AND CALLE, F. Simple and accurate method to estimate channel temperature and thermal resistance in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 60*, 12 (2013), 4105–4111.
- [166] MCCONNELL, A. D., UMA, S., AND GOODSON, K. E. Thermal conductivity of doped polysilicon layers. *Journal of Microelectromechanical Systems* (2001).
- [167] MCGAUGHEY, A. J., AND KAVIANY, M. Thermal conductivity decomposition and analysis using molecular dynamics simulations Part II. Complex silica structures. *International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer* (2004).
- [168] MENEGHESSO, G., VERZELLESI, G., DANESIN, F., RAMPAZZO, F., ZANON, F., TAZZOLI, A., MENEGHINI, M., AND ZANONI, E. Reliability of GaN high-electron-mobility transistors: State of the art and perspectives. *IEEE Transactions on Device and Materials Reliability* (2008).
- [169] MENEGHINI, M., TAJALLI, A., MOENS, P., BANERJEE, A., ZANONI, E., AND MENEGHESSO, G. Trapping phenomena and degradation mechanisms in GaN-based power HEMTs. *Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing* 78, July 2017 (oct 2018), 118–126.
- [170] MION, C., MUTH, J. F., PREBLE, E. A., AND HANSER, D. Accurate dependence of gallium nitride thermal conductivity on dislocation density. *Applied Physics Letters* 89, 9 (aug 2006), 092123.
- [171] MISHRA, U. K., SHEN, L., KAZIOR, T. E., AND WU, Y. F. GaN-based RF power devices and amplifiers. *Proceedings of the IEEE* (feb 2008), 287 – 305.

- [172] MORELLI, D. T., HEREMANS, J. P., BEETZ, C. P., YOO, W. S., AND MATSUNAMI, H. Phonon-electron scattering in single crystal silicon carbide. *Applied Physics Letters* 63, 23 (dec 1993), 3143–3145.
- [173] MORELLI, D. T., HEREMANS, J. P., AND SLACK, G. A. Estimation of the isotope effect on the lattice thermal conductivity of group IV and group III-V semiconductors. *Physical Review B -Condensed Matter and Materials Physics 66*, 19 (nov 2002).
- [174] MOULTIF, N., LATRY, O., NDIAYE, M., NEVEU, T., JOUBERT, E., MOREAU, C., AND GOUPY, J. F. S-band pulsed-RF operating life test on AlGaN/GaN HEMT devices for radar application. *Microelectronics Reliability 100-101* (sep 2019).
- [175] MU, F., CHENG, Z., SHI, J., SHIN, S., XU, B., SHIOMI, J., GRAHAM, S., AND SUGA, T. High Thermal Boundary Conductance across Bonded Heterogeneous GaN-SiC Interfaces. ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces 11 (aug 2019), 33428–33434.
- [176] NANDI, S. K., NATH, S. K., EL-HELOU, A. E., LI, S., RATCLIFF, T., UENUMA, M., RAAD, P. E., AND ELLIMAN, R. G. Electric Field- And Current-Induced Electroforming Modes in NbO x. ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces (2020).
- [177] NANDI, S. K., NATH, S. K., EL-HELOU, A. E., LI, S., LIU, X., RAAD, P. E., AND ELLIMAN, R. G. Current Localization and Redistribution as the Basis of Discontinuous Current Controlled Negative Differential Resistance in NbOx. *Advanced Functional Materials* (oct 2019), 1906731.
- [178] NATH, S. K., NANDI, S. K., EL-HELOU, A., LIU, X., LI, S., LI, S., RATCLIFF, T., RAAD, P. E., AND ELLIMAN, R. G. Schottky-barrier-induced asymmetry in the negative-differential-resistance response of nb/nb ox / pt cross-point devices. *Physical Review Applied 13* (2020).
- [179] NAUMOV, A., KOLOMYS, O., ROMANYUK, A., TSYKANIUK, B., STRELCHUK, V., TRIUS, M., AVKSENTYEV, A., AND BELYAEV, A. Self-heating effects in AlGaN/GaN HEMT heterostructures: Electrical and optical characterization. *Semiconductor Physics, Quantum Electronics & Optoelectronics 18*, 4 (2015), 396–402.
- [180] NAUMOV, A. V. Self-heating effects in AlGaN/GaN HEMT heterostructures: Electrical and optical characterization. Semiconductor Physics Quantum Electronics and Optoelectronics 18, 4 (dec 2015), 396–402.
- [181] NDUKAIFE, J. C., KILDISHEV, A. V., NNANNA, A. G. A., SHALAEV, V. M., WERELEY, S. T., AND BOLTASSEVA, A. Long-range and rapid transport of individual nano-objects by a hybrid electrothermoplasmonic nanotweezer. *Nature Nanotechnology* (2016).
- [182] NDUKAIFE, J. C., MISHRA, A., GULER, U., NNANNA, A. G. A., WERELEY, S. T., AND BOLTASSEVA, A. Photothermal heating enabled by plasmonic nanostructures for electrokinetic manipulation and sorting of particles. ACS Nano (2014).
- [183] NGUYEN, H. V., SALM, C., WENZEL, R., MOUTHAAN, A. J., AND KUPER, F. G. Simulation and experimental characterization of reservoir and via layout effects on electromigration lifetime. *Microelectronics Reliability* 42, 9 (2002), 1421–1425.
- [184] NIGAM, A., BHAT, T. N., RAJAMANI, S., DOLMANAN, S. B., TRIPATHY, S., AND KUMAR, M. Effect of self-heating on electrical characteristics of AlGaN/ GaN HEMT on Si (111) substrate. AIP Advances 7, 8 (2017).

- [185] PADDOCK A., E. G. Transient reflectance from thin metal films. Journal of Applied Physics (1986).
- [186] PAN, G., ZHOU, Y., LUO, G., SHI, X., ZOU, C., AND GONG, H. Chemical mechanical polishing (CMP) of on-axis Si-face 6H-SiC wafer for obtaining atomically flat defect-free surface. *Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Electronics* 24, 12 (dec 2013), 5040–5047.
- [187] PARK, J., LEE, K., CHA, H. Y., AND SEO, K. Thermal instability of copper gate AlGaN/GaN HEMT on Si substrate. *Electronics Letters* 46, 14 (jul 2010), 1011–1012.
- [188] PARK, S., KOKLU, M., AND BESKOK, A. Particle trapping in high-conductivity media with electrothermally enhanced negative dielectrophoresis. *Analytical Chemistry* (2009).
- [189] PARK, S., AND YOSSIFON, G. Electrothermal based active control of ion transport in a microfluidic device with an ion-permselective membrane. *Nanoscale* (2018).
- [190] PARK, S. Y., FLORESCAL, C., KIML, M. J., CHOWDHURY, U., JIMENES, J. L., LEE, C., BEAMN, E., SUNIER, P., BALISTRERI, T., SCIENCE, M., AND ROAD, W. R. Physical Degradation of GaN HEMT Device Observed in TEM during Reliability Test. *Microelectronics Reliability* (2009).
- [191] PASZKOWICZ, W., PODSIADŁO, S., AND MINIKAYEV, R. Rietveld-refinement study of aluminium and gallium nitrides. In *Journal of Alloys and Compounds* (nov 2004), vol. 382, pp. 100–106.
- [192] PAVLIDIS, G., KIM, S. H., ABID, I., ZEGAOUI, M., MEDJDOUB, F., AND GRAHAM, S. The effects of AlN and copper back side deposition on the performance of etched back GaN/Si HEMTs. *IEEE Electron Device Letters* 40 (7) (2019), 1060–1063.
- [193] PAVLIDIS, G., PAVLIDIS, S., HELLER, E. R., MOORE, E. A., VETURY, R., AND GRAHAM, S. Characterization of AlGaN/GaN HEMTS Using Gate Resistance Thermometry. *IEEE Transactions* on Electron Devices 64, 1 (jan 2017), 78–83.
- [194] PAVLIDIS, G., YATES, L., KENDIG, D., LO, C. F., MARCHAND, H., BARABADI, B., AND GRAHAM, S. Thermal Performance of GaN/Si HEMTs Using Near-Bandgap Thermoreflectance Imaging. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 67 (30)* (2020), 822–827.
- [195] PENGELLY, R. S., WOOD, S. M., MILLIGAN, J. W., SHEPPARD, S. T., AND PRIBBLE, W. L. A review of GaN on SiC high electron-mobility power transistors and MMICs, feb 2012.
- [196] PICKETT, M. D., AND STANLEY WILLIAMS, R. Sub-100fJ and sub-nanosecond thermally driven threshold switching in niobium oxide crosspoint nanodevices. *Nanotechnology* 23, 21 (2012).
- [197] PIERŚCIŃSKA, D., MARONA, L., PIERŚCIŃSKI, K., WIŚNIEWSKI, P., PERLIN, P., AND BUGAJSKI, M. High-resolution mirror temperature mapping in GaN-based diode lasers by thermoreflectance spectroscopy. Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 56, 2 (2017).
- [198] POMEROY, J. W., AND KUBALL, M. Solid immersion lenses for enhancing the optical resolution of thermal and electroluminescence mapping of GaN-on-SiC transistors. *Journal of Applied Physics* 118, 14 (oct 2015), 144501.
- [199] POMEROY, J. W., AND KUBALL, M. Solid immersion lenses for enhancing the optical resolution of thermal and electroluminescence mapping of GaN-on-SiC transistors. *Journal of Applied Physics* 118, 14 (oct 2015), 144501.
- [200] POMEROY, J. W., UREN, M. J., LAMBERT, B., AND KUBALL, M. Operating channel temperature in GaN HEMTs: DC versus RF accelerated life testing. In *Microelectronics Reliability* (2015).

- [201] POP, E., SINHA, S., AND GOODSON, K. Heat Generation & Transport in nm-Scale Transistors. Proceedings of the IEEE 94, 8 (2006), 1587–1601.
- [202] PROTIK, N. H., KATRE, A., LINDSAY, L., CARRETE, J., MINGO, N., AND BROIDO, D. Phonon thermal transport in 2H, 4H and 6H silicon carbide from first principles. *Materials Today Physics 1* (jun 2017), 31–38.
- [203] QIAN, X., JIANG, P., AND YANG, R. Anisotropic thermal conductivity of 4H and 6H silicon carbide measured using time-domain thermoreflectance. *Materials Today Physics 3* (dec 2017), 70–75.
- [204] QIU T.Q., C. C. Femtosecond laser heating of multilayer metals. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer (1994).
- [205] RAAD, P., WILSON, J., AND PRICE, D. Adaptive modeling of the transients of submicron integrated circuits. *IEEE Transactions on Components, Packaging, and Manufacturing Technology* 21, 3 (1998), 412–416.
- [206] RAAD, P. E. Keeping moore's law alive. In *Electronics Cooling*. https://www.electronics-cooling.com, 2010.
- [207] RAAD, P. E., KOMAROV, P. L., AND BETTIATI, M. A. Thermoreflectance temperature measurements for optically emitting devices. *Microelectronics Journal* 45, 5 (2014).
- [208] RAAD, P. E., KOMAROV, P. L., AND BURZO, M. A Coupled Thermoreflectance Thermography Experimental System and Ultra-Fast Adaptive Computational Engine for the Complete Thermal Characterization of Three-Dimensional Electronic Devices: Validation. Proceedings of 12th International Workshop on Thermal investigations of ICs (2007).
- [209] RAAD, P. E., KOMAROV, P. L., AND BURZO, M. G. Coupling surface temperature scanning and ultra-fast adaptive computing to thermally fully characterize complex three-dimensional electronic devices. Twenty-Second Annual IEEE Semiconductor Thermal Measurement And Management Symposium (2006), 204–209.
- [210] RAAD, P. E., KOMAROV, P. L., AND BURZO, M. G. An integrated experimental and computational system for the thermal characterization of complex three-dimensional submicron electronic devices. In *IEEE Transactions on Components and Packaging Technologies* (2007).
- [211] RAAD, P. E., KOMAROV, P. L., AND BURZO, M. G. Thermal characterization of embedded electronic features by an integrated system of ccd thermography and self-adaptive numerical modeling. *Microelectronics Journal* (2008).
- [212] RAAD, P. E., AND POPPE, A. Thermal investigations of integrated circuits in systems at THERMINIC 2012. *Microelectronics Journal* 45, 5 (may 2014), 483.
- [213] RAMOS, A., MORGAN, H., GREEN, N. G., AND CASTELLANOS, A. Ac electrokinetics: A review of forces in microelectrode structures, 1998.
- [214] RICHARDSON, C. J., AND SPICER, J. B. Characterization of heat-treated tungsten thin films using picosecond duration thermoelastic transients. *Optics and Lasers in Engineering* (2003).
- [215] ROSEI, R., AND LYNCH, D. W. Thermomodulation spectra of al, au, and cu. Physical Review B 5, 10 (1972), 3883–3894.
- [216] RZEPKA, S., BANERJEE, K., MEUSEL, E., AND HU, C. Characterization of self-heating in advanced VLSI interconnect lines based on thermal finite element simulation. *Components, Packaging, and Manufacturing Technology, Part A, IEEE Transactions on 21*, 3 (1998), 406–411.

- [217] SAITO, W., OMURA, I., OGURA, T., AND OHASHI, H. Theoretical limit estimation of lateral wide band-gap semiconductor power-switching device. In *Solid-State Electronics* (sep 2004), vol. 48, pp. 1555–1562.
- [218] SAITO, W., TAKADA, Y., KURAGUCHI, M., TSUDA, K., OMURA, I., OGURA, T., AND OHASHI, H. High Breakdown Voltage AlGaN-GaN Power-HEMT Design and High Current Density Switching Behavior. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* (dec 2003), 2528–2531.
- [219] SALARI, A., AND DALTON, C. Simultaneous pumping and mixing of biological fluids in a double-array electrothermal microfluidic device. *Micromachines* (2019).
- [220] SARUA, A., HANGFENG JI, KUBALL, M., UREN, M., MARTIN, T., HILTON, K., AND BALMER, R. Integrated micro-Raman/infrared thermography probe for monitoring of self-heating in AlGaN/GaN transistor structures. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 53, 10 (oct 2006), 2438–2447.
- [221] SASAKI, N., KITAMORI, T., AND KIM, H. B. Fluid mixing using AC electrothermal flow on meandering electrodes in a microchannel. *Electrophoresis* (2012).
- [222] SCHAFFT, H. A. Thermal analysis of electromigration test structures. Electron Devices, IEEE Transactions on 34, 3 (1987), 664–672.
- [223] SCHINDLER, F., AND LUPTON, J. M. Electrothermal manipulation of individual chromophores in single conjugated polymer chains: Controlling intrachain fret, blinking, and spectral diffusion. *Nano Letters* (2010).
- [224] SCOTT, J. C., AND BOZANO, L. D. Nonvolatile memory elements based on organic materials. Advanced Materials (2007).
- [225] SERAPHIN, B. O., AND BOTTKA, N. Band-structure analysis from electro-reflectance studies. *Phys. Rev.* 145 (May 1966), 628–636.
- [226] SHARMA, A. A., NOMAN, M., ABDELMOULA, M., SKOWRONSKI, M., AND BAIN, J. A. Electronic Instabilities Leading to Electroformation of Binary Metal Oxide-based Resistive Switches. Advanced Functional Materials 24, 35 (sep 2014), 5522–5529.
- [227] SHIBATA, H., WASEDA, Y., OHTA, H., KIYOMI, K., SHIMOYAMA, K., FUJITO, K., NAGAOKA, H., KAGAMITANI, Y., SIMURA, R., AND FUKUDA, T. High Thermal Conductivity of Gallium Nitride (GaN) Crystals Grown by HVPE Process. *Materials transactions* 48, 10 (sep 2007), 2782–2786.
- [228] SIMMS, R. J., POMEROY, J. W., UREN, M. J., MARTIN, T., AND KUBALL, M. Channel temperature determination in high-power AlGaN/GaN HFETs using electrical methods and Raman spectroscopy. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* (2008).
- [229] SIN, M. L., GAU, V., LIAO, J. C., AND WONG, P. K. Electrothermal fluid manipulation of high-conductivity samples for laboratory automation applications. JALA - Journal of the Association for Laboratory Automation (2010).
- [230] SLESAZECK, S., MÄHNE, H., WYLEZICH, H., WACHOWIAK, A., RADHAKRISHNAN, J., ASCOLI, A., TETZLAFF, R., AND MIKOLAJICK, T. Physical model of threshold switching in NbO2based memristors. *RSC Advances* 5, 124 (2015), 102318–102322.
- [231] SLOMSKI, M. J. Thermal Conductivity of Group-III Nitrides and Oxides. Phd dissertation, North Carolina State University, 2017.

- [232] SOMMET, R., MOUGINOT, G., QUERE, R., OUARCH, Z., AND CAMIADE, M. Thermal modeling and measurements of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs including thermal boundary resistance. *Microelectronics Journal* 43, 9 (sep 2012), 611–617.
- [233] STREHLE, K. R., CIALLA, D., RÖSCH, P., HENKEL, T., KÖHLER, M., AND POPP, J. A reproducible surface-enhanced Raman spectroscopy approach. Online SERS measurements in a segmented microfluidic system. *Analytical Chemistry* (2007).
- [234] STRUKOV, D. B., SNIDER, G. S., STEWART, D. R., AND WILLIAMS, R. S. The missing memristor found. *Nature* 453, 7191 (2008), 80–83.
- [235] SU, L. T., CHUNG, J. E., DIMITRI, A. A., GOODSON, K. E., AND FLIK, M. I. Measurement and Modeling of Self-Heating in SOI NMOSFET's. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* (1994).
- [236] SUKHAREV, V. Microelectronic Engineering Beyond Black 's equation : Full-chip EM / SM assessment in 3D IC stack. *Microelectronic Engineering 120* (2014), 99–105.
- [237] SUN, H., SIMON, R. B., POMEROY, J. W., FRANCIS, D., FAILI, F., TWITCHEN, D. J., AND KUBALL, M. Reducing GaN-on-diamond interfacial thermal resistance for high power transistor applications. *Applied Physics Letters 106*, 11 (2015).
- [238] SZE, S. Physics of Semiconductor Devices. Wiley, 1936.
- [239] TADJER, M. J., ANDERSON, T. J., ANCONA, M. G., RAAD, P. E., KOMAROV, P., BAI, T., GALLAGHER, J. C., KOEHLER, A. D., GOORSKY, M. S., FRANCIS, D. A., HOBART, K. D., AND KUB, F. J. GaN-On-Diamond HEMT Technology with TAVG = 176 C at PDC,max = 56 W/mm Measured by Transient Thermoreflectance Imaging. *IEEE Electron Device Letters* 40, 6 (jun 2019), 881–884.
- [240] TADJER, M. J., ANDERSON, T. J., HOBART, K. D., FEYGELSON, T. I., CALDWELL, J. D., EDDY, C. R., KUB, F. J., BUTLER, J. E., PATE, B., AND MELNGAILIS, J. Reduced self-heating in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs using nanocrystalline diamond heat-spreading films. *IEEE Electron Device Letters 33*, 1 (jan 2012), 23–25.
- [241] TADJER, M. J., RAAD, P. E., FEYGELSON, T. I., KOEHLER, A. D., ANDERSON, T. J., RUPPALT, L., NATH, A., PATE, B. B., HOBART, K. D., AND KUB, F. J. Quantifying Substrate Removal Induced Electrothermal Degradation in AlGaN / GaN HEMTs. *Device Research Conference 39*, 2008 (2017), 2016–2017.
- [242] TADJER, M. J., RAAD, P. E., FEYGELSON, T. I., KOEHLER, A. D., ANDERSON, T. J., RUPPALT, L., NATH, A., PATE, B. B., HOBART, K. D., AND KUB, F. J. Quantifying substrate removal induced electrothermal degradation in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs. In 2017 75th Annual Device Research Conference (DRC) (jun 2017), IEEE, pp. 1–2.
- [243] TADJER, M. J., RAAD, P. E., KOMAROV, P. L., HOBART, K. D., FEYGELSON, T. I., KOEHLER, A. D., ANDERSON, T. J., NATH, A., PATE, B., AND KUB, F. J. Electrothermal Evaluation of AlGaN/GaN Membrane High Electron Mobility Transistors by Transient Thermoreflectance. *IEEE Journal of the Electron Devices Society 6*, August (2018), 922–930.
- [244] TAMAKI, E., SATO, K., TOKESHI, M., SATO, K., AIHARA, M., AND KITAMORI, T. Single-cell analysis by a scanning thermal lens microscope with a microchip: Direct monitoring of cytochrome c distribution during apoptosis process. *Analytical Chemistry* (2002).

- [245] TEMCAMANI, F., FONDER, J.-B., LATRY, O., AND DUPERRIER, C. Electrical and Physical Analysis of Thermal Degradations of AlGaN/GaN HEMT Under Radar-Type Operating Life. *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques* 64, 3 (mar 2016), 756–766.
- [246] TENG, C. C., CHENG, Y. K., ROSENBAUM, E., AND KANG, S. M. ITEM: A temperature-dependent electromigration reliability diagnosis tool. *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems* (1997).
- [247] THEI, K.-B., CHUANG, H.-M., TSAI, S.-F., LU, C.-T., LIAO, X.-D., LEE, K.-M., AND LIU, W.-C. Effects of electrical and temperature stress on polysilicon resistors for CMOS technology applications. *Superlattices and Microstructures* 31, 6 (2002), 289–296.
- [248] THOMPSON, S. E., AND PARTHASARATHY, S. Moore's law: the future of Si microelectronics. *Materials Today* (2006).
- [249] TIEN C., MAJUMDAR A., G. F. Microscale Energy Transport. Taylor and Francis, Washington, DC, 1998.
- [250] TING-YEN CHIANG, BANERJEE, K., AND SARASWAT, K. Compact modeling and SPICE-based simulation for electrothermal analysis of multilevel ULSI interconnects. In *IEEE/ACM International Conference on Computer Aided Design. ICCAD* (2001), IEEE, pp. 165–172.
- [251] TING-YEN CHIANG, K., BANERJEE, K. C., AND SARASWAT, K. C. Compact modeling and SPICE-based simulation for electrothermal analysis of multilevel ULSI interconnects, 2001.
- [252] TING-YEN CHIANG, K., BANERJEE, K. C., AND SARASWAT, K. C. Compact modeling and SPICE-based simulation for electrothermal analysis of multilevel ULSI interconnects, 2001.
- [253] TU, R., ROSENBAUM, E., CHAN, W., LI, C., MINAMI, E., QUADER, K., KO, P., AND HU, C. Berkeley reliability tools-BERT. *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems 12*, 10 (1993), 1524–1534.
- [254] UMA, S., MCCONNELL, A. D., ASHEGHI, M., KURABAYASHI, K., AND GOODSON, K. E. Temperature-dependent thermal conductivity of undoped polycrystalline silicon layers. *International Journal of Thermophysics* (2001).
- [255] VON MARTIN, A., PAUL, O., AND BALTES, H. Process-dependent thin-film thermal conductivities for thermal CMOS MEMS. *Journal of Microelectromechanical Systems* (2000).
- [256] WANG, A., TADJER, M. J., AND CALLE, F. Simulation of thermal management in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs with integrated diamond heat spreaders. *Semiconductor Science and Technology 28*, 5 (2013).
- [257] WANG, X. D., HU, W. D., CHEN, X. S., AND LU, W. The study of self-heating and hot-electron effects for AlGaN/GaN double-channel HEMTs. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* (may 2012), 1393–1401.
- [258] WANG, Y., PARK, J. Y., KOH, Y. K., AND CAHILL, D. G. Thermoreflectance of metal transducers for time-domain thermoreflectance. *Journal of Applied Physics* (2010).
- [259] WANG, Z., KUMAR, S., NISHI, Y., AND WONG, H. S. Transient dynamics of NbOxthreshold switches explained by Poole-Frenkel based thermal feedback mechanism. *Applied Physics Letters 112*, 19 (2018).

- [260] WANG, Z., KUMAR, S., WONG, H. S., AND NISHI, Y. Effect of thermal insulation on the electrical characteristics of NbOxthreshold switches. *Applied Physics Letters* 112, 7 (2018), 1–6.
- [261] WEI, R., SONG, S., YANG, K., CUI, Y., PENG, Y., CHEN, X., HU, X., AND XU, X. Thermal conductivity of 4H-SiC single crystals. *Journal of Applied Physics* 113, 5 (feb 2013).
- [262] WILSON, J. S., AND RAAD, P. E. A transient self-adaptive technique for modeling thermal problems with large variations in physical scales. *International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer* 47, 17 (2004), 3707–3720.
- [263] WON, Y., CHO, J., AGONAFER, D., ASHEGHI, M., AND GOODSON, K. E. Cooling limits for GaN HEMT technology. In *Technical Digest - IEEE Compound Semiconductor Integrated Circuit* Symposium, CSIC (2013).
- [264] WON, Y., CHO, J., AGONAFER, D., ASHEGHI, M., AND GOODSON, K. E. Fundamental Cooling Limits for High Power Density Gallium Nitride Electronics. *IEEE Transactions on Components*, *Packaging and Manufacturing Technology* 5, 6 (jun 2015), 737–744.
- [265] WONG, P. K., CHEN, C. Y., WANG, T. H., AND HO, C. M. Electrokinetic bioprocessor for concentrating cells and molecules. *Analytical Chemistry* (2005).
- [266] WU, J., LIAN, M., AND YANG, K. Micropumping of biofluids by alternating current electrothermal effects. Applied Physics Letters (2007).
- [267] WU, X., WALTER, J., FENG, T., ZHU, J., ZHENG, H., MITCHELL, J. F., BISKUP, N., VARELA, M., RUAN, X., LEIGHTON, C., AND WANG, X. Glass-Like Through-Plane Thermal Conductivity Induced by Oxygen Vacancies in Nanoscale Epitaxial La0.5Sr0.5CoO3-x. Advanced Functional Materials (2017).
- [268] YATES, L., ANDERSON, J., GU, X., LEE, C., BAI, T., MECKLENBURG, M., AOKI, T., GOORSKY, M. S., KUBALL, M., PINER, E. L., AND GRAHAM, S. Low Thermal Boundary Resistance Interfaces for GaN-on-Diamond Devices. ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces 10, 28 (jul 2018), 24302–24309.
- [269] YATES, L., SOOD, A., CHENG, Z., BOUGHER, T., MALCOLM, K., CHO, J., ASHEGHI, M., GOODSON, K., GOORSKY, M., FAILI, F., TWITCHEN, D. J., AND GRAHAM, S. Characterization of the Thermal Conductivity of CVD Diamond for GaN-on-Diamond Devices. In 2016 IEEE Compound Semiconductor Integrated Circuit Symposium (CSICS) (oct 2016), pp. 1–4.
- [270] YOUNG, D., AND CHRISTOU, A. Failure mechanism models for electromigration. IEEE Transactions on Reliability 43, 2 (jun 1994), 186–192.
- [271] YU, F., AND CHENG, M. C. Application of heat flow models to SOI current mirrors. In Solid-State Electronics (2004), pp. 1733–1739.
- [272] YUAN, C., POMEROY, J. W., AND KUBALL, M. Above bandgap thermoreflectance for non-invasive thermal characterization of GaN-based wafers. *Applied Physics Letters 113 (10)* (2018).
- [273] ZANTYE, P. B., KUMAR, A., AND SIKDER, A. K. Chemical mechanical planarization for microelectronics applications, 2004.
- [274] ZHANG, C., DU, Y., LIU, S., LIU, Y., AND SUNDMAN, B. Thermal conductivity of Al-Cu-Mg-Si alloys: Experimental measurement and CALPHAD modeling. *Thermochimica Acta* (2016).

- [275] ZHOU, Y., PAN, G., SHI, X., ZHANG, S., GONG, H., AND LUO, G. Effects of ultra-smooth surface atomic step morphology on chemical mechanical polishing (CMP) performances of sapphire and SiC wafers. *Tribology International* 87 (jul 2015), 145–150.
- [276] ZHU, W., ZHENG, G., CAO, S., AND HE, H. Thermal conductivity of amorphous SiO2 thin film: A molecular dynamics study. *Scientific Reports* (2018).
- [277] ZIADE, E., YANG, J., BRUMMER, G., NOTHERN, D., MOUSTAKAS, T., AND SCHMIDT, A. J. Thickness dependent thermal conductivity of gallium nitride. *Applied Physics Letters 110*, 3 (jan 2017).
- [278] ZOU, J., KOTCHETKOV, D., BALANDIN, A. A., FLORESCU, D. I., AND POLLAK, F. H. Thermal conductivity of GaN films: Effects of impurities and dislocations. *Journal of Applied Physics 92*, 5 (sep 2002), 2534–2539.